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			In loving memory of
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			1942–1945

			who faithfully served their country

			in a different hour of need

		

	
		
			A Note from the Author

			This is a book about how we almost lost our country.

			For twelve precarious months in 1864 and 1865, the fate of the United States of America lay in the balance.

			Some of this story you may already know. Other parts will likely be new to you.

			They certainly were to me.

			For the Civil War was not just a conflict between armies and generals but a fight for the very soul of the nation. It was fought by men and women, the famous and the infamous, the free and the unfree, on battlefields and in cities, in trenches and in hospitals, and in a redbrick theater located less than six blocks from the White House.

			Our story begins in Washington in the spring of 1864.

			The war is three years old.

			The curtain rises.

		

	
		
			Act One
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			-Chapter One-

			Something Big

			Hardly anyone could understand the boy.

			Clad in his child-sized Union army uniform, complete with shiny brass buttons, epaulets, and a silk sash, he cut a striking first impression. But his words, such as they were, came out as a flood of toneless syllables, inverted consonants, and dropped vowels. “Dear” became “day,” “Crook” was “Took,” and “missus” was mumbled as “mith.” “He had his own language,” recalled one of the bodyguards. Only there was more. Three weeks past his tenth birthday, Tad Lincoln still could not read, write, or dress himself, and he had such a hard time chewing that his food had to be mashed or chopped ahead of time. He was still grieving the loss of his older brother, Willie, to typhoid two years earlier, while his mother, beset with worries that she might lose him as well, had pulled him out of school. As a result, Tad wasn’t just the President’s youngest son. He was also a deeply lonesome boy growing up in the most famous house in America.

			Sensitive and highly emotional, Tad loved the men of the Pennsylvania Bucktails, the infantry regiment assigned to guard the Executive Mansion and the War Department, whom he sometimes drilled on the back lawn or marched through the White House. But he was also more than a little mischievous. Once he harnessed a pair of goats to an upturned wooden chair and, like a miniature Roman charioteer, drove them into the middle of a formal reception being held in the East Room. During cabinet meetings, Tad would burst into the room unannounced, give his father a furious hug, and then dash out again while the exasperated secretary of war, Edwin M. Stanton, the veins in his neck straining at his collar, sputtered on about what an outrage such behavior was. No vase, window, or piece of furniture was safe when Tad was on a tear.

			He could also be sweet and kind. Tad often borrowed a few coins from James Halliday, the White House carpenter, to give to a poor man or woman out on Pennsylvania Avenue. Late one afternoon, he invited a gang of street children to share his dinner. The cook, it was said, “tried to shoo them away, but Tad appealed to his father, who said they could stay.” He also possessed an uncanny way with animals. There was never a stray dog or cat that he couldn’t befriend, while his own personal White House menagerie included a dog named Jip, two cats, a rabbit, a horse, and a turkey named Jack. He also had the two goats, both of which often slept in the same bed with him.

			“Mr. Lincoln,” recalled Major William Henry Crook, a presidential bodyguard, “kept Tad with him almost constantly.” The President would hoist Tad upon his shoulders and gallop through the corridors like a horse or play blind man’s buff and other games. When his father was too busy to roughhouse, Tad would get as near to him as he could and play quietly by himself. “I believe he was the best companion Mr. Lincoln ever had,” Crook added, “one who always understood him and whom he always understood.”

			Despite his youth, Tad Lincoln was a keen judge of grown-ups. He could see right through those who paid him compliments or gave him gifts only to gain the good graces of his father. He absolutely despised Secretary Stanton and once doused him with water in the White House garden. And he could tell right off who among his endless stream of tutors were all about boring lessons and even more boring books and those who were game to fly a kite up by the unfinished Washington Monument on a blustery April morning. “For all of his baby tongue,” Major Crook recalled, “he had a man’s heart and in some things a man’s mind.” While Tad Lincoln couldn’t speak properly or make himself easily understood, he could hear just fine. And what he heard, as the fine spring weather enveloped the city in early 1864, were the sounds of impending change.
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			For days, there had been hints that something big was in the works.

			Stevedores at the Sixth Street Wharf had been unusually busy for weeks, while railroad flatcars loaded with troops had been regularly observed heading south out of Alexandria. In Washington itself, officers and enlisted men had been lining up outside of the city’s more than thirty photography studios to have daguerreotypes, ambrotypes, and tintypes taken to be mailed back home. There was even talk among the city’s more than five thousand prostitutes about pulling up stakes and heading to City Point, the massive naval port and Union supply depot along the James River in Virginia where the final spring offensive, which everyone knew was soon to commence, would surely be launched.

			Then, on April 25, from a balcony above the east entrance to Willard’s Hotel, located a block and a half from the White House, President Lincoln reviewed no less than twenty-five thousand Union troops, streaming like a great blue river down Fourteenth Street. “The rank and file were like their comrades on the Rapidan—worn, sunburned, high-spirited boys,” as writer Margaret Leech later captured that moment. “Their equipment was light: thin bundles, knapsacks, tin cups, frying pans, guns that shone like silver. Under their grime and sweat, these soldiers looked as hard and handy as mechanic’s tools, which have been used, and will be used again.” These soldiers were also a far cry from the unsteady, green troops that the Union had first pitched into battle when the war had begun. “Our army had learned to believe that it was sure of ultimate victory,” wrote one War Department official. “Rely upon it, the end is near as well.”

			It certainly had been a long time coming. The last three long and bloody years had seen a near-constant succession of campaigns and battles, complex maneuvers, and unfulfilled promises. Once-obscure towns and place-names, like Bull Run, Chickamauga, Chancellorsville, Antietam, and Gettysburg, were now known by all. And with them had come a revolving cast of generals—Winfield Scott, Ambrose Burnside, George B. McClellan, and George Meade—none of whom had been able to end the war with a resounding Union victory.

			Now there was a new one.
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			He certainly didn’t look the part.

			Short in stature and often dressed in a plain, soiled uniform, Ulysses S. Grant fit no one’s conception of the ideal military man. He wore dentures, hated military drills, didn’t give a whit about style, and cared even less about pomp and ceremony. A middling West Pointer who had spent much of his spare time reading romantic novels in the academy library, he had fought in the Mexican War, was billeted out to Fort Vancouver, Washington Territory, lost his savings in the gambling dens of Portland, and resigned from the army. When the first shots were fired at Fort Sumter, Grant was working as a salesclerk in his father’s leather goods store in Galena, Illinois. But fate had different plans. Recommissioned into the Union army, he rose quickly in the ranks and won much-needed victories at Fort Henry and Fort Donelson. He stumbled at Shiloh in 1862, but Lincoln had refused to demote him, noting, “I can’t spare this man. He fights.”

			One year later, Grant had been given perhaps the hardest and most treacherous assignment of the western theater of the war: that of taking Vicksburg, Mississippi. Perched on a high bluff above the Mississippi River and bristling with artillery and well-trained sharpshooters, the Confederate citadel had become a Union graveyard. Wave after wave of blue-clad infantrymen had been cut down on its approaches, while the nearby river bottom was littered with the hulls of sunken Union ships. A renewed frontal assault, Grant reckoned, would produce the same results. So, instead, he countermarched his soldiers hundreds of miles through the Mississippi backcountry, hacking trails through the wilderness, and besieged the city from the rear. Deprived of fresh food and ammunition, Vicksburg fell on July 4, 1863. It was a momentous victory. Within a week, the Mississippi River was completely under Union control, and the Confederacy had been split in two.

			Lincoln had found who he was looking for.

			

			
				[image: ]
			

			Grant arrived in Washington on March 8, 1864, a chilly Tuesday after weeks of dry weather. Early that evening, Grant slipped into the dining room at Willard’s Hotel for a quiet supper, hoping to be just another army officer in a sea of Union blue. But shortly after he had sat down, a rising chorus of whisperings began to wash back and forth across the room. Men and women shifted in their seats, craned their necks, or made some excuse to stand in order to get a better look at the rather diminutive, bearded officer eating alone. Finally, one of the diners couldn’t wait any longer. Standing bolt upright upon his chair in the middle of the dining room, he yelled out, “Three cheers for Lieutenant-General Grant!”

			The room erupted into a torrent of cheering and applause, recalled Noah Brooks, the Washington correspondent for the Sacramento Daily Union, “amid a pounding on the tables that which made everything dance.” The shouting went on for minutes until, at last, Grant “rose to his feet, awkwardly rubbed his moustache with his napkin, bowed, and resumed his seat and attempted to finish his dinner.” But the cat had been let out of the bag. Grant was mobbed by admirers as he attempted to steal out of the front doors of the hotel, and again later that evening, at a reception at the White House. “So great was the crowd, and so wild the rush to get near the general,” Brooks wrote, “that he was obliged at last to mount a sofa, where he could be seen, and where he was secure, at least for a time, from the madness of the multitude.”

			Grant, for his part, wanted none of this. Uncomfortable in the spotlight and a bust at small talk, he slipped out of Washington the next day and headed for Culpeper, Virginia, winter quarters for the Army of the Potomac. Seven and a half weeks later, he departed Culpeper with 120,000 troops, the largest army ever assembled in the Western Hemisphere, and pointed them south.

			It was time to break the back of the Confederacy.

			It was time to end the war.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Two-

			The Secret Agent

			There were four of them this time.

			With him were the two Irish oarsmen and William, his valet, enslaved. It was near dark when they pushed the keelboat from beneath the brushy overhang in the creek, their breaths steaming. The first stars were just coming out, and the April air was thick and cool. When they made it to the river, they left the sail unfurled and, lifting the oars off the burden boards, pushed off from the Virginia shore. The Potomac was nearly three miles wide here, a vast, shimmering plain beneath a darkening sky. Keeping their eyes peeled for the unwelcome appearance of a Union gunboat drifting around the bend, they headed north, accompanied by the dull wash of the muffled oars and the gentle slap of the waves against the hull.

			Once they made it to the Maryland side, they hauled the boat into the woods and quickly covered it with leaves and branches. He sent William on ahead to scout for pickets, instructing him to say that he was a runaway if he was detained. William came back within the hour, made his report, and then joined the Irishmen for the return crossing. Then he helped them push off.

			He was on his own now.

			More than likely, he’d be walking all night. Sticking to the back traces and avoiding, as best he could, farmhouses and stray dogs, with a little luck he’d make it past Mattawoman Creek. Then, sometime before dawn, he’d find a grove of ash or oak, thick with bayberry or holly, and, pulling his hat down over his brow, lay low all day. A second night of walking would take him to Surrattsville. He had friends there. They would bring him brandy, feed him by the fire, and tell him the latest news. In the morning he could borrow or rent a horse. The next night he would be back in Washington. But, for now, he had many miles and a long night ahead.

			Of course, if they caught him, he’d hang.
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			Though he was but twenty-two years old, Thomas Nelson Conrad was already one of the most valuable spies for the Confederate States of America. A former teacher at a private academy in Georgetown, Conrad had planned on murdering Winfield Scott when the war broke out, as the aged commander of the Union army rode in his carriage along Pennsylvania Avenue. But when the new Confederate authorities caught wind of his plan, they nixed it. They weren’t opposed to assassination. It was just that they worried that Scott would be replaced by a younger, more able commander. But Conrad had caught their eye and soon joined the Rebel intelligence network.

			He was a good choice. Not only did he know Washington well, but he was inventive, charming, fearless, and determined. Once, during the lunch hour, Conrad slipped inside War Department headquarters and lifted a copy of a Union battle plan off a clerk’s desk. Soon he was secretly escorting potential European allies from Washington to Richmond, while in the evenings he loved to visit saloons frequented by Union officers, where he’d pick up clues about the enemy’s intentions.

			A master of disguise, Conrad frequently altered his facial hair and varied his wardrobe. On some days, he would dress as a preacher, complete with a long black frock coat and a copy of Scripture tucked beneath his arm. On others he might wear an English-cut felt jacket with velvet pants, or the simple wool suit of a farmer on an errand to the big city. Shoes were of particular importance. “The detectives at the capital could tell a Southern-made shoe the moment their trained eyes fell upon it,” Conrad later explained. “In fact, they could spot a piece of ‘Secesh’ foot-gear more quickly than a cavalry-man could a missing horse shoe and, had I retained my late style, arrest would have been a foregone conclusion.” Shoes carried with them an additional value as well. With the assistance of a local, pro-Southern cobbler, Conrad’s bootheels had been hollowed out in order to hold secret documents and directives from Richmond.

			But now, in the early spring of 1864, he would have to be especially careful.

			A friend had tipped him off earlier that a description of him was on file at the National Detective Bureau and that federal agents were on the lookout. He’d have to steer clear of Georgetown altogether, as he might be recognized there. And he could probably go out only at night. Too much was at stake.

			In the end, getting into Washington didn’t prove to be too difficult. Riding a borrowed grey mare, he crossed the Navy Yard Bridge at twilight, when it was hard for the sentries to get a good look at him. Passing the guardhouse at the end of the bridge, he turned the grey north on Eleventh Street, then headed northwest on Virginia Avenue, with the nearly finished dome of the Capitol looming ahead like an anchored moon. Spring had arrived in full in Washington and the air smelled of woodsmoke, wisteria, and horse manure. The gas lamps had been lit, casting odd shadows on the muddy streets, while streetwalkers, pickpockets, and policemen, none of whom meant him any good, had started their nightly sidewalk parade.

			Luckily, he didn’t have far to go.
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			Rising up just off the Mall at Seventeenth and D Streets, the Van Ness Mansion was one of the grandest private residences in all of Washington. Designed by Benjamin Henry Latrobe, the architect of the White House, the home featured six spacious bedrooms, a library, marble floors, scagliola columns, and the largest wine cellar in America. In decades past, it had entertained the likes of Dolley Madison, George Washington Parke Custis, and President James Monroe. Senators and congressmen, foreign dignitaries and socialites, had dined on its fine china, drunk toasts with crystal goblets, and danced quadrilles and cotillions in the golden glow of its candles. The Marquis de Lafayette, the hero of the Revolution, ate there on his return visit to the United States. Completed in 1816, less than two years after the British had burned down the White House, the Van Ness Mansion had been for decades a centerpiece in the social life of the young nation.

			Its new owners, however, had different priorities.

			Instead of hosting presidents and first ladies, the Van Ness Mansion had become a nexus in the Confederate spy network in Washington, a safe house where letters changed hands, information was given and received, and couriers, spies, and secret agents could find sanctuary. Located only three blocks from the White House and the War Department, it could not have been better situated. Thomas Conrad knew it well.

			Riding through the front gate, he handed the grey to the stable hand, entered the mansion, and got to work. That very night he met with some of his most important contacts. But they couldn’t tell him what Jefferson Davis and the Confederate high command needed to know. “I spent one night in Washington making vigorous inquiries,” Conrad later recalled, “but at best could secure no definite information.”

			It was time to take a chance. A big one.

			The next morning Conrad departed the Van Ness house dressed in the dark blue uniform of a chaplain in the Union army. “I also reduced my countenance to a more clerical cast,” he wrote, “by removing the moustache—which made me look ten years younger, but more sedate and grave—and leaving the side-whiskers to add conviction on the score of my scriptural tendencies, should any inquisitive Yankee officer have doubts about me.” Then, armed with a Bible, prayer book, and forged orders, he made a beeline for the Union army camp outside Annapolis. Three days later he had found out what was needed.

			They are going to like this in Richmond, he thought to himself.

			Thomas Conrad left Washington the following day. As he passed through the gates of the Van Ness Mansion, he looked back and to his left toward the White House. Not a soldier was in sight. Just like the last time.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Three-

			The Wilderness

			Midnight, the fourth of May, 1864. Along the Rapidan River in northern Virginia.

			Both a meandering waterway and a tributary to the Rappahannock, the river was named for both its rapids and for Anne, England’s shy and sickly former queen. Speckled trout hovered and darted above its gravel bottoms, while marsh grass lined its lower banks. But on this spring night, rich with the smells of new growth, the Virginia river was to become the jumping-off place for what would be the largest military campaign of the war.

			The cavalry were the first to move. Plunging their nervous steeds into the darkened river, the water rising up to their stifles, the Union riders located the Rebel pickets on the other side by the embers of their campfires and drove them off. Then came the Engineers. Working by lanternlight, they unloaded wagonloads of planked lumber, canvas sheeting, and long, canoe-shaped boats by the river’s edge and got to work, hammering and sawing in the damp night air. By dawn they had constructed no less than five sturdy pontoon bridges across the Rapidan.

			“It was a beautiful morning, cool and pleasant,” remembered one enlisted man. A Union officer, aide-de-camp Horace Porter, later wrote, “The crisp, bracing air seemed to impart to all a sense of exhilaration. As far as the eye could reach the troops were wending their way to the front. Their war banners, bullet-riddled and battle-stained, floated proudly in the morning breeze.” In long columns that stretched for hundreds of yards down to the riverbank, the Army of the Potomac was on the move. The long-awaited campaign had at last begun.

			Grant’s plan was simple and direct: after crossing the Rapidan, he would drive his troops south and to the east in order to swing behind Robert E. Lee’s Army of Northern Virginia. Such a move would not only put Union soldiers within striking distance of Richmond, the Rebel capital, but, more importantly, it would compromise the Confederate lines of supply. “Grant’s design was to get in the rear of Lee,” wrote Régis de Trobriand, an officer with the U.S. Volunteers. But whether Lee would allow that to happen remained to be seen. For the Confederates were on the move as well. And Lee, it had to be remembered, had never lost a battle in his home state of Virginia.

			The wheel had begun to turn.
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			The next morning, while searching for the whereabouts of the Confederate army, advance units of the Union army’s Fifth Corps entered a mysterious, underpopulated region that was simply marked as “Wilderness” or “The Wilderness”—or not marked at all—on most Virginia maps. Dense with stands of pine, cedar, oak, and hickory, and choked with underbrush, it was a gloomy, nearly roadless labyrinth marked by sinkholes and rock outcroppings. Here, full sunlight never reached the forest floor. Few people lived there. A ruined tavern was one of the few signs of human habitation. Shadows were everywhere.

			In the Wilderness, Union officers soon realized, it would be impossible to maintain strict military order, as the trees and tangled underbrush would soon disrupt any attempts at precise, parade ground–worthy formations. What maps they did have were practically useless, while individual soldiers moving forward could rarely see more than a few yards in front of them. And moving forward is exactly what the troops of the Union Fifth Corps were doing when the first murderous volleys from Lee’s army suddenly tore into their ranks.
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			Like most generals and military planners, Ulysses S. Grant was not fond of reporters. Despite the public’s need—and right—to know what was happening on the battlefields, Union commanders worried that detailed newspaper reports might provide the enemy with valuable information. As a result, on the eve of Grant’s great push beyond the Rapidan, Secretary of War Stanton forbade any civilians, including journalists, from accompanying the Army of the Potomac on its march south.

			That did not overly concern Henry E. Wing. A twenty-five-year-old reporter for the New York Tribune, Wing was himself an army veteran. Eighteen months earlier, as an enlisted infantryman in the 27th Connecticut, he had been wounded badly enough at the battle of Fredericksburg to be given up for dead. Shot in the arm, leg, and hand, he refused amputation. But when he also refused the offer by a Catholic nurse to fetch a priest to administer last rites, she calmly cut off the stubs of two fingers on his left hand with a pair of scissors. Mustered out of the army, he joined the staff of the Tribune. And as soon as he ferreted out the fact that Grant had launched his campaign, Wing slipped across Union lines and joined the army on the move. By Thursday evening, May 5, 1864, both Wing and the other Tribune reporters who’d snuck in had seen enough of the fighting in the Wilderness to know that they needed to try and get a report to their readers back home. Wing, the smallest and youngest of the group, was selected for the mission.

			Ditching his buckskin jacket, corduroy knickerbockers, and fine leather boots for “the rough butternut garb of a Virginia plantation hand,” Wing set out at four o’clock the next morning. It was, to say the least, a hair-raising journey, as the countryside that he had to traverse was now inhabited by Rebel irregulars. Talking his way past two sets of Confederate soldiers, he then outrode and was fired upon by a detachment of Mosby’s Rangers, hid his mount in the woods, and made it, alone and on foot, to the Union army encampment at Union Mills, where, after further difficulties, he was finally able to file his report back to New York via telegraph.
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			The Saturday, May 7, 1864, edition of the New York Tribune said it all.

			A huge map, taking up half of the front page, titled “The Scene of the Impending Conflict,” stretched from the Rapidan all the way to Richmond. And while various cautions were buried in agate type about rumors and a general lack of hard information, the first reports out of the Wilderness were roundly and wildly optimistic. The Advance of the Army, Our Troops in Glorious Spirits, and Hopeful Anticipations of Victory, ran the headlines. Henry Wing himself made an even rosier prediction. “There ought to be no doubt that there has been a grand victory,” he wrote. “I am on my way to Washington with more complete reports, that I will send to-morrow.”

			In Washington, the city’s newspapers followed suit. “Victory!” declared the National Republican, on Monday, May 9. “Lee’s Army in Full Retreat.” Two days later, the Evening Star announced, “General Grant Resumes His Advance Toward Richmond.” Anxious crowds hovered from dawn to dusk outside the offices of the city’s daily newspapers, the National Intelligencer, the Evening Star, the National Republican, the Globe, and the Morning Chronicle, as well as the Weekly Constitutional Union, snatching extras out of newsboys’ hands before the ink had dried. Dodging the spring thunderstorms and gathering in parks and in front of the White House, the citizens of the nation’s capital could barely restrain their enthusiasm. The air was alive with promise.

			“Washington had broken loose with a tremendous demonstration of joy,” remembered Noah Brooks. “There was something like delirium in the air.” On Monday, May 9, a huge crowd had gathered in front of the White House. A regimental band from Ohio gave an impromptu concert, and there were calls for the President to make a speech. Finally, and somewhat reluctantly, Lincoln appeared and, trying to moderate some of the spiraling expectations, said, “I will volunteer to say that I am very glad of what happened; but there is a great deal still to be done.”

			It didn’t matter. The crowds heard what they wanted to hear. Three days later, the Washington Evening Star declared in an extra, Great and Glorious News from the Front! Hancock Achieves a Glorious Victory!

			“For a time,” wrote Brooks, “it appeared as if most people thought that Grant would close the war and enter Richmond before the leaves began to fall.”

			The end was near. You could just feel it.

			The news was intoxicating. It also wasn’t true.
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			For the Wilderness wasn’t just a hole on a map. It was also a trap.

			In this maze of trees and brush, cavalry and artillery were practically useless, entire regiments became lost, and infantry lines were constantly being broken by the dense vegetation. “Bear in mind that it was in no respect like any other battle. The men fought, as it were, feeling their way,” wrote one Union officer. “The adversaries came upon each other twenty or thirty paces apart—further than that, they could not see each other—and on both sides they fired desperately until they saw no one in front of them.”

			Infantry charges, such as they were, were nearly suicidal. “We are again ready for the charge. The order comes to forward, and we go in, thinking to surprise the Johnnies, but they are up and waiting for us in the thick chaparral,” wrote Daniel G. Crotty of the 3rd Michigan Volunteers. Survivors described the enemy’s firepower as “one vast sheet of flame,” of air filled with bullets and Minié balls “whistling by like mad hornets,” and of “trees turned white as the streams of bullets stripped them of their bark.”

			The carnage was immense, almost unbelievably so. “The Regiment melted away like snow,” wrote a veteran of a charge by the 155th Pennsylvania. “Men disappeared as if the earth had swallowed them up. Every officer about me was shot down.” Of the five hundred and twenty-nine men of the 140th New York Volunteers who reported for duty on the morning of May 5, more than half were declared dead, wounded, or missing by the end of the day. For three long, bitter days, the armies of Grant and Lee clawed at each other.

			“What awful, sickening scenes,” wrote one Union army chaplain. Only they soon got even worse. The intense rifle and musket fire soon ignited dead leaves and brush on the forest floor. “The wind carried the smoke and flames against the end of our line, which was soon enveloped,” a New York volunteer recalled. “To add to the horrors of this battlefield,” a Pennsylvanian wrote, “the woods took fire and many of the dead and wounded left between the lines were cremated.” The Army of the Potomac hadn’t just found Lee’s army. In the Virginia countryside, they had also marched straight into a southern version of hell.
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			Amanda Akin well knew the cost.

			A native New Yorker, she had come to Washington one year earlier to do her part in her nation’s great struggle. “I could not remain at home inactive,” she scribbled in her diary, “when there was so much need of service.” Akin was assigned to work in the Armory Square Hospital, a massive military hospital complex consisting of a dozen freestanding wards that stretched across the Mall just to the east of the Smithsonian Castle. Energetic and uncomplaining, Akin dove right in. “The work took hold of me so firmly,” she wrote, “that my own identity seemed lost.”

			Working from six o’clock in the morning until a quarter before nine in the evening, Akin assisted with surgeries, served meals to wounded soldiers, maintained medical records, and dispensed medications, from salves and castor oil to pills and opium. She sat with patients for hours, checking the dressings on their wounds, bringing them something to drink when they were thirsty, wiping their brows when they were hot. She read them poetry and novels, wrote letters to their families, and played music for them on a piano that she had rented.

			The psychic cost that she endured was raw, real, and nearly constant.

			Her heart broke over false hopes and amputations, over immigrant soldiers dying far from home, and for family members who didn’t make it to Washington in time. “The poor boy with typhus fever died a few days after the fever turned, when we thought his life was to be spared,” Akin wrote in her diary during the last summer weeks of 1863. “His father arrived only in time to take his lifeless body home.” Three months later she wrote of Lieutenant Waite of the 6th Maine, “wounded near the lungs, breathes as if his hours were numbered.” But the next day, Akin recorded in her diary that “I was excited and delighted this morning to find Lieutenant Waite much more comfortable, conscious, and able to take nourishment; his cousin who is in the Quartermaster General’s office is staying with him. He showed me this evening the carte de visite of the Lieutenant’s sister and the lady to whom he is engaged, both beautiful.” Then, two days later, came one more entry: “Lieutenant Waite died at six o’clock this morning.”

			“Perhaps I ought not to write you these sad details,” Akin wrote to her sister back home, “but they have absorbed my mind completely, and I know your thoughts and hearts are equally and deeply interested in this fearful war.”
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			By Saturday, May 7, the battle of the Wilderness was over. No matter what the press had said, neither Grant nor Lee could claim victory.

			The dead were everywhere.

			They lay beneath towering oaks and dwarf pines, hidden in the underbrush, and in windrows on patches of bare ground. In their pockets they carried ammunition and tobacco, letters and miniature Bibles, and tintypes and locks of hair from their beloveds. Some had pieces of paper pinned to their uniforms with their name and regiment written upon them, in order that they might be identified should they not survive. Most were in their late teens, twenties, and thirties, though there were mere boys and old men scattered throughout their ranks. They were New Yorkers and Pennsylvanians, Michiganders and Connecticut Yankees, Germans and Irish, Virginians and North Carolinians, Georgians and South Carolinians.

			Some, like Major Henry Livermore Abbott of Boston, came from wealth and privilege. The son of a former congressman from a distinguished New England family, Abbott had entered Harvard College at the tender age of fourteen and lived in one of the finest boardinghouses off campus. Enlisting in the volunteer militia, in July 1861 he accepted a commission with the 20th Massachusetts Infantry Regiment. He was assigned to a company made up of tough fishermen and sailors from Cape Cod and Nantucket, proving to be both a gifted leader and a determined fighter. Rising through the ranks, he steered men into the Battle of Ball’s Bluff and the Seven Days’ Battles. At Fredericksburg in 1862, he helped lead the murderous charge on Marye’s Heights. At Gettysburg, he stood with his infantry on Cemetery Ridge, where they fought off Pickett’s Charge. Somehow, while other officers fell right and left, Abbott remained unwounded.

			His luck ran out in the Wilderness. While directing fire against Confederate troops hidden among “a dense thicket of saplings,” he caught a bullet in the stomach. Henry Livermore Abbott died a couple of hours later. “He vanished in the starless night,” wrote Oliver Wendell Holmes Jr., “and we saw but the shining of his luminous wake.” His remains were buried back home in Massachusetts. The words Sans peur et sans reproche—“Without fear and without reproach”—were engraved on the lid of his coffin.

			Others, like the corpses of more than a few of the Confederate dead, would receive no such treatment. “They were poorly clad,” recalled Frank Wilkeson, a Union soldier who passed by many such deceased Rebels in the Wilderness. “They were poorly shod. The direful poverty of the Confederacy was plainly indicated by its dead soldiers.” Barefoot or wearing scraps of carpet tied about their feet, dressed in threadbare, mismatched uniforms, and carrying tattered knapsacks, many of these were men who had never owned slaves, had never opened a bank account, and never had half of what they needed. Some were literate, while many others could neither read nor sign their own names. “They were volunteers, not hired or recruited from the slums of the great cities of the country, but at the call of their respective States they came from every walk of life,” read one later tribute. They had fought, it was said, for liberty and self-determination, for their country and their families and their way of life. But they had also fought, whether they voiced it or not, for slavery, and for all its unholy manifestations. And in the gloom of the Wilderness, they had died for it as well.

			But the fighting wasn’t over yet.

			Still hoping to get behind the Rebel army, Grant again wheeled to the left, sending his troops streaming toward an obscure country crossroads marked on maps as the Spotsylvania Court House. Robert E. Lee, correctly anticipating Grant’s next move, got there first. Finding the ground—a mix of mature forest and open fields—to their liking, the Rebel troops dug in, hauling earth and logs to create fortified battlements, and patiently waited for the despised Northerners to arrive.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Four-

			Spotsylvania

			Emory Upton could see it all.

			A twenty-four-year-old major with the Sixth Corps, Upton was a rising star within the Union army. A devout Christian and a dedicated abolitionist, his deepest loyalties were to the Union and the U.S. Constitution. “It was bone of his bone,” wrote a fellow officer, “and blood of his blood.” Spartan in his habits, Upton would never sleep on a pillow for fear that it would make him round-shouldered or crack a nut with his teeth. As a child growing up in far western New York State, even his schoolwork was notably austere. “He had no taste for useless ornament in his writings, and never allowed himself to seek for frequent adjectives and high-sounding words, as young writers are wont to do,” wrote a friend. “If he were told, ‘That sentence sounds poetical,’ he would change it to a more prosy form.”

			But Upton, who won an appointment to West Point, graduating in the class of 1860, was also open to change. After leading men into battle at Bull Run, Antietam, and Fredericksburg, he had grown increasingly appalled by military tactics that had resulted in so many deaths. Most infantry “charges” up until then featured broad lines of soldiers marching shoulder to shoulder against enemy positions. Along the way, the attacking troops might also stop, fire, and reload—all of which made them prime stationary targets for deadly volleys from the ranks of the enemy. Upton was convinced that there was a better way.

			At Spotsylvania, he would get his chance to prove it.
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			Tuesday afternoon, May 10, 1864.

			By five o’clock, more than four thousand Union troops had moved into the woods to the northwest of the main body of Rebel troops. The day had been warm and dusty, with the feel of an oncoming rain. The men were ordered to fix bayonets, lie down, and not talk. “I felt my gorge rise, and my stomach and intestines shrink together in a knot, and a thousand things rushed through my mind,” recalled one officer. “I looked about the faces of the boys around me, and they told the tale of expected death.”

			Upton had been ordered to launch an attack on a prominent salient that stuck out like a ragged tooth from the Confederate line. Reinforced with huge logs, palisades, and rows of sharpened branches, the Rebel battlements were heavily defended. But if they fell, Union troops could then flank either side of the Confederate positions, potentially win a decisive victory, and hasten the end of the war. Upton’s plan was to form his twelve handpicked regiments into three narrow columns. Speed was to be of the essence. There would be no stopping to stand and fire. Instead, the troops would cross the two hundred yards of open ground separating them from the enemy at a quick run.

			Shortly after six o’clock, following an excruciating wait, the order to advance was given. The lead columns, composed of seasoned troops from New York, Vermont, Pennsylvania, Maine, and Wisconsin, erupted out of the woods and made a beeline for the Rebel position. “The lines rose,” Upton later recalled, “moved noiselessly to the edge of the wood, and, with a wild cheer and face averted, rushed for the works.” Inside the salient, and now suddenly facing thousands of blue-coated Union troops speeding right toward them, the stunned Confederate officers tried to rouse and rally their troops. “Make ready boys,” screamed a Georgian, “they are charging!” Instantly, the breastworks sprung to life, and Rebel riflemen opened fire on the surging Union columns, cutting down soldier after soldier.

			But they couldn’t hold back the tide.

			Union troops stormed over the battlements and, after a brief but deadly close-quarters fight, opened a breach in the Rebel line and poured into the captured works. Upton had been right. Speed and troops arranged in tight columns could win the day. Maybe even the war.

			Then the day was lost.

			For as the Virginia sun began to dip toward the western horizon, the promised reinforcements never arrived. Their commander, it was later rumored, had been drunk. And when the furious Confederate counterattack came, Upton had no choice but to withdraw his now outnumbered troops, and the salient returned to Rebel hands. The cost had been enormous. As evening fell, Union dead lay scattered in the woods, along the open fields leading up to the Confederate battlements, and among the breastworks themselves. “Our loss in this assault was about one thousand in killed, missing, and wounded,” wrote a Sixth Corps officer. But Upton’s brilliant tactic had, at least at first, succeeded.
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			Two days later. Thursday morning, May 12, 1864.

			Dawn broke grey and rainy. Inside the Confederate lines, rumor had it that the army was to move again, that the Yankees were going to retreat. Most of the Rebel artillery had already been pulled off the front. But as the sky changed from charcoal to fish belly white, an ominous development began to form to the north, past the still-bloody field where so many of Emory Upton’s troops had fallen two days earlier. For in the woods a mile distant, a new, massive Union force under the command of Major General Winfield S. Hancock, a charismatic and talented forty-year-old Pennsylvanian, was quietly falling into line.

			“It was the largest body of men ever organized on the continent for a single blow,” wrote Brevet Lieutenant Colonel George A. Bruce. “In it were twenty thousand men, five thousand more than Pickett led up Cemetery Hill at Gettysburg.” Fully seventy-two battle flags, representing units from more than ten states, hung heavily on their staffs, dripping rainwater. Most were shot and torn, while some were stained with the blood of their previous bearers.

			At 4:32 a.m., the command was given to advance.

			With skirmishers from the 66th New York leading the way, the columns of troops crossed the Ni River and filed through a treeless corridor that stretched for nearly one-third of a mile between two patches of woods. Groups of army pioneers, armed with axes and saws, were interspersed among the infantry regiments. Once through the corridor, they would have a straight shot through gently rising fields to the Rebel battlements. Quietly, the Union troops moved forward.

			For the handful of Confederate pickets who were stationed roughly four hundred yards in front on the salient, it had been a rough night. The off-and-on rain had made sleeping difficult and turned their positions into mud. Even more disturbing, there had been weird sounds, like a kind of dull roar, coming from beyond the Union lines. Some of the men had wondered if they were about to be attacked. But none were prepared for what they saw next. For as the fog broke, there suddenly appeared thousands and thousands of Yankee soldiers heading straight toward them. The pickets each fired off one shot and then hightailed it out of there.

			Once past the former picket line, the Union soldiers hastened their step to a double-quick. They had been ordered to remain silent, but one outfit, likely the Irish Brigade, let out a raucous cheer. It was then picked up by units to the left and right, forward and back, combining into a rough chorus of more than fifteen thousand voices. They were running now, running toward the salient, running toward the heart of Robert E. Lee’s fearsome army, crashing over the palisades like an unstoppable blue wave.

			Hancock’s troops swept into the salient, quickly overwhelming the outnumbered Rebel defenders. Then something unplanned happened. For as thousands more Union soldiers pushed forward, the salient became more and more crowded. Regiments became mixed, and organized movement became impossible. “The officers commanding the divisions were capable men and knew what the situation demanded, but they were almost powerless,” wrote Mason Whiting Tyler, of the 37th Massachusetts. “There was no one to carry out their orders quickly or assist much in executing them.” And when the frenzied and determined Confederate counterattack came later that day, recalled a sergeant with the 3rd Michigan, “half the time the men are fighting on their own responsibility.”

			The result was, in the eyes of Tyler, “the fiercest battle of modern times.”

			For twenty-two hours straight, men of the two armies fought and clawed and killed each other, firing into each other’s faces, running swords and bayonets through their abdomens. Five times the Rebels stormed the massed Union troops, and five times the Northerners held. “I don’t expect to go to hell,” recalled David Holt, a survivor from the 16th Mississippi, “but if I do, I am sure that Hell can’t beat that terrible scene.” Soldiers were picked off both at the front and at the rear, while some Rebel soldiers trying to surrender were shot by both the enemy and their own side.

			The firing was earsplitting, incessant. Soldiers likened the sounds of the Minié balls to musical instruments, bees, or screeching cats. “I am told that our men fired, during that time, between three hundred and fifty and four hundred rounds to each man,” a lieutenant in the 1st Maine wrote. “Multiply this by fifty thousand men, and it conveys a little idea of the accompanying buzz of bullets.” Horses, mules, and men were blasted beyond recognition, while a mature red oak tree, standing above a Confederate rifle pit, was constantly riddled with rifle fire. “After keeping up this fire for several hours the men saw the tree begin to waver and it soon after fell with a crash upon those near it,” wrote Isaac Oliver Best of the 121st New York. Its trunk was later determined to have been twenty-two inches in diameter.

			Death was everywhere.

			J. F. J. Caldwell, a South Carolinian, recalled the last moments of one eighteen-year-old Rebel soldier. “He was a handsome boy, tall and slender, with eyes as tender as a woman’s, and a smooth, fair cheek, just darkening with the first downy beard,” Caldwell wrote. “Seeming to be weary, about sunset, he sat down in the cross-trench to rest. He was hardly down, when a ball glanced from a tree and struck him just behind the right ear. He struggled up and shook with a brief convulsion. Some one caught him in his arms. He raised his eyes, with the sweetest, saddest smile I think I ever saw on earth, and died almost on the instant.”

			In the afternoon the rain turned into a thunderstorm, and when the men of the two armies couldn’t get their now soaked ammunition to fire, they stabbed and clubbed each other to death or strangled their foes in the mud. In the salient, Northerners and Southerners fought like men had fought in the Trojan War. Private Henry London of the 32nd North Carolina wrote that the scene at the salient, which some men called the Bloody Angle, was “the most desperate fighting during the war” and that the fighting there “has never been surpassed in any battle of ancient or modern times.” Even when night fell, the battle raged on until, wrote an officer with the U.S. Volunteers, “the enemy, finally discouraged as much as exhausted, abandoned the strife, and retired.”

			When dawn broke on May 13, the carnage was practically unfathomable.

			“The whole scene was such that no pen can or ever will describe it,” wrote one Confederate infantryman. “I have seen many fields after severe conflicts, but nowhere have I ever seen anything half so ghastly.” Bodies of Union and Rebel dead were piled five deep in some places, while in the trenches “the water was red, almost black with blood.” A Rhode Island soldier recalled that the dead could only be distinguished from the wounded by their unnatural positions. “The bodies of a father and a son lying side by side is especially remembered.”

			The gravediggers would be busy for months.

			Meanwhile, the armies moved on.

			Grant continued to move south, hoping to get behind the Rebel forces, but Lee continued to frustrate him. Finally, on June 9, a little over a month since it had crossed the Rapidan, the Army of the Potomac pulled to a halt outside of the city of Petersburg, an important Confederate supply center, and dug in for another siege. The war wouldn’t be ending anytime soon.
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			Back in Washington, the joyful delirium of early May had given way to a new, soul-crushing reality. Hundreds of anxious family members, many of whom had traveled for days to get to the capital, now gathered along the Sixth Street Wharf, waiting for the ships carrying the wounded from Virginia to arrive, torn between hoping and not hoping that their husbands, sons, brothers, and fathers were on one of the boats, yet terrified of what had become of them if they were not.

			At the Armory Square Hospital, injured soldiers came in droves. “The wounded were coming in all day,” Amanda Akin recorded in her diary on May 11. “One ward received fifty, and a thousand more are expected tomorrow.” Two days later she wrote, “Our attendants, etc., were up all night bringing in and taking care of the wounded, who have been coming in all day.” Six days after that, it was “The wounded came in at all hours.” On the night of May 29–30, she wrote, “Kept no record of these two days’ doings, having neither the time nor the strength.” Akin was hardly alone in her exhaustion and bone-tired fatigue. On May 30, another nurse, Helen Griggs of Ward A, wrote to a friend, “I cannot write a connected letter; I lost my senses two weeks ago and haven’t known my own name for a week. I cannot begin to tell you of what we are going through.”

			Then came the casualty lists.

			In column after column, page after page, newspapers in New York and Philadelphia, Boston and Providence, Hartford and Portland, and beyond, published the names of Union officers and enlisted men who had been killed or captured in the Wilderness or Spotsylvania. The fortunate ones, those with money and influence, arranged for the remains of their loved ones to be returned to them and buried in the family crypt or mausoleum. But most simply had to confront the news that their son, brother, or father was gone. And all across the states of the North, brokenhearted mothers, sisters, and daughters pinned black ribbons and crepe rosettes to their dresses, praying that their loved ones had not unduly suffered.

			May 1864 had been the deadliest month of the entire war.

			In the Wilderness, more than 17,000 Union soldiers had been killed, wounded, captured, or reported as missing, while Rebel losses were upward of 12,000. At Spotsylvania, the numbers were 18,000 and 12,000, respectively. Taken together as one single conflict, the bloody side-by-side battles of the Wilderness and Spotsylvania was the largest battle ever to occur in the Americas. For a war that many had thought was winding down, the appalling casualty figures were a stark and shocking reminder of how far they still had to go.

			For Reverend Alexander M. Stewart, the Presbyterian chaplain for the 102nd Pennsylvania, the Union dead in Virginia represented something far more important than a numbers count. “On Saturday morning,” he wrote from a field hospital, “forty-seven who had died in this one locality, of the wounded during the past day and night, were laid in a row and buried in one ditch.

			“Reader,” he added, “our Union, our liberties, our hopes for the future must be very precious. This is their price.”

			Few knew that better than the man in the White House.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Five-

			The President

			His hands and feet were always cold.

			Because of this, Mrs. Abner Bartlett, age eighty-three, of Medford, Massachusetts, sent the President a pair of socks that she had hand-knit. So did ninety-one-year-old Sarah Phelps of Groton, Connecticut. Mrs. Lucy A. Thomas, age eighty, of New York mailed a pair of hand-knit gloves. Others, equally concerned over Lincoln’s health, sent shawls and mufflers, teas and homemade elixirs. “His blood had to run a long distance from his heart to the extremities of his frame,” observed William Herndon, Lincoln’s longtime friend and former law partner, “and his nerve force had to travel through dry ground a long distance before his muscles were obedient to his will.”

			Lincoln had other distinctive physical traits, quirks, and anomalies as well. When he walked, he never landed on his heels, but always placed his entire foot down all at once. At six feet four, Abraham Lincoln towered over other men and women of his time. While he rarely attended church, when he did, he was so long that he had to sit sideways in the pew, splaying his feet out into the aisle. He had contracted smallpox and malaria twice and still bore a scar on his left hand from his days splitting rails and chopping wood. He was a lousy sleeper and a light eater, one with a fondness for popcorn, apples, and oysters. By the last year of his life, he was likely suffering from cancer.

			When he looked at someone directly, his face was intense, singular, and mesmerizing. Nathaniel Hawthorne famously wrote that Lincoln was “about the homeliest man I ever saw,” though others found him to be handsome. To some, his face looked as if a set of mismatched parts had been haphazardly thrown together. He had huge ears, a large nose, an especially prominent jaw, and a wide mouth, while his forehead tilted backward. His hair, raven black when he was younger, was coarse and unruly. And his skin, even when he was in his thirties, had a withered, ancient, translucent look about it.

			“His face was peculiar; bone, nerve, vein, and muscle were all so plainly seen,” wrote Cordelia Harvey, from Wisconsin. Others spoke about how mercurial his facial expressions were and how, like a sudden spring storm, you could read his emotions from one moment to the next. But it was Abraham Lincoln’s eyes that transfixed those who saw them up close. Dark grey at times, a tender blue at others, they were often quixotic and remote, captivating yet secretive, a set of halfway-opened doors to his soul. Walt Whitman, who would often exchange nods with the President on the streets of Washington, thought that they were marked “with a deep latent sadness in the expression.”
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			Lincoln’s early life had been one of near-constant struggle.

			Born on the bottom rung of frontier society, to what others called white trash, he grew up in Kentucky and Indiana in a series of crude cabins with dirt floors and no windows, wearing ragged clothes. Compared to their impoverished neighbors, the Lincolns were savagely, desperately poor. Meals were often little more than corn mush or johnnycake, and once he and his sister had gone hungry for so long that their stomachs, according to a neighbor, had taken on a leathery appearance. His father, who never worked a day more in his life than he had to, took little interest in his son, while his mother, who was never sure about who her own father was, died of milk sickness when Abe was nine.

			Educating the young was not a priority on the American frontier, and most of what precious little schooling Lincoln received was barely more than rote repetition offered by teachers who sometimes rewarded a good classroom performance by giving a student a shot of whiskey or a plug of tobacco. Abe was splitting rails before he turned ten, and because he was big for his age, he found himself regularly having to fight older boys and even grown men. Quoting the English poet Thomas Gray’s “Elegy Written in a Country Church-Yard,” Lincoln once described his youth as “the short and simple annals of the poor.” A more telling description would be that he came of age in a world of want and superstition, hard drinking and fire-and-brimstone preachers, among the nobodies and castoffs of the great westward movement.

			As he grew toward adulthood, Abe Lincoln was consumed by a desire to get ahead. “The things I need to know,” he once said, “are to be found in books.” Encouraged by his father’s new wife, Sarah Bush Johnston, who sensed that her gawky, filthy stepson had something special inside of him, Lincoln suddenly leapt forward. His confidence began to climb, doors began to crack open, and as towns and roads began to spread across southern Indiana, the outside world grew closer. After failing as a shopkeeper in New Salem, Illinois, Lincoln read for the law, became a successful lawyer, and tried his hand at politics. But after a lackluster single term as a United States congressman, he returned home to Springfield, Illinois, content, it seemed, to a life as a husband, father, and prospering attorney. Only the rising national debate over slavery drew him back in.

			Back in the spring of 1828, three months after his nineteenth birthday, Lincoln had helped to steer a flatboat loaded with salted pork and corn twelve hundred miles down the Ohio and Mississippi Rivers, all the way to New Orleans. Dodging shifting sandbars, uprooted trees, and dead-water elbows, the journey had taken him past ancient Indian mounds and rowdy river towns, a floating theater that staged productions of Hamlet, Othello, and Richard III, cotton fields and plantation mansions, and forests with trees and flowers the likes of which he had never seen before.

			New Orleans proved to be the most eye-opening, with its incensed cathedrals and iron-gated town houses, its fancy shops and restaurants, and its newspapers in English and Spanish and French. But the city’s open-air slave markets, for Lincoln, were both the most memorable and soul shattering, with their coffles of enslaved Africans and African Americans chained together, their potential buyers stripping off the clothes and fondling the bodies of young women on the auction block, and the anguished cries of mothers and children about to be forever separated. The scenes he witnessed turned his stomach. “When a boy I went to New Orleans on a flat boat and there I saw slavery and slave markets as I have never seen them in Kentucky,” Lincoln wrote in an 1860 letter. Nearly a decade earlier, he told a fifteen-year-old employee of his Illinois law office that he had seen slavery “myself when I was only a little older than you are now, and the horrid pictures are in my mind yet.”

			But it was not until 1858 that Abraham Lincoln began to find words to express his feelings. By then, the growing political unrest over slavery was fast approaching fever pitch and Lincoln, sensing an opportunity as well as following his conscience, joined the brand-new Republican Party and ran for the open U.S. Senate seat in Illinois. At a debate against his opponent Stephen A. Douglas held at the Mississippi river town of Alton, Lincoln compared the arrogance of slaveholders to that of kings. “It is the same spirit that says, ‘You work and toil and earn bread, and I’ll eat it.’ No matter in what shape it comes, whether from the mouth of a king who seeks to bestride the people of his own nation and live by the fruit of their labor,” he said, “or from one race of men as an apology for enslaving another race, it is the same tyrannical principle.”

			Though he lost the race to Douglas, the debates elevated Lincoln into a figure of national political prominence. Clinching the Republican nomination for president exactly eighteen months later, Lincoln won the presidency in a sharply divided election in November 1860. He was inaugurated in Washington on March 4, 1861. It was a windy, dusty morning. Thirty-nine days later, at half past four in the morning on April 12, a twenty-one-year-old South Carolina artillery lieutenant named Henry S. Farley lit the charge on a ten-inch mortar on James Island in Charleston Bay, sending a signal shell arcing high over the Union-held garrison at Fort Sumter.

			The war had begun. Abraham Lincoln was fifty-two.
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			Four years later, the slaughter continued.

			Added to the appalling casualties in the Wilderness and Spotsylvania were those at Cold Harbor as Grant wheeled his army farther south. Still more men would perish in the trenches outside Petersburg, where the killing and dying would grind on, robbing mothers of their sons, children of their fathers, sweethearts of their lovers. Virginia had become a vast patchwork of killing fields, a land soaked in blood, where the calculus of the war would be measured on the heartless scale of attrition. Union losses along the Rapidan and the North Anna Rivers had been truly horrific, as had, to a lesser degree, those of the Confederates. But while the more populous states of the North could replace their fallen soldiers with new recruits, the Rebels could not. At some point, the reasoning went, the enemy lines would weaken and break, and victory would follow.

			Lincoln, for his part, would later be remembered, and rightly so, for his acts of kindness, for his immense humanity, for “with malice toward none, with charity toward all.” Here was a president who would stay the execution of deserters and send imprisoned Rebel officers back to their loved ones. But Abraham Lincoln was also a stone-cold killer, a commander in chief who would sacrifice the lives of thousands of men in order to crush the Confederacy and wipe slavery, once and for all, off the face of America.

			By the middle of 1864, the war, as Lincoln well knew, had become a numbers game.

			The trick now, as the summer weather rolled in, was to hang on.
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			On Friday, June 17, an explosion tore through the choking rooms at the Washington Arsenal, a government munitions factory located at the southernmost tip of the District of Columbia. The blast was so powerful that it lifted the entire roof off the building where rifle cartridges were tied off and packed into crates. Seventeen women and girls who worked at the arsenal, many of them immigrants from Ireland, died immediately, while four others succumbed to their wounds in the days that followed. It was the deadliest disaster to take place in the city during the war.

			While the city was well-acquainted with funerals, the deaths of the arsenal girls touched a deep chord in the battered heart of the wartime capital. Thousands lined the streets and sidewalks for the funeral procession for the twenty-one young workers, including clerks and congressmen, housewives and servants, soldiers and government officials. For the deceased were not just the latest victims in an endless war. They had also become a reminder of everything that had been lost, all that was bright and pure and full of promise. But what neither the crowds lining the sidewalks nor President Lincoln—who rode in the procession all the way to the congressional cemetery where the young women were buried—realized was that the trials of the summer had only just begun.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Six-

			An Army of Ghosts

			They dropped down out of the mountains just west of Liberty. Marching four abreast through the ancient oaks and poplars, with the late June sunlight flickering through the green canopy high above their heads, they pushed through the last of the forest. Many of the men were barefoot. Some had wrapped rags or carpet cuttings around their feet, while others wore dead men’s shoes. Their grey uniforms were a rough patchwork of castoffs and homespun and mill-made cloth, while their weaponry ranged from modern Springfield rifles to ancient smoothbore muskets and long-handled bowie knives. The Virginia weather had been brutally hot, and they already had marched more than sixty miles in three days. Yet on they came, step after step, winding down peaks that, from a distance, looked like blue-grey gods shimmering in the summer sun. Ten thousand strong, they were also some of the finest soldiers in the world.

			At Buchanan, they crossed the James River over the half-burnt bridge, the charred timbers creaking and groaning but holding, while the bewondered townsfolk, peering from doorways or behind curtained windows, looked on in awe. Then the mountains pulled back and the countryside opened up. “Cherries are in their prime,” recorded Captain Jedediah Hotchkiss, an engineer and cartographer, and the men gorged themselves in the groves along the road. In Lexington, they filed by the grave of Stonewall Jackson with heads uncovered and arms reversed, and they viewed the burned-out remains of the Virginia Military Institute. They were in the Valley now, where the land rolled before them in long great swells, like waves out on the ocean.

			They were in the Valley, and their hour had struck.
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			Stretching for nearly one hundred miles, the Shenandoah Valley of Virginia was both a dazzling wonder and a geographical anomaly. Unlike most American rivers, its namesake waterway flowed north, like an arrow pointed at half past one on a clockface. To go down the Valley was to go north, to go up it was to head south. And the Valley had already played an outsized role in the war. Known by some as the granary of the Confederacy, its lush farms and slave labor produced wheat, corn, beef, and pork that fed not only the soldiers in Robert E. Lee’s Army of Northern Virginia but also government officials and everyday citizenry at the capital in Richmond.

			But the Valley was also an artery and a thoroughfare, one whose high, bordering mountain ridges provided cover for armies on the move. Lee had used the Valley for just that purpose when he invaded Maryland during the fall of 1862. And he did it again nine months later when he invaded Pennsylvania. The Shenandoah Valley, with its open countryside and its macadamized turnpike, was the Rebel highway to the north. Now, in June 1864, it beckoned once again.
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			Robert E. Lee was no stranger to taking chances.

			As a second lieutenant on a reconnaissance mission in 1847 during the Mexican War, he’d lain stock-still for hours within earshot of enemy soldiers. But when he returned to headquarters, Lee delivered information that led to an American victory three days later at Cerro Gordo. At Chancellorsville in 1863, Lee sent half of his badly outnumbered Confederate army on a risky march through and behind Union lines. The audacious tactic worked, and Lee was able to deliver a resounding Rebel victory. But Lee’s derring-do did not always pay dividends. On July 3 of that year, he sent more than twelve thousand Confederate infantrymen across open fields in order to pierce the Union line on Cemetery Ridge just south of the Pennsylvania town of Gettysburg. Instead, Pickett’s Charge, as it soon became known, was a crushing, monumental mistake. Nearly nine thousand Rebel soldiers were killed, captured, or wounded, while Lee’s planned invasion of the North withered and blew away like apple blossoms in the July sun.

			In truth, Lee’s army was most dangerous—and most successful—when it had room to move. But now, in the early summer of 1864, with Union soldiers investing Petersburg and Grant building up massive amounts of war matériel at City Point, just to the east of Richmond, the Army of Northern Virginia, the largest Confederate force east of the Appalachians, was on guard duty, forced to man static battlements against enemy forces that seemed to grow larger and larger with each passing week. And it was this very reality that made two recent pieces of information especially intriguing to its fifty-seven-year-old commander.
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			The first had come from Thomas Nelson Conrad, the spy. By sneaking into the Union camp at Annapolis disguised as a clergyman, Conrad had determined that the troops under the command of General Ambrose E. Burnside would be heading south to join with Grant’s forces for what became the crossing of the Rapidan and the subsequent battles in the Wilderness and at Spotsylvania Court House. Burnside’s considerable forces, which might have been used to defend Washington, Baltimore, or Philadelphia, had all been dispatched to Virginia.

			The second bit of information was both startling and wholly unexpected.

			In early May, a Union army had started to move up the Shenandoah Valley with an eye toward capturing Lynchburg, a vital Confederate rail center not far from the Valley’s southernmost end. After a sluggish start, the Union troops finally reached Lynchburg in the middle of June, where their planned assault was derailed by both an energetic local effort—one that involved the constant movement of railroad cars and brass bands playing well into the night—to convince the invading Yankees that there were thousands and thousands of Rebel troops ensconced within the city, and by the actual arrival of Confederate forces under General Jubal A. Early. The bluff worked, and after a brief firefight, the Union troops took flight. What was significant, however, was where they went. For instead of retreating back down the Valley, the Union forces fled west, to West Virginia. As a result, the Shenandoah Valley was wide open and undefended.

			That had given Robert E. Lee an idea.

			A little-known Confederate army, moving quickly down the undefended Shenandoah Valley, could not only make a surprise invasion of the North; with a little luck, it might also end the war and preserve the independence of the Confederacy. For Lee and the Confederate high command, it was a daring gambit. But if ever there was a time to take one, it was now.
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			They were moving.

			The summer had already been a scorcher. It had not rained for weeks, and while the fields of wheat, already golden and nearing harvest, had held up well, the corn had taken a beating. Flower beds and vegetable patches withered in the sun while dogs haunted porches and patches of shade. The “heat and dust almost insupportable,” wrote an officer with the 20th North Carolina. Still, Jubal Early’s men marched on. By June 27 they had made it to Staunton, where they were resupplied with rations sent over from Charlottesville. Five days later they reached Winchester. “The people…so glad to see us and as loyal as ever,” Early later wrote. His troops, many of them barefoot and most of them carrying rifles, ammunition, bedrolls, and rations, had marched more than one hundred and fifty-five miles in nine days. And they hadn’t seen a single Union soldier.
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			In Washington, meanwhile, rumors had begun to make the rounds at the War Department about some kind of Rebel force moving down the Valley. The commander of the Union forces at Martinsburg, West Virginia, less than a day’s ride north of Staunton, believing the worst, had fled the town on July 3, leaving behind storehouses filled with supplies. The next day—July 4, Independence Day—Union troops abandoned Harpers Ferry, burning the pontoon and railroad bridges over the Potomac as they left, and moved to higher, more easily defended ground.

			But in the capital itself, confusion reigned. General Henry W. Halleck groused that he could get no reliable information on who these Confederate troops might be and how many of them there were. Assistant Secretary of War Charles Dana, on the other hand, assured inquisitors that “we seemed to have pretty good evidence that Early was with Lee, defending Petersburg.” Grant, however, was unconvinced, and he sent a message on July 5 offering to send a corps of troops from Virginia up to Washington. “Halleck telegraphed,” Margaret Leech later wrote, “that he thought this was unnecessary.”

			The basic facts remained. As far as the leadership in Washington was concerned, there was good evidence that the Rebels had been on the move in the Shenandoah Valley. But who they were, how many, and where they were headed was anyone’s guess.

			

			
				[image: ]
			

			In Shepherdstown, there were some answers.

			The former Virginia river town, now a part of West Virginia, had already seen more than its share of the war. Perched upon a hill overlooking the Potomac, it was here that Lee and Union general George B. McClellan had clashed nearly two years earlier, right after the battle of Antietam. Now, on July 4, the town suddenly found itself occupied by Confederate cavalry—lean and unsmiling men who kept their pistols and sabers handy, uncertain whether they were still in friendly territory. But this was merely a prologue. The next day, thousands of dust-covered Rebel infantrymen swarmed through the town, dropped down to the riverbank, and began wading through the knee-high water. Then, with the cool water dripping off their ankles, they pulled themselves up through the bushes clinging to the opposite bank, and into the state of Maryland. Only something else happened as well. For in an instant, the Rebel army was no longer headed north. Like a dagger, it was now pointed toward the southeast.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Seven-

			Contrabands

			In Washington, summer had arrived in full.

			Pedestrians sought relief beneath shade trees, while horses drowsed in the sunlight, flicking flies with their tails. During the last two weeks of June the weather had been oppressively hot, dry, save for one day of rain, and miserable, with “only here and there a day breezy enough for breathing,” wrote Lois Bryan Adams, an intrepid reporter from Detroit. But finally, she added, July 4 dawned “cool, clear, airy and delightful as the most ambitious pleasure seekers could desire.”

			The city had dressed appropriately. American flags and red, white, and blue bunting were everywhere, hanging from storefronts, hotels, saloons, and private homes, draped alongside government buildings, or fluttering in the breeze, while the streets and sidewalks were still littered with the charred remains of the previous night’s firecrackers. For this day had become a most important holiday to the embattled citizens of the capital of the United States. For three long and blood-washed years, they had sent young men off to battle, bandaged their wounds, and buried them on a lonesome hillside off Seventh Street or, more recently, on a gentle rise across the Potomac.

			This war was theirs as well.

			A generation earlier, Washington was a sleepy Southern city, with its open-air slave markets, miasmal swamps, and handful of public buildings. Twenty-two-year-old Henry Adams, the patrician descendant of two presidents and fresh from a European tour, found Washington on the eve of the war to be little more than a pathetic smudge on a map. “As in 1800 and 1850, so in 1860, the same rude colony was camped in the same forest, with the same unfinished Greek temples for work rooms, and sloughs for roads,” he wrote. “John Adams was better off in Philadelphia in 1776 than his great-grandson Henry in 1860 in Washington.”

			But in three short years, the city had been indelibly transformed. Thousands of people had migrated to Washington. Most had come to find work; others to care for their wounded husbands, sons, and fathers. Finding housing in the District of Columbia was a monumental task. Entire families squeezed into rented rooms, rustled up tents, or slept in the open air. One Union soldier recalled having to sleep one night beneath an oak tree, another on the bare, hard ground, and finally one night in a chicken coop. In the overcrowded rooming houses, slop buckets overflowed and tempers wore thin, while privacy was only a memory. Even the streetcars were jammed.

			Something else was also new.

			More and more women were doing things they hadn’t done before.

			“I’ve often longed to see a war, and now I have my wish,” wrote a young Louisa May Alcott in far-off Concord, Massachusetts, when the war first broke out. “I long to be a man; but as I can’t fight, I will content myself with working for those who can.” For Alcott, who would later gain fame for her Civil War novel Little Women, that meant coming to Washington, where she worked as a nurse at a Union hospital in Georgetown. Cleansing faces, changing bandages, serving rations, writing letters, providing comfort and an open ear, or being asked by one of the male doctors to break the news to a dying soldier that the end was near, she was never the same again. “In they came, some on stretchers, some in men’s arms, some feebly staggering along propped on rude crutches, and one lay stark and still with covered face, as a comrade gave his name to be recorded before they carried him away to the dead house,” she wrote of the first wave of casualties coming in from Fredericksburg. “The sight of several stretchers, each with its legless, armless, or desperately wounded occupant, entering my ward, admonished me that I was there to work, not to wonder or weep; so I corked up my feelings, and returned to the path of duty.”

			There were thousands like Alcott, women who were determined to come to Washington not just to find work but also to join the fight. Near Union Square in New York City, twenty-year-old Sarah Robison had written directly to President Lincoln himself. Noting that he was regularly besieged by individuals seeking government positions, she wrote, “I wonder if I cannot make an application for an appointment, too.”

			Hundreds of women found work as clerks in the Treasury Department, the Patent Office, and the Government Printing Office. Others gained employment as dietitians, cooks, laundresses, and seamstresses. Working long hours with low pay, they also filled the ranks of ladies’ aid and soldiers’ aid societies. And after a long day on the job, they performed volunteer work in Washington’s churches and hospitals. “Women there were in this war, who without a single relative in the army, denied themselves for the whole four years, the comforts to which they had always been accustomed; went thinly clad, took the extra blanket from their bed, never tasted tea, or sugar, or flesh, that they might wind another bandage round some unknown soldier’s wound, or give some parched lips in the hospital another sip of wine,” wrote the president of the U.S. Sanitary Commission. “God himself keeps this record! It is too sacred to be trusted to men.” Not only did they change Washington, but they were a vital, irreplaceable cog in the war effort.

			So, too, was another group.
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			“Blacks, blacks, blacks everywhere,” wrote journalist William J. Wilson in the Weekly Anglo-African in September 1863. “Blacks on the government wagons—blacks on the drays—blacks on the hacks—blacks on the dirt-carts—blacks in the hotels, in the barbers shops, in all the houses, on all the streets.” And more were coming to Washington every day. According to the Census Bureau, the population of the District of Columbia in 1860 was just a hair over seventy-five thousand. Of these, roughly eleven thousand, or one out of every seven people, were African American. The vast majority were so-called Free Blacks, while 1,774 were enslaved. Most of the enslaved were children. But after years of wrangling and debate, Congress passed legislation outlawing slavery in the District of Columbia, and President Lincoln signed it into law on April 16, 1862.

			What followed was a human flood.

			The federal government dubbed them “contrabands,” meaning smuggled or outlawed goods, while slaveholders called them runaways. That they had stolen something was, in fact, true. They had stolen themselves.

			Some had fled northward when the first Union troops had appeared in the Virginia countryside. Many had taken off into the night with nothing more than what they had on, others with a few items wrapped in a blanket. Babies and children were quieted, elders comforted, prayers said, and with their hearts pounding, off they went. “I had a little truble in giting away,” wrote a former slave named John Boston. “But as the lord led the Children of Isrel to the land of Canon So he led me to a land Whare freedom Will rain in spite Of earth and hell.”

			Others, mainly older boys and young men, slipped away alone or in pairs. Traveling by foot, hungry and hunted, they had reckoned by starlight and tree moss, drinking from creek beds, alert to every sound. Some journeyed for more than a hundred miles, crossing ridgelines and fording creeks and rivers, avoiding towns, and slipping across roads at night. They lived off birds’ eggs and dandelion greens, rabbit and wild hogs, and ears of green corn snatched from the edge of a farmer’s field. To throw bloodhounds off their scent, they’d wade through creeks and rivers, or rub wild onions on the soles of their feet. Cornelia Carney, once an enslaved woman in Williamsburg, Virginia, later recalled that many runaways were too smart to get caught. “White folks was sharp too,” she said, “but not sharp enough.”

			As the war dug deeper into Virginia, the Confederate government impressed more and more slaves into the fight, for building fortifications, hauling supplies, and cooking meals. But by being placed so close to the front, enslaved laborers were also presented with new opportunities for escape. When his Goochland County master joined Robert E. Lee’s army, an enslaved man named William was sent along as well. One day he and some others were forced to guard a group of Union prisoners. “They told us if we got a chance to steal away from camp and got over to the Yankees’ side we would be free,” William remembered. “These words got into our heads—we got together five of us, and decided to take the chance one night, and we made it.” They arrived in the District of Columbia the very next day.

			In the end, more than forty thousand runaways made it to Washington.

			The sleepy Southern city where coffles of slaves, chained together at the necks and wrists, were once paraded in front of the White House had, practically overnight, become a symbol of hope, promise, and freedom.
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			Once in Washington, however, came the very real problem of surviving.

			African American men and women hustled work wherever they could find it, bringing home precious pennies, half-dimes, and dimes for food and fuel, medicine and clothing. Housing was perhaps the biggest challenge. Thousands of refugees lived outside in more than one hundred back alleys, cooking their meals over open fires. Here, they could safely avoid the ten p.m. curfew that was enforced on the city streets. Many others were welcomed into the homes of the city’s preexisting Black population. And some were forced to find shelter wherever they could: in stables and haylofts, abandoned buildings and servants’ quarters, vacant lots and in private homes. “The city,” reported the New York World about Washington, “has literally a substratum of negroes living in cellars and basements, from Georgetown to the Navy Yard.”

			Belatedly, and half-heartedly, the federal government finally stepped in. At first, it housed the refugees at the Old Capitol Prison, then set up a dozen or more contraband camps throughout the city. Consisting of little more than tents and hastily constructed wooden barracks, the encampments were plagued by unsanitary conditions, tainted water supplies, filth, and disease. Louisa J. Roberts, an official with a Quaker relief organization, was shocked by the conditions that she found at the Mason’s Island refugee camp. “The sights that met our eyes were revolting,” she wrote. “The poor inmates are destitute of every comfort, ragged, filthy, and lying on the floor; few of them having even straw.” Abolitionist writer Harriet Jacobs, formerly enslaved herself, witnessed similar conditions among contrabands housed nearly in the shadow of the Capitol building in the fall of 1862. “I found men, women and children all huddled together, without any distinction or regard to age or sex,” Jacobs wrote in the Liberator. “Some of them were in the most pitiable condition. Many were sick with measles, diphtheria, scarlet and typhoid fever.”

			

			
				[image: ]
			

			For Elizabeth Keckly, such would not do.

			Dressmaker, confidante, and personal advisor to First Lady Mary Todd Lincoln, Keckly was a familiar figure around the Lincoln White House. Born into slavery in Virginia in 1818, her first master was her own father, a white plantation owner named Armistead Burwell. At age fourteen she was sent to live with Burwell family members in North Carolina, where she was raped by a local store owner. When Keckly was twenty-eight, she was forced to move again, this time to St. Louis. It was there that her remarkable skill as a seamstress blossomed. Hired out by her owners as a dressmaker, Keckly managed to make connections in high society in St. Louis and, eventually, was able to raise enough money to purchase her own freedom. In 1860 she moved to Washington, where, again through her contacts with well-to-do white women, she became the First Lady’s personal dressmaker.

			Southern born and bred, Mary Todd Lincoln carried more burdens than she is given credit for. The coming of the war had torn her own family apart. Half of her Kentucky siblings and half siblings and their spouses were ardent supporters of the Confederacy, including a full brother who immediately enlisted in the Confederate army, as did one of her half brothers, while the husband of a half sister became a Rebel general. By the summer of 1864, Mary Lincoln had already witnessed the deaths of two of her four sons—Edward, at age three, in 1850, and Willie, age eleven, in 1862.

			A product of the lately rough-and-tumble frontier—there were barely more than five thousand people in Lexington when she was born there in 1818—her clothing choices were often sneered at when she first arrived in Washington in 1861.

			As a result, Elizabeth Keckly was, for the First Lady, nothing short of a godsend. Not only did she help Mrs. Lincoln successfully navigate Eastern fashion, but Keckly was both a careful and attentive listener and the provider of sound advice. Small wonder that Mrs. Lincoln—who, for all of her perceived faults, was anything but a snob—came to rely on the words and wisdom of a former slave. When Willie Lincoln died, Keckly was there to help. “I assisted in washing and dressing him,” she wrote, “and then laid him in the bed.” And when a bereaved Mary Todd Lincoln took a trip to Boston and New York, she invited Keckly to join her, later writing to her husband that “had it not been for Lizzie Keckley, I do not know what I should have done.”

			Keckly, for her part, was determined to use her proximity to power to assist the contrabands. Not only did she establish the Contraband Relief Association and serve as its president, but she raised money from the Lincolns to help fund its efforts—and then used their contribution to solicit others. Led in part by Keckly, Washington’s African American community spearheaded efforts to assist the contrabands. Black churches raised funds, Black teachers taught basic literacy night classes, and at the camps themselves, members of Northern white aid societies rolled up their sleeves and got to work as well, teaching children, treating patients, and trying, though they may not have fully realized it yet, to build a new kind of country.
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			Of course, not everyone was inclined to go along.

			“The old citizens, especially those who have been slaveholders, are bitter and heartless toward all the colored race,” wrote journalist Lois Adams. “Not a penny or a rag will they give to save them from death.” One ex-slaveholder told her that “they ought to suffer; they hadn’t sense enough to know when they were well off, and now let them die. I wish every n—— in the United States could be starved to death, or frozen, either; I wouldn’t care if it was both.”

			Others acted. As wave after wave of contrabands flooded into Washington, random African Americans were attacked on the streets. White teamsters and ambulance drivers, fearful that they might lose their livelihoods to cheaper Black competition, began organizing raids on contraband camps. “At 12 o’clock about 20 teamsters congregated on Twenty-third street between L and M streets, and kindled a bon-fire,” wrote a correspondent to the Weekly Anglo-African. “This was understood to be the signal for a general assault on the contrabands. The mob at once began stoning the colored gentry, and committing other acts of violence.”

			Now that slavery had disappeared, for some white Washingtonians, keeping African Americans “in their place” became a top priority. “In no way perhaps did they better manifest the true spirit of their principles than in their insolent behavior towards the colored population,” Lois Adams wrote on July 15, 1864. “Even little misses spread themselves across the pavement when one of that luckless race was seen coming, and signified that ‘n—— might take their place in the gutter again.’ ”

			Only you can’t sweep back a tide.
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			On July 4, 1863, the first Independence Day since the abolition of slavery in the District of Columbia, nearly two thousand African American children, many of them formerly enslaved themselves, joined a parade and marched down Pennsylvania Avenue carrying banners and American flags. “It was a magnificent sight to see,” wrote one observer, adding, “The pro-slavery citizens could hardly believe their own eyes.” Some white boys began muttering insults, but that was all that they could do. History had happened. And they couldn’t change that.

			One year later, on a pleasantly warm and bright Monday, the capital’s Black schoolchildren gathered for a Fourth of July picnic on the grounds between the White House and Seventeenth Street. No incidents were reported. “The day ended peacefully as it had begun,” Lois Adams recorded, “and now while I write, the Fourth of 1864 is being lighted to its midnight burial by streaming sky-rockets and parti-colored Roman candles, which are everywhere flashing across the blue, still, cloudless heaven.”

			The serenity did not last.

			Two days later, bargemen on the Chesapeake and Ohio Canal began turning up in Georgetown.

			A Reb army, they said, was less than twenty miles away.

			The city was about to be attacked.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Eight-

			Monocacy

			Lew Wallace didn’t like what he was hearing. Not one bit.

			A prickly Indiana lawyer—and future best-selling novelist—Wallace had become the youngest major general in the Union army. But along the way, he had managed to irritate practically every officer his senior, and after some missteps during the Battle of Shiloh, he was reassigned as the commander of the Eighth Army Corps, Middle Department. Based in Baltimore and intentionally placed well away from the action in Virginia, Wallace was ordered to keep an eye on the large, pro-Southern contingent in the city, arresting those who were judged to be dangerously disloyal. But during the first week of July 1864, he was suddenly swept up into a much larger drama.

			The first news had come on July 2 when the president of the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad visited Wallace at his Baltimore headquarters. Some of his station agents west of Harpers Ferry, he said, had reported the appearance of Rebel cavalry, likely having come from the Shenandoah Valley. One day later Wallace learned that the Union army that was supposed to be defending the Valley was actually in West Virginia. Then, on July 4, a telegram from the Union commander in Martinsburg confirmed the rumors. “I have reports of an advance of the enemy in force down the Shenandoah Valley,” it read. More telegrams quickly followed later that day. But no one had any clear idea of how big the Rebel force was or who was in command. It was like chasing shadows.

			Then the telegraph lines to the west of Frederick went dead.

			Wallace wasted no time. Placing Baltimore under the direct command of the officer in charge at Fort McHenry, he then ordered his subordinates to contact the leaders of the Union League in the city, provide them with arms, and organize them into companies. It was possible that Southern sympathizers were planning to revolt. Then, a little after midnight on July 5, Lew Wallace and one other officer walked calmly into the Camden Street Station and boarded a special train headed west, toward a little-used stop called Monocacy Junction.

			They arrived in time to witness a beautiful dawn.

			“I remember the scene yet as one of the most exquisite I had ever seen,” Wallace later wrote, remembering golden fields of wheat ready for harvest, “great, brown painted barns,” meadows and a nearby cornfield, “luxuriantly green with its summer growth.” To the west was “a valley level as a western prairie,” while before him flowed a gentle stream known as the Monocacy River. The bucolic terrain fixed in his mind, Wallace then hired a handful of local citizens to ride to the west, each of them alone, on the pretext of doing some sort of business, to see what they might discover about the whereabouts of the Rebel army. By nightfall, he had some answers.

			“They all told me the same story,” Wallace recalled. “To the effect that, going by this road or the other on the mountain they had been halted by horsemen in squads, and turned back.” Immediately, Wallace knew what it all meant. The armed horsemen were Confederate cavalry, screening an army that was following in their wake.

			“The army was coming my way, east,” he added.

			The Rebs likely weren’t headed to Baltimore after all, he concluded. Instead, they were headed for Washington. “There was not a moment to be lost.”

			It wasn’t difficult to see why.

			While Washington was ringed with an impressive series of fortifications—including some fifty-three individual forts, twenty-two batteries, and more than seven hundred cannons and mortars—most of which had been built early in the war, those same battlements were now seriously undermanned and grossly neglected. Water had gathered in trenches, earthworks were eroding, and saplings now blocked sight lines. The soldiers charged with guarding the Chain Bridge, which spanned the Potomac at the westernmost edge of the District of Columbia and was one of the most important links between Washington and Virginia, had no idea on how to load, aim, or fire their field guns. Moreover, most of the fortifications defending the city had been stripped of as much as three-quarters of their garrisons.

			The capital was ripe for the taking.

			And by July 8, a Rebel army was less than forty miles away.

			

			
				[image: ]
			

			Lew Wallace didn’t have much to work with.

			Most of the troops available to him were “hundred day men,” young men, largely from Ohio, who had signed up for a bonus in exchange for a little more than three months in the service of their nation. Their training had been slight and most were, like a similar regiment from Maryland, “green to a lamentable degree.” How these unseasoned soldiers would react under fire was anyone’s guess. But, for now, they followed orders and braced themselves for whatever was to come next.

			In Washington, it was now abundantly clear that a Confederate army had again invaded the loyal states of the North. But how large of an army was anyone’s guess, with some estimates trending upward of thirty thousand troops. Who was leading this phantom force was also unclear. Some said it was Lee himself. And even more unsettling was the fact that nobody seemed to know where the Rebels were. A reporter for the New York World found out the hard way when, due to the speed at which the Confederates were moving, he found himself trapped behind enemy lines in Frederick, Maryland.

			But it would be the troops in Lew Wallace’s hastily organized command, bolstered by the timely arrival of a few veteran units, that would be the first to learn just how big a threat the invaders posed. Arrayed behind split rail fences that ran roughly parallel to the slow-moving Monocacy River, on Saturday, July 9, 1864, they had watched as clouds of dust, rising hundreds of feet into the air to the west, came closer and closer. By midafternoon, sweating through their woolen uniforms, they heard stray rifle and cannon fire and saw a column of black smoke shoot skyward from where a covered bridge had once stood. Then, at half past three, the first wave of Confederates burst through the thick brush and trees along the banks of the river, yelling as they came, only to be met with a fierce Union volley.

			On and on they fought, back and forth between fences and shocks of freshly harvested wheat, the young and middle-aged, veterans and greenhorns. The 61st Georgia started the day with one hundred and fifty men and ended it with fifty-two. The 114th New Jersey lost twelve of their fifteen officers and three-fifths of their enlisted men. Five color-bearers for one Georgia brigade were shot down in succession. The hundred-day men, the lads from Ohio, had by and large stood their ground. But in the end there were just too many Rebel soldiers, and once the Union line had been flanked, Lew Wallace had to withdraw back toward Baltimore. The road to Washington now lay open. But for the people in the nation’s capital, Wallace had bought some time, some precious time—something that there was very little of.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Nine-

			Early

			In Washington, the news had finally sunk in.

			Wagonloads of panicked families from Silver Spring and Rockville, their possessions precariously balanced against the box boards, began pouring into the capital, clogging the roads into the city. “We could see from Washington clouds of dust in several quarters around the city,” Charles Dana wrote, “which we believed to be raised by bodies of hostile cavalry.” Rumors flew right and left. And nobody had any idea how large the Rebel army was. Then the telegraph lines were cut. So, too, were the railway lines leading north out of Washington. “I write to you today from the center of a besieged city,” wrote Lois Adams. “No mail, no telegraphic messages, and no railway travel.” Even the markets were empty.

			The War Department had at last been stirred to action. Late on Saturday evening, July 9, General Halleck wired Grant to ask for more troops to be sent from Petersburg to defend the capital. Grant had already dispatched them, but they wouldn’t arrive before Monday. In the meantime, the military authorities began scrounging up every single soldier that they could find to help defend the city. Army clerks and messengers were given a couple of hours of training and handed rifles, some for the first time in their lives. Ambulatory wounded soldiers from the hospitals, contrabands, and aged veterans in rest homes were pressed into service. The assistant secretary of the navy, meanwhile, ordered that a small and agile navy ship be kept at the ready in the Potomac “for the President’s escape in case the rebel column should succeed in piercing the line of fortifications.” Dangerously underdefended, the city’s best hope lay in the reinforcements from Virginia arriving in time.

			Then came another piece of news.

			Rebel pickets had been spotted in Georgetown.
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			Standing on a rise just off Seventh Street Road, Jubal Early raised the spyglass to his good eye and scanned the horizon, left to right, from the southeast to due south. Then, suddenly, there it was: the nearly completed marble dome of the U.S. Capitol, rising above the sea of bright green treetops and shimmering in the July heat. The forty-eight-year-old Confederate general and his troops had done it. They had marched more than two hundred and sixty miles in less than nineteen days, shouldering rifles and muskets and carrying knapsacks, in ninety-degree heat. They had overwhelmed determined Union troops on the banks of the Monocacy and were ready for whoever was next. Already within the District of Columbia, Confederate soldiers were now less than five miles from the White House. A rider could cover the distance in well under a half hour.

			Forty-nine years earlier, during the War of 1812, British soldiers had captured Washington and burned the Capitol and the White House. Now it was Early’s turn. He was on the verge of becoming one of the most famous generals in history.
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			The third of ten children born to a prosperous, slaveholding farm family in southwestern Virginia, Jubal Anderson Early had entered the U.S. Military Academy at age seventeen. “There was nothing worthy of particular note in my career at West Point,” he later wrote. “I was never a very good student.” Nor did he cotton playing up to his superiors. “I had very little taste for scrubbing brass, and cared very little for the advancement to be obtained by the exercise of that most useful art.” He left the army a year after graduation and became a lawyer back home. Called up briefly during the Mexican War, he returned to Virginia, ran for office three times, and lost twice. “I was never blessed with popular or captivating manners,” he later recalled, “and the consequence was that I was often misjudged and thought to be haughty and disdainful.” Stricken with rheumatism, by the time he turned forty he walked with a stoop, while his beard was already flecked with white. Stoic on the outside, he could also be thin-skinned and was the bane of tailors, describing himself as “one of the most particular men about the cut and fit of my clothes.”

			He was also a fighter. Once a Unionist, when the war started Early nonetheless wholeheartedly threw his lot in with the Confederacy and rose quickly within the ranks of the Confederate army, leading troops at Sharpsburg, Fredericksburg, and Chancellorsville. Praised by a former soldier for his “quick divination of the enemy’s plans, prompt and unhesitating decision, indefatigable energy and industry,” it was said that “his hand never quivered, his face never changed when he launched the thunderbolts of war or received its rude shocks.”

			And now, standing within the very limits of the District of Columbia, on that warm and dusty Monday afternoon of July 11, 1864, Jubal Early had a chance to write his name into the history books forever. If all went well, his cavalry could set fire to both the Capitol and the White House before sundown, sending orange flames and black smoke soaring into the July sky. With some luck, his hardened and resourceful infantrymen might even capture key government officials. In one decisive swoop, he might deliver a knockout blow to the Union war effort and force Lincoln and his cronies to the bargaining table. His troops were ready to push on. On that sultry afternoon, the hopes and dreams of the Confederacy were alive. No one would ever forget Jubal Early now.

			Only, uncharacteristically, he blinked.

			Perhaps it was the rumors that the Union reinforcements from Petersburg had already arrived and that the clerks and cooks manning the fortifications ringing the city had been replaced by tough, seasoned troops. There was talk later on that Early’s troops desperately needed a rest, that they had come too far, too fast. Except more than a few of his officers didn’t see it that way. “I know one thing,” Brigadier General Thomas F. Toon later wrote, “I could have easily taken everything in my front if I had been allowed to continue my advance. Major DeVane, a gallant spirit, urged me to disregard the order to fall back and rush forward, whatever the consequences might be. I hated to withdraw, but always tried to obey orders.” Whatever the reason, no order to continue to advance was issued on July 11. That night, with their campfires clearly visible to the Union troops, Early’s army bedded down within sight of the U.S. Capitol.

			The next day, Early ordered some probing attacks in front of Fort Stevens, off Seventh Street Road, but soon called them off in the face of the arrival of Union reinforcements, dispatched to Washington by General Grant. The moment for an assault on Washington had passed. Two days later, the Rebel army recrossed the Potomac and disappeared into Virginia, tramping into an uncertain future. “Marched all night, marching is very disagreeable and unpleasant,” wrote William Beavans, a North Carolina infantryman. “Got nothing to eat along the march except Dew Berries.” The audacious plan to capture Washington—and possibly end the war—disappeared as quickly as it had begun.

			Back in Washington, the danger had passed. Uniformed clerks and office boys returned to their desks, aged Mexican War veterans and convalescing soldiers turned in their recently issued rifles, and politicians and everyday citizens boasted that they had never been frightened in the first place. Business at the theaters and restaurants picked back up again. The capital was safe. A few days later, journalist Lois Adams took note of the weather. “July is waning. Midsummer is past its prime,” she wrote. “The morning splendors of this semi-tropical climate have lost their freshness.” Instead of rain, there was only a dry wind blowing bits of trash along the city streets and withered blossoms off the trees.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Ten-

			Darkness

			Mid-August, 1864.

			It had rained on and off all week.

			Slate-grey clouds kept rolling in from the northwest, lightning exploded in the hills, and huge peals of thunder rumbled across the great Mall. The sky turned so dark that candle lanterns were lit inside the Smithsonian and in the committee chambers in the Capitol, while out on Chesapeake Bay, fishing scows and barks stayed tied up along the shore, bobbing in the waves. The dark, drab weather was fitting, for it had already been a lousy month.

			Back on July 12, the President had nearly been shot when he insisted on paying a visit to Fort Stevens in order to get a firsthand look at Jubal Early’s Confederate troops. Standing atop a parapet, wearing his distinctive stovepipe hat, he made an appealing target to Rebel sharpshooters. Seemingly oblivious to the danger all about him, Lincoln did not seek cover until Cornelius V. A. Crawford, a twenty-two-year-old assistant Union army surgeon standing three feet away, was hit in the leg. Six days later, on July 18, the President issued a call for five hundred thousand more troops. And on July 30 a bungled attempt to blow up a portion of the Confederate line outside of Petersburg, later known as the Battle of the Crater, backfired, killing more than five hundred Union soldiers and leaving another thirteen hundred wounded, missing, or captured.
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			Now, on Friday, August 12, 1864, more bad news was on its way in the form of a sleek carriage that pulled up beneath the portico at the front entrance to the White House. Its passenger was a tall, elegantly dressed gentleman wearing a gold watch fob. His name was Thurlow Weed. On the near side of seventy, with piercing eyes and a shock of thick, white hair, Weed was a New York newspaper editor who had become a political kingmaker, a behind-the-scenes string puller whose stock-in-trade was amassing delegates, pledges of support, and campaign contributions. When William H. Seward had been elected governor of New York for the second time back in 1838 and was busy issuing proclamations, Weed concentrated on more pedestrian forms of persuasion, making certain that the governor’s residence was fully stocked with wine. While some candidates focused on ideals, platforms, and position papers, Weed was all about winning. He was one of, if not the most powerful man in the Republican Party.

			Weed was also a canny judge of politicians. When Lincoln was the surprise winner of the Republican presidential nomination at the party’s convention in Chicago in 1860, most East Coast newspapers dismissed the relatively little-known former congressman from Illinois as a hayseed and a redneck, an illiterate rabble-rouser who could barely string three coherent thoughts together. Weed, on the other hand, traveled to Springfield to see for himself, and he liked what he saw. Lincoln was no ten-penny firebrand whom fate had mistakenly placed at the top of the Republican ticket, Weed concluded, but a political mastermind who knew exactly where he was going and how he could get there. From that meeting on, Lincoln frequently turned to Weed for advice.

			Only this time the counsel was far from welcome.

			In no uncertain terms, Thurlow Weed told the President that his reelection was “an impossibility.” Not only were other candidates already lining up to replace him on the Republican ticket, but the peace movement was gaining traction across the North. The public was sick of the dying. As much as Weed respected the President, it was time for Lincoln to go and give someone else a chance at ending this terrible war.

			Nor was Weed alone in his sentiments. “We must have another ticket,” declared Horace Greeley, “to save us from utter overthrow.” Even Leonard Swett, a trusted advisor who had worked with Lincoln since the 1850s, had reached the same conclusion. “Swett goes to Washington tomorrow night,” wrote an aide to General Benjamin Butler from the Metropolitan Hotel in New York City on August 17, “to tell Lincoln that it is the judgement of all the best politicians in this city and elsewhere, that he can’t carry three states, and ask him to be prepared to draw off.”
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			It had all been too much.

			The giddy hopes of April that the war was just about to end had instead turned into the horrors of the Wilderness and Spotsylvania, while the summer had brought one tragedy after another, from the terrible deaths at the Washington Arsenal to the slaughter at the Crater. There had been too much dying, too many wounded, too many men gone missing or rotting in Confederate prison camps. “We are beset by dangers,” Weed had written earlier that year. “Regiments are returning home, worn, weary, maimed and depleted. Our cities and villages swarm with skulking, demoralized soldiers.” Not only had the financial costs of the war been astronomical, but there didn’t seem to be an end in sight. And Jubal Early’s invasion of the District of Columbia, however brief, showed that the Confederate military was still a force to be reckoned with.

			“In the memory of men who lived in Washington during the months of July and August, 1864, those days will appear to be the darkest of the many dark days through which passed the friends and lovers of the Federal Union,” Noah Brooks later recalled. “The earlier years of the war, it is true, had been full of grief, despondency, and even agony; but the darkness that settled upon us in the summer of 1864 was the more difficult to be endured because of its unexpectedness.”

			The people of the loyal states, it seemed, had reached their breaking point. It was time to end the bloodshed. It was time to let the South go.

			Lincoln, it appeared, was finished.

			And, as it turned out, if not in one way, then in another.
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			John Wesley Nichols was a twenty-four-year-old Pennsylvanian who had enlisted in the Union army two days after Robert E. Lee vanquished Union troops at the Battle of Second Bull Run in late August 1862. Assigned to Company K of the 150th Pennsylvania Volunteers, his job was to serve as a member of President Lincoln’s permanent bodyguard. Stationed on the White House grounds, Private Nichols saw the President and his family every day for nearly three years. Tad, in particular, was a favorite. “Tad Lincoln was at our quarters most of the time,” Nichols later recalled. “And for this reason, I think Mr. Lincoln always had a very kindly feeling for Company K.”

			During the summer months, when Washington became draped in stifling heat and miasmic humidity, the Lincolns preferred spending most of their time at the Soldiers’ Home, near the northernmost point of the District, not far from Fort Stevens. Perched on a hill that caught the breezes that never made it to the Mall and surrounded by massive oaks and elms, the grand caretaker’s home was where the President, the First Lady, and Tad retreated as much as they could during the hot weather. And when they were there, so, too, were members of Company K of the 150th Pennsylvania.

			Late one evening in August 1864, Private Nichols was on sentinel duty at the front gate of the Soldiers’ Home, waiting for the President to arrive. Despite his rather ungainly height, Lincoln was an able horseman who liked to ride from the War Department back to the Soldiers’ Home, oftentimes all alone. “About eleven o’clock I heard a rifle shot in the direction of the city,” Nichols later remembered, “and shortly afterward I heard approaching hoof-beats.” Moments later, the President came tearing inside the gate, hatless. Nichols dashed out and grabbed the reins of Lincoln’s horse and, with some coaxing, “led the animal to the Executive Cottage, and the President dismounted and entered.”

			Nichols added, “Thinking the affair rather strange, a corporal and myself started in the direction of the place where the sound of the rifle report had proceeded, to investigate.” Near where the front drive intersected with the main road, they found the President’s hat. It had a bullet hole in it. “The shot had been fired upward, and it was evident that the person who fired the shot had secreted himself close to the roadside.” Lincoln had been inches away from being assassinated. But when Nichols and the corporal brought the matter—and the hat itself—to Lincoln’s attention the next morning, the President downplayed the entire episode. “He said, however, that he wanted the matter kept quiet, and admonished us to say nothing about it.” They did as they were told, but it hadn’t altered their thinking. “We all felt confident that it was an attempt to kill him, and a well-nigh successful one, too.” Lincoln, for his part, knew that to be true as well, and that he’d almost been killed, as he later told his personal bodyguard Ward Hill Lamon, by “a disloyal bushwhacker.”

			Whoever had made the attempt, meanwhile, had evaporated into the night.
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			Something had to give.

			“At no time had Mr. Lincoln been more depressed,” wrote Gideon Welles, the secretary of the navy. The false promise of the end of the war, the horrific casualties, his strengthening enemies in the Republican Party, and now his dimming hopes for reelection had been an incredible burden to bear.

			On August 23, 1864, a muggy Tuesday after six straight days of rain, Abraham Lincoln took a pen and wrote two sentences on a blank sheet of paper, which he then folded in such a way that the contents of what he had written would remain hidden. At the cabinet meeting later that day, he produced the folded document and instructed those present to sign it—despite not knowing what it said. No doubt both surprised and dumbfounded, and uncertain of what, exactly, they were endorsing, one by one the seven members of the President’s cabinet nevertheless signed their names. First came Seward and treasury secretary William P. Fessenden, followed by Stanton and Welles, each scratching their signatures onto the mysterious document. Last came Attorney General Edward Bates, Postmaster General Montgomery Blair, and John P. Usher, secretary of the interior.

			Sometime later, the contents of the document, later dubbed the “blind memorandum,” were revealed. This is what it said:

			
				Executive Mansion

				Washington, August 23, 1864

				This morning, as for some days past, it seems exceedingly probable that this Administration will not be re-elected. Then it will be my duty to so co-operate with the President elect, as to save the Union between the election and the inauguration; as he will have secured his election on such ground that he can not possibly save it afterwards.

				A. Lincoln

			

			He had lost.

			The next evening, the President was at his summer residence at the Soldiers’ Home when his presence was requested at the tower. There, joined by high-ranking officers from the army and the navy, Lincoln watched with interest as two signal corpsmen manipulated a device using calcium light to send coded messages at night to two men stationed on the roof of the Smithsonian. “Mr. Lincoln was greatly interested in this exhibition,” one of the signalmen recalled, “and expressed the opinion that the signal system of both the army and the navy could and would be improved so as to become of immense value to the government.”

			Later, the President checked in on Tad. Then he went to bed with the windows in the cottage open, listening to the wind in the trees.

		

	
		
			First Intermission
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			Richmond, Midsummer
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			They had been fighting for three years.

			Not all of them, of course. For throughout the Confederacy, there were Union men and women whose voices, though silenced, remained steadfast. In the mountains of North Carolina and in parts of northern Alabama hill country where slavery was practically unknown, Confederate army recruiters had been shot at by the locals. When the state of Mississippi seceded from the Union, Jones County seceded from the state of Mississippi. And across the South, from the sun-washed shores of Florida and the sea islands of Georgia and the Carolinas to the westernmost cotton patches of Arkansas and Texas, millions of Black voices were united in their conviction that the hated empire of slavery must fall.

			But for the true believers, for those white Southerners who felt, deep in their hearts, that they were the true descendants of the founders and the keepers of the old America, there would be no turning back. Sneered at by greedy Northern businessmen, chastised by holier-than-thou Yankee clerics, and unnerved by the immigrant hordes flooding into Boston, New York, and Philadelphia, they had taken it as long as they could. But they could also read the writing on the wall, and when Abraham Lincoln, the antislavery Republican candidate, won the presidential election of 1860 without one single vote in ten Southern states, it was time to leave. Denouncing an “increasing hostility on the part of the non-slaveholding States to the institution of slavery,” South Carolina was the first to go, declaring itself “a separate and independent state” five days before Christmas in 1860.

			Four and a half months later, Americans were at war with each other.

			And they had suffered grievously for it.

			By the midsummer of 1864, more than two hundred thousand Confederate soldiers had died in battle or from their wounds or disease, while in practically every Southern town one could see one-armed and one-legged men, oftentimes still wearing tattered grey tunics, struggling to make a living. Thousands of families had bidden farewell to their loved ones, pressing letters and tintypes and lockets holding locks of hair into their hands, only to never see them again. In areas where the fighting had taken place, such as Fredericksburg, Virginia, houses and businesses had been shattered by shot and shell or burned to the ground. In the Shenandoah Valley, Union soldiers had stolen hams and slaughtered livestock and torched the home of former governor John Letcher.

			Privation was everywhere. Northern and European manufactured goods had disappeared from the shelves, while speculators and black marketeers jacked up the prices of foodstuffs and medicines to previously unheard-of levels. Food riots had broken out in North Carolina and Alabama. In fashionable Richmond, women and men were wearing three-year-old shoes, dresses, and suits, while thefts from backyard gardens, smokehouses, and henhouses had become increasingly common. Women and children were especially vulnerable. Some women, in order to feed themselves and their families, fell into prostitution. Others, like Bettie Myrtle, who had come to the Confederate capital to work and take care of her family but had fallen ill, faced almost impossible situations. “All I ask is bread,” she wrote to President Jefferson Davis in September 1864. “I am too weak to walk out... We have nothing to eat.”

			And yet, the center held.

			For despite the rising hunger, the scarcity of goods, and the horrible losses on the battlefield, by late summer 1864, the will of the Confederacy had not been broken. The spirit to fight on remained strong.

			“I wrote a letter to the President to-day,” a senior clerk in the Confederate War Department recorded in his diary on August 24, 1864. A former newspaper owner and editor, fifty-four-year-old John Beauchamp Jones was hardly a run-of-the-mill government employee. The author of more than a dozen novels, who had once been offered a diplomatic position in Italy by President John Tyler, the Maryland-born Jones had been on speaking terms with the likes of Edgar Allan Poe, former vice president John C. Calhoun, and the painter George Caleb Bingham. While he had lived much of his life north of the Mason-Dixon Line, Jones was an ardent Southern advocate, and when the war broke out, he fled to Richmond, where he soon found work with the Confederate government.

			And while he was still a devotee of the Rebel cause, by the dog days of August he also saw dangerous cracks within. “The poor must be fed and protected, if they be relied on to defend the country. The rich bribe the conscription officers, and keep out of the ranks, invest their Confederate money and bonds in real estate, and would be the first to submit to the United States Government; and the poor, whom they oppress, are in danger of demoralization from suffering and disgust, and might also embrace reunion rather than a prolongation of such miseries as they have so long experienced. The patriotism of 1861 must be revived, or independence cannot be achieved,” Jones wrote. “We must deserve independence, else we shall not get it.”

			Only there were much bigger problems facing the Confederacy.

			And few knew that better than the Rebel president himself.

			

			—

			Small talk had never been his strong suit.

			Now in his early fifties, Jefferson Finis Davis had already lived a life far beyond the wildest imaginings of his youth in rural Kentucky, Louisiana, and Mississippi. He had been a U.S. congressman, a senator, and, under President Franklin Pierce, the secretary of war. A graduate of West Point, he had, during the Mexican War, led a successful assault on the city of Buena Vista, winning the battle and military renown. A successful cotton planter, he had at one time owned more than one hundred slaves. His first wife had been the daughter of future president Zachary Taylor. After she died, he married Varina Howell, a determined, outgoing, and socially sophisticated young woman some eighteen years his junior, who helped elevate Davis’s profile in Washington. Initially opposed to disunion, once he had committed to secession, Davis never wavered. Now, in 1864, as the first president of the Confederate States of America, it was his unrelenting duty to win the war and secure Confederate independence. And every Tuesday evening, from eight until ten o’clock, that meant hosting a reception for Confederate officials, businessmen, generals, and other powerful individuals and their spouses at what would later be known as the White House of the Confederacy.

			Viewed from the street, the plain, three-story neoclassical mansion at Twelfth and Clay Streets in Richmond, while quite large, showed little of its internal character. A wrought iron fence surrounded the property, while a wooden sentry box placed near the front entrance served as a reminder that a war was going on. In the rear of the house, extensive terraced gardens, planted with cherry, apple, and pear trees, extended all the way down the length of Shockoe Hill to the railroad shanties and rough streets of the flats below. But it was inside the home, past the sentries and leading up to the entryway framed by windows blazing with light on Tuesday evenings, that the house revealed itself.

			Once past the front door, guests were greeted by two nearly life-sized statues, each bearing a gas lamp. More opulence beckoned within, including hand-carved mantels of Carrara marble, massive gilt mirrors, brocatelle drapery, flocked wallpaper, richly upholstered furniture, and up-to-date gaslit chandeliers. “The ceilings are high, the windows wide, and the well-staircases turn in easy curves toward the airy rooms above,” wrote Varina. Floors were covered with fine Brussels carpeting as well, though some of it was temporarily covered, when there was to be dancing, by wooden planks. At one dance in 1863, a local artist had chalked a drawing of an American flag onto the wood flooring, so the dancers could show their hatred for the Stars and Stripes by rubbing it away with the soles of their shoes. In the dining room on reception nights, the table and rosewood sideboard would be laden with refreshments, red-flashed glassware, and imported Sèvres porcelain. In a city of tightened beltlines, shabby clothing, and great plumes of black smoke billowing out of the Tredegar Iron Works, the house at Twelfth and Clay was an island of elegance.

			But beneath the surface, trouble was simmering.

			The charm that Varina Davis had used so well in Washington had largely fallen flat in provincial Richmond, where local matrons deemed her to be haughty and insufficiently devoted to the cause of the Confederacy. Meanwhile, Jefferson Davis, who was cool and remote to begin with, had done little to personally endear himself to either members of the Confederate Congress or the employees of his own government. The Rebel president loathed the weekly receptions and appeared at them, according to one attendee, “as if he bore the sorrows of the world.” As soon as the last guest departed, Davis would invariably retreat upstairs to his office, where he would regularly work until at least one o’clock. By seven the next morning, he would be back on the job.

			There were other strains as well.

			The Confederate president suffered from neuralgia and malaria and was blind in his left eye. “Always of a violent and fretful temper,” it was later reported to the New York Times, “flinging about the chairs and furniture when so disturbed. About four weeks ago a pistol exploded in his room when he was loading it, and the whole family rushed up, feeling confident that... he had committed suicide.” They could not have been more wrong. For despite all of the pressure upon him, Jefferson Davis was wholly and passionately committed to the survival of the Confederacy. He had no intention of giving up the fight.

			The problem was what to do now.

			Following Jubal Early’s failure to capture Washington, and with the onset of the Union siege at Petersburg, the Confederate military had lost one of its most precious assets—namely, the ability to quickly put troops into the field, where they could outmaneuver and defeat even larger Union armies as they had done in the past. The soldiers in Robert E. Lee’s vaunted Army of Northern Virginia were now largely stuck in place, assigned to the greater defense of Richmond. Initiative had passed to the enemy.

			Even more damning, despite the unprecedented losses that their troops had suffered in the Wilderness and Spotsylvania, it was clear that Lincoln and Grant were prepared to lose even more. But while the Union could replace their lost troops, the Confederacy could not. In a war of attrition, which they were now fighting, the Confederates were bound to lose. By the summer of 1864, Jefferson Davis knew full well that the time to win the independence of the Confederate States of America on the battlefield had passed. He also knew that desperate times called for desperate measures. For the Confederacy to survive, they would have to look elsewhere.

			It wasn’t time to quit fighting.

			Rather, it was time to try a new kind of warfare.

		

	
		
			Act Two
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			-Chapter Eleven-

			North

			Perched at the mouth of Sandusky Bay, the island was roughly a mile long and half as wide. Thick stands of hickory, maple, and oak were everywhere, while a limestone hogback ridge rose up near the center. Pleasant during the summer, with abundant sunshine and gentle breezes, the island turned into a hellish, frozen landscape during the winter, with bitter winds knifing in off Lake Erie and temperatures dropping well below zero. And few knew that better than the nearly three thousand Confederate army officers confined to the thirteen wooden blockhouses that formed the heart of Johnson’s Island prison camp.

			It was, to be certain, far from the worst prisoner of war camp in either the loyal or Rebel states. The imprisoned Confederates on the island could, for most of their captivity, receive packages from home or purchase additional food from a string of sutlers who made daily visits to the camp. There was a hospital and both Union and Confederate doctors available. But the camp was still a prison. Twelve-foot wooden walls surrounded the camp, manned by sentries in guardhouses. A line of wooden stakes, set back some twenty feet from the walls, marked the “dead line,” past which any prisoner found would be shot on sight. Sleeping quarters were tight, two men to a bunk covered with a straw mattress, while meals, duties, and free time were strictly regulated. For the most part, the days dripped by slowly, one after the other.

			“The only antidote to the terrible ennui of prison life,” wrote H. Carpenter of the 9th Louisiana Battalion, “was occupation.” The men, nearly all of whom were officers, played baseball in the summer and had snowball fights in the winter. They wrote letters, perused Northern newspapers for news of the war, and read from a library of more than five hundred books. “Work benches in every available spot,” Carpenter added; “rings were made of gutta percha buttons; rulers and oyster shells were transformed into charms, rings, and breastpins.” One prisoner made a violin out of scrap lumber. A far less popular diversion was planning an escape. Tunneling was impossible, as digging even two or three feet down one hit bedrock. And the island itself was, of course, surrounded by water. “Nature,” wrote a North Carolinian who had been captured at Gettysburg, “had made an ideal prison.”

			Robert Cobb Kennedy didn’t care.

			With a broad forehead, dark piercing eyes, and a thick, brushy beard, Kennedy looked more like he belonged in a Russian novel than in the uniform of a captain in the Confederate army. Raised in an atmosphere of homespun gentility in the red clay hills of northeastern Louisiana, Kennedy began his childhood in a dogtrot log cabin furnished with imported gilt French mirrors. His parents had pulled strings to get him admitted into West Point in 1854, only to see him get booted out for insubordination and poor grades two years later. Back home, Kennedy worked as overseer to the twenty slaves on the Kennedy cotton plantation. Unmarried and unmoored, he started fighting with his father and gained a reputation as both a drinker and the black sheep of the family.

			The war saved him. Enlisting in the 1st Louisiana Regulars, he first served in Florida, where he helped to man coastal batteries outside of Pensacola, gaining confidence and promotions. But in the spring of 1862, the 1st Louisiana was decimated at the Battle of Shiloh, losing more than two hundred men. Kennedy caught a round in the thigh, leaving him with a permanent limp. A year and a half later, he was captured by Union troops while delivering a dispatch outside of Dalton, Georgia. Now a captain, he was sent to the prisoner of war camp at Johnson’s Island, from which it had long been thought impossible to escape.

			Kennedy had other ideas.

			Determined to get back into the fight, for weeks he carefully ferreted away bits of scrap lumber, fashioning them into a crude ladder. Then, on the night of October 4, 1864, during a week of rainy, windy weather—“the dark, damp, gloomy days of Autumn,” declared one Ohio newspaper—when the sentinels would be hovering inside the blockhouses, Kennedy and another officer slipped past the dead line and propped the ladder against the wall. Kennedy climbed up and over and dropped to the other side while his compatriot snuck himself, and the ladder, back to the blockhouse. Kennedy carefully made his way past the outer sentry boxes toward the woods without being seen. His luck was holding.

			Then it got even better.

			Spying a small skiff along the shore, and whipped by the wind and the rain, he pulled the boat into the dark waters of Sandusky Bay and climbed aboard. Setting the oars into the tholepins, he began to row.
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			Six hundred miles to the south, two men crossed quietly into Tennessee on foot. Their names were John Headley and Robert Martin. Between them they had more than fifteen hundred greenback dollars, some of which they would use to buy a horse, a mule, and some ill-fitting civilian clothes from a local farmer. They kept heading north. The September days were bright and warm, and the nights were only starting to get cool. As they pushed ahead, there were fewer and fewer cotton fields and more and more plots of tobacco and corn. The goldenrod would soon be in blossom, while the pawpaws and crab apples were heavy and ripe. They’d been told that the Union garrisons at Jackson and Trenton were no longer operational, but the closer they got to Kentucky, the more careful they would need to be. For the two men were Confederate secret agents, and they had a job to do.

			They got help along the way.

			Two miles below Hickman, Kentucky, one man guided them across the Mississippi. “The distance was two miles to the point where we landed on the Missouri side,” Headley remembered. “The horse and mule panted like lizards when they came out of the water.” Truth was, the middle of the country was lousy with Copperheads—men and women who supported the Rebellion—and Headley and Martin were passed from one Rebel sympathizer to another. Just north of Cairo, Illinois, another man, an ex–Confederate officer who ran a lumberyard, helped them book passage on a steamer running north. “We observed that it was loaded with [Union] infantry, even all over the roof,” Headley wrote. The two Rebel agents did not flinch but struck up a conversation and bought drinks for a Union sergeant and two of his men, and then played them in euchre, gathering whatever scraps of military information that they could. “After dinner Martin and another soldier proposed to play us for five cents a corner,” Headley recounted. “We carried on this game until the next afternoon, when we reached St. Louis.”

			Though it was located more than eight hundred miles west of Richmond, and nearly seven hundred from New Orleans, St. Louis was more than a little Southern in its ways. Missouri was a slave state, where Bernard Lynch, a prominent local landowner, operated a large and profitable slave market right downtown. Pro-slavery forces plotted to seize the city’s arsenal after the Rebel assault on Fort Sumter. And when the pro-Union 5th Missouri Volunteers were mustered into service in St. Louis in 1861, they were attacked on the streets by Confederate sympathizers. The city’s upper crust was especially pro-Southern. Not only did they fear the end of slavery, but they despised the city’s new German immigrants, who were roundly abolitionist in their views. “The dutch and the darkies are the only free people here now,” complained Anne Ewing Lane, daughter of a former mayor. Beneath the surface, as Headley and Martin soon discovered, there were plenty of people in St. Louis who were keen to help the cause of the Confederacy, including one unnamed ally.

			“Our friend found a retail merchant who kept clothing and furnished goods,” Headley wrote. “He slipped us in at his back door.” Now clad in a new set of clothes, and after a shave, a bath, and a haircut at a hotel, the two Rebel agents took a steamer to Alton, Illinois, and then a train to Chicago. After a day of sightseeing, they boarded a Michigan Central train to Detroit. The next morning they crossed over the Detroit River to Windsor, Ontario.

			They had made it. They were in Canada now.

			It was time to get to Toronto.

			And it was time to get to work.
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			Jacob Thompson had seen the war coming.

			A lawyer, former Mississippi congressman, and onetime secretary of the interior, he had come to agree with those who viewed the fight over slavery to be nothing less than an “irrepressible conflict.” And once the country began to break apart, the elegantly dressed Thompson wholeheartedly joined the Confederate cause. A native North Carolinian and an 1831 graduate of the university at Chapel Hill, he returned to his home state to stump for secession, claiming that the people of the North had been “trained from infancy to hate our people and their institutions.” When the fighting began, Thompson served as an aide and an inspector general for the Confederate army. But in April 1864, as Rebel hopes on the battlefield began to dim, Thompson was summoned to confer with Jefferson Davis in Richmond. Following their meeting, the Confederate president issued a written order on April 27 that stated that Thompson was “to proceed at once to Canada; there to carry out the instructions you have received from me verbally, in such a manner as shall seem most likely to conduce to the furtherance of the Confederate States of America which have been instructed to you.”

			Nine days later, at Wilmington, North Carolina, Thompson boarded the Thistle, a Rebel blockade runner. The ship steamed down the Cape Fear River until it reached Fort Fisher late in the afternoon, where it dropped anchor. Once night fell, the captain fired up the boilers with anthracite coal, dimmed all the lights on board, and raced out into the open ocean, weaving through more than a dozen Union ships. By May 19, by way of Bermuda, the Thistle pulled into port at Halifax. A week and a half later, Jacob Thompson walked into the lobby of the Bank of Ontario in Montreal and asked to open an account. In it he would deposit more than half a million dollars.

			Only Thompson hadn’t come to Canada to buy ships or armaments.

			Instead, he had come to launch a terror war against the North.
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			It wasn’t difficult to see why.

			With their fortunes ebbing on the battlefield, Jefferson Davis and the leadership of the Confederate States of America had rightly divined that their only hope for maintaining their independence was in convincing the civilian population of the United States that it was time to end the war and let the South go. Too many loyal families had already lost loved ones in the fighting, while a peace movement was starting to gain steam. Bringing violence and disorder to Northern cities and towns, ran the thinking, could hasten the end of the war and secure Confederate independence. And Canada offered an ideal base of operations. Not only did it share a thousand-plus-mile border with the United States, with a close proximity to most of the major cities of the North, but since Canada was officially neutral, Southerners could travel within its borders unimpeded. Moreover, there were plenty of Canadians who sympathized with the Rebel cause—especially in Toronto, where Thompson had made his headquarters.

			Thompson got right to work. Utilizing a network of Confederate secret agents, he established communications with leaders of the Sons of Liberty and other secret Copperhead organizations in the North, with the intent of fomenting armed uprisings. Plans were set in motion to create a disturbance at the Democratic Party’s national convention in Chicago in August. Such mayhem would serve, one of Thompson’s associates later wrote, as the foundation for “armed hostility to the continuance of a war waged by the sacrifice of the white man’s life for the abolition of the black man’s slavery.” Another plan called for kidnapping and beheading Oliver P. Morton, the Republican governor of Indiana. Yet another proposed the capture of a Union gunboat on the Great Lakes, which could then be used to attack cities from Buffalo to Milwaukee.

			It was more than just talk. In September 1864, a Rebel spy named John Yates Beall seized two steamships on Lake Erie in what proved to be an unsuccessful attempt to free the prisoners held on Johnson’s Island. One month later, twenty-one Confederate soldiers, posing as hunters, slipped across the Quebec border and raided St. Albans, Vermont, robbing the town’s three banks, setting buildings on fire, killing one local man, and wounding another. The raid made headlines across the North, especially in New England. “A profound sensation was created all over the United States and Canada,” recalled a Rebel hiding out in Toronto.

			But much bigger plans were in the works—plans that would reap even larger headlines. “In short,” Jacob Thompson had written to the Confederate authorities in Richmond in July 1864, “nothing but violence can terminate the war.” And Thompson, operating out of the wet streets of Toronto and Montreal, had the means to carry out such plans. Armed with a substantial war chest, he could also call upon an array of secret agents, escaped Confederate soldiers, and exiled Rebel sympathizers to set plans in motion. Some, like John Headley and Robert Martin, had been sent to him directly. Others, like Robert Cobb Kennedy, had escaped the clutches of the Union and slipped across the border. And then there were some individuals who, it seemed, simply came out of the blue.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Twelve-

			Booth

			The applause was deafening.

			Starting at the very lip of the stage, it swept backward, section by section and row by row, gaining in intensity. Men and women leapt to their feet, clapping furiously. From the loges and the mezzanine erupted a cascade of shouts and whistles and bravos, while in the cheap seats and the standing-room-only section at the rear of the house, playgoers stomped their feet and yelled at the top of their lungs. They had never seen or heard anything like it. For there on the stage, illuminated by the cool glow of the gaslights, wasn’t just another actor taking a bow. Here was a sensation, a revelation, a talent touched by the hand of God.

			His name was John Wilkes Booth.

			“He was one of the few,” recalled the English actor Charles Wyndham, who had appeared onstage with Booth in Washington during the spring of 1863, “to whom that ill-used term of genius might be applied with perfect truth.” Newspaper drama critics agreed. “A genius,” declared the Chicago Tribune. “He was possessed of true genius”—Philadelphia Bulletin. “His brilliant genius”—Cincinnati Enquirer. “Sparking with the fire of original genius”—Baltimore Sun. “He imitates no one—not even unconsciously,” wrote the Louisville Daily Democrat. “He is guided by his genius alone—a star that is destined to light him to the very summit.” Others felt that he was already there. The Indianapolis Daily Journal wrote that “Mr. Booth is, beyond a doubt, the most promising young actor of the day.”

			Audiences adored him. From New England to the Mississippi River, theatergoers snatched up tickets and filled houses to capacity whenever John Wilkes Booth came to town. “The house was filled to overflow,” reported the Chicago Evening Journal on an appearance by Booth in early 1862. “Hundreds were turned from the doors,” read one account from late 1861. “The theatre could not hold all of the people who rushed there to see and hear Mr. Booth,” came another, from late 1862. When Booth played Brooklyn for the first time, during the autumn of 1863, a local journalist wrote of “an unusual demonstration in the scramble for tickets. Such a scene of pushing, crowding and jamming mingled with expressions more vigorous than polite.”

			Not surprisingly, theater owners sought to cash in on Booth’s red-hot popularity. When the twenty-five-year-old actor made his first appearance at the brand-new Ford’s Theatre in Washington in November 1863, every seat “regular or improvised obtainable in the building was occupied,” while hundreds more stood in the rear or along the sides of the theater. In Massachusetts, one theater was so completely packed every night, reported the Boston Advertiser, that “the carpenter of the establishment has it in contemplation to put a row of hooks and pegs around the lobby and gallery, for the latecomers to hang from.” Even when Booth didn’t have a scheduled performance, so great was his reputation that people sought him out anyway. When a blizzard in January 1864 trapped Booth for a few days in St. Joseph, Missouri, the mayor and leading citizens successfully petitioned him to give a series of dramatic readings, including “The Charge of the Light Brigade” and passages from Hamlet and The Merchant of Venice.

			Shakespeare was his specialty.

			Though he could successfully act in both the latest plays and in light comedies—and keep the audience in stitches all the while he was onstage—it was through the great Shakespearean tragedies that the sparks of his talent arced the brightest. “We have heard of no one who makes the sense of Shakespeare so clear,” reported one Indianapolis paper, while the theater critic for the Boston Daily Evening Transcript wrote that “his reading is beautiful in the extreme, and the hidden meanings of Shakespeare’s lines are all unfolded by the power of genius and thorough study.” The New York Tribune went even further, declaring that, through Booth, “the diction of the play is almost, every line, as fresh as if written yesterday.” Nor did it matter which part he played. “We anticipated a good performance but were not prepared for so great an outburst of genius,” marveled one critic of his Othello, while another, after viewing Booth’s portrayal of Hamlet in the music hall in Springfield, Massachusetts, noted that “he astonished his most enthusiastic admirers with the intensity and power of his reputation.” Of his performance in Romeo and Juliet in January 1865, the Washington National Intelligencer wrote that “we have never seen a Romeo bearing any near comparison with the acting of Booth.”

			In theaters large and small, in both cities and towns, John Wilkes Booth awed audiences week after week with his portrayals, especially from Shakespeare. “His transitions from anguish to fiery indignation are absolutely electrifying,” wrote the critic for the Cincinnati Daily Commercial of his Macbeth. In some theaters, audiences would burst into applause after a particularly compelling scene. “The thundering applause which greeted this, as all the other scenes,” observed the Cleveland Plain Dealer of his performance in Hamlet, “however is better testimony and more gratifying of how completely he succeeded in carrying the popular heart,” while in others, such as during an engagement in Chicago in late 1862, “he was here listened to in deep silence” and “thrilled the audience.”

			Especially thrilling was the physicality that Booth brought to the American stage.

			Actors who played opposite him often learned this the hard way. “In the last scene of Romeo and Juliet, one night,” wrote Kate Reignolds, who played Juliet to his Romeo, “I vividly recall how the buttons at his cuff caught my hair, and in trying to tear them out he trod on my dress and rent it so as to make it utterly useless afterward; and in his last struggle shook me out of my shoes!” Theater owner and impresario John T. Ford later wrote in the Washington Evening Star of how Booth, while playing Macbeth, insisted that a twelve-foot-high cliff be built onstage that he could then leap off in a single bound. “He was an athlete. He put into all of his impersonations the vitality of perfect manhood,” Ford wrote. “I paid him $700 a week.” That was a substantial amount of money at the time. Nevertheless, even during rehearsals, Booth would hold nothing back. “When I came off the stage,” actor Walter Benn recalled of rehearsing a play with Booth called Damon and Pythias, “I discovered he had well clawed my neck with his fingernails, and I was bleeding profusely.”

			Nowhere did Booth’s artistic genius shine brighter than in his portrayal of Richard III, Shakespeare’s deformed killer king. “His soliloquies are full of restless gesture,” wrote the New York newspaper the Spirit of the Times, producing an uneasiness that “gradually increases until, in the last act, it culminates in a whirlwind, a tornado of execution, hurrying the spectator along, with a resistless power, to a climax unequalled in thrilling effect.” In Kentucky, the Louisville Daily Journal informed its readers that “the ‘electricity’ of his genius will be seen, and every flash will strike to the hearts of his listeners” and that “we regard the last two acts of this tragedy, as he performs them, to have never been excelled on the American stage.” The New York Times was even more succinct: “We cannot name a better Richard.”

			Specifically, it was the final swordfight scene, between Richard III and the Earl of Richmond, that thrilled Civil War audiences like never before. “When he fought it was no stage fight,” Kate Reignolds later wrote. Every thrust, every parry, was real. When rehearsing with an actor playing Richmond, Booth would urge him to throw himself fully into the fight. “Come on hard! Come on hot!” Booth would declare. “Hot, old fellow! Harder—faster!” On some nights, Booth would drive the actor playing Richmond all the way to the footlights or even into the orchestra pit. One frigid November night in Cleveland, a nervous actor named James Clarke McCollom, playing Richmond, lost track of where he was in the fight. “He forgot he had struck the full number of head blows, and when Booth was pantingly expecting a thrust, McCollom, wielding a sword with both hands, brought it down with awful force fair across Booth’s forehead,” actress Clara Morris later wrote. “A cry of horror rose, for in one moment his face was masked with blood, one eyebrow being cut cleanly through.” McCollom was thoroughly shaken, Morris recalled. But not Booth, who, “flinging the blood from his eyes with his left hand, said, as genially as man could speak: ‘That’s all right, old man! Never mind me—only come on hard, for God’s sake, and save the fight!’ ”

			Audiences had never seen anything like it. At one performance, the theater critic for the Daily Cleveland Herald reported, the entire house rose to its feet during the swordfight scene. And both theatergoers and critics absolutely loved it. “The fight between Richard and Richmond in the last scene is most terrific; indeed we have never seen it equaled on stage,” wrote the St. Louis Democrat. In Detroit, there was more of the same. “The sword combat in the last act between Richard and Richmond,” reported the Detroit Free Press, “being decidedly the best and most thrilling scene that has ever been produced on the stage of the Metropolitan.”

			John Wilkes Booth wasn’t just another actor.

			He was a superstar.
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			Booth was also exceedingly good-looking.

			“Seldom has the stage seen a more impressive, or a more handsome, or a more impassioned actor,” Charles Wyndham later remembered. “Picture to yourself Adonis, with high forehead, ascetic face corrected by rather full lips, sweeping black hair, a figure of perfect youthful proportions and the most wonderful black eyes in the world.” The eyes. Especially his eyes. “At all times his eyes were his most striking features, but when his emotions were aroused they were like jewels. Flames shot from them,” Wyndham added. John Adam Ellsler, an Ohio theater manager, concurred. “His eyes were large, dark, and expressive,” Ellsler said. “Spark of genius flashed from those orbs with an effect electrical.”

			His looks did not go unnoticed.

			“Now it is scarcely an exaggeration to say that the [fair] sex was in love with John Booth,” Clara Morris later wrote in a memoir. “At depot restaurants those fiercely unwilling maiden-slammers of plates and shooters of coffee-cups made to him swift and gentle offerings of hot steaks, hot biscuits, hot coffee, crowding round him like doves about a grain basket, leaving other travellers to wait upon themselves or go without refreshment. At the hotels, maids had been known to enter his room and tear asunder the already made-up bed, that the ‘turn-over’ might be broader by a thread or two, and both pillows slant at the perfectly correct angle.” A. F. Norcross, who grew up in a theatrical family in Boston, remembered the impact that Booth had with the girls in the laundry that cleaned and ironed his collars and cuffs. “They always saw to it that Mr. Booth’s package was ready when he came for it,” she recalled, “and vied with each other as to who should have the honor of delivering it.”

			The attention was even more intense at the theaters themselves. “The stage door was always blocked with silly women waiting to catch a glimpse, as he passed, of his superb face and figure,” recalled Kate Reignolds. Clara Morris witnessed it as well. “At the theatre, good heaven!” she wrote, “as the sunflowers turn upon their stalks to follow the beloved sun, so old or young, our faces smiling, turned to him.” Once, after a matinee in Boston, a crowd of female theatergoers tried to force their way into his dressing room. And all across the loyal states, women sent Booth letters by the bushel basket.

			Interestingly, Booth was also a hit with men.

			“He joked with the cabmen at the stand corner of the Tremont House,” Norcross recalled. “He loved a jest and in his quiet, quizzical way made friends everywhere.” He was instant friends with bartenders and stagehands, and he could tell stories like few others. “He was a most charming fellow, off the stage as well as on, a man of flashing wit and magnetic character,” Wyndham remembered. “He was one of the best raconteurs to whom I have ever listened. As he talked he threw himself into his words, brilliant, ready, enthusiastic. He could hold a group spellbound by the hour at the force and fire and beauty of him.”

			Children adored him—and he them. “He could while away hours playing with children,” John Ellsler recalled; “he often did so with mine.” When Booth would spend the night with the Tompkins family when he visited Boston, their twelve-year-old son would sneak up to the actor’s room in the morning for a pillow fight. Another time, while waiting for a train outside of Cameron, Missouri, in January 1864, Booth happily joined in a snowball fight with a group of local kids. And Clara Morris remembered an incident one morning when Booth, dashing out of the theater on the way to the telegraph office, plowed directly into a small child—“a small roamer of the stony streets”—standing in the middle of the sidewalk.

			“Oh, good Lord!” Booth cried out. “Baby, are you hurt?”

			Booth then picked up the “dirty, tousled, small heap” and stood it on its feet.

			“Don’t cry, little chap!”

			Then, according to Morris, “the aforesaid little chap not only ceased to cry but gave him a damp and grimy smile, at which the actor bent towards him quickly, but paused, took out his handkerchief, and first carefully wiping the dirty little nose and mouth, stooped and kissed him heartily, put some change in each freckled paw, and continued his run to the telegraph office.” Morris added: “He knew of no witness to the act. To kiss a pretty, clean child under the approving eyes of mamma might mean nothing but politeness, but surely it required the prompting of a warm and tender heart to make a young and thoughtless man feel for and caress such a dirty, forlorn bit of babyhood as that.”

			He made a big impression on another child as well.

			During the spring of 1863, Booth played Washington for nearly a month. “Mr. John Wilkes Booth, First appearance in Washington, A Star of the First Magnitude,” crowed the playbill at Grover’s Theatre. Along with appearances in Romeo and Juliet, Othello, and Richard III, he also acted in The Marble Heart, a play about a sculptor who falls in love with one of his sculptures. Sitting in the audience at one such performance was ten-year-old Tad Lincoln and his friend Gustav Schurmann, a teenaged bugler with the 40th New York. Both were absolutely transfixed by the “dark, handsome man with brilliant black eyes” who played the leading role.

			“I’d like to meet that actor,” Tad said. “He makes you thrill.”

			And so they did.

			During the intermission after the second act, the stage manager brought Tad and the young bugler to Booth’s dressing room and introduced them. “Booth shook hands with us in the pleasantest fashion imaginable,” Schurmann recounted. “He talked to us while he made up, and when we went away he gave us each a bunch of roses.”

			Only there was another side to John Wilkes Booth as well.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Thirteen-

			The Parker House

			Philadelphia, 1864.

			Sitting alone in a hotel room, his passions stirred and his thoughts racing, John Wilkes Booth picks up a pen and some sheets of paper and starts to write. “Dear Sir,” he begins, then “To whom it may concern.” But he is writing to himself as much as to anyone else. And as his pen flies across the foolscap, out come the words that he cannot say in public. Here, in the birthplace of the nation, with the carriage traffic rumbling by on the streets below, Booth’s own beliefs come spilling out in a river of ink. He crosses out words when necessary, underlining others.

			“This country was formed for the white not for the black man. And looking upon African slavery from the same stand-point, held by those noble framers of our Constitution, I for one, have ever considered it, one of the greatest blessings (both for themselves and us), that God ever bestowed upon a favored nation.”

			There is more. Much more.

			Recalling his presence at the hanging of John Brown at Charles Town, Virginia, in 1859, Booth rails against both the Republican Party and the enemies of slavery. “I thought then, as now, that the abolitionists, were the only traitors in the land, and that the entire party deserved the fate of poor old Brown.”

			As for the United States flag, Booth has now only scorn.

			“How I have loved the old flag can never, now, be known,” he wrote. “O How I have longed to see her break from the mist of blood and death that circles round her folds, spoiling her beauty and tarnishing her honor. But no, day by day she has been draged [sic] deeper and deeper into cruelty and oppression, till now (in my eyes) her once bright red stripes look like bloody gashes on the face of Heaven.”

			Slavery is good. Abolitionists should be hung.

			The flag is ruined.

			As for the South, there is no question but to stay the course. “The south can make no choice. It is either extermination or slavery for themselves (worse than death) to draw from. I would know my choice.”

			Indeed, he does.

			Booth signs the letter, “A Confederate.”
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			To the public, there was little to suggest that John Wilkes Booth was anything other than a loyal citizen of the United States. Though he had been born and raised in Maryland, a slave state, his own family had never owned slaves, while his brother, Edwin, was an outspoken “Union man.” And Booth himself was especially beloved by Union soldiers. Some sought to have daguerreotypes taken with him, while a group of Union officers in Nashville presented him with a sword. During a visit to New York City in the summer of 1863, Booth took extra pains to care for a Union officer named Adam Badeau, who had been shot in the left foot during the siege of Port Hudson. “Wilkes Booth was there and stood in the door when I arrived,” Badeau recalled. “For a week he nursed me tenderly, dressed my wounds, gave me medicines, and, when I was strong enough, again bore me in his arms daily up and down the stairs.”

			A few others, however, caught glimpses of his true sympathies.

			In the early spring of 1864, Booth traveled down the Mississippi to New Orleans, which had been in the hands of Union troops for nearly two years. Packing the seats of the ornate and magnificent St. Charles Theatre for three weeks solid, he performed Hamlet, Othello, Macbeth, Richard III, Romeo and Juliet, and The Merchant of Venice, as well as a handful of more contemporary dramas. But even more remarkably, he threw himself fully into the social life of the city, winning admirers right and left. “He was blithe and gay, cheerful and full of song,” remembered Edward Curtis, who was living in the private home on Felicity Street where Booth stayed. “There was something boyish about him anyway which lent an especial charm to him. No matter what he did he went the limit. If it were playing in the theatre he was the best and the most impassioned in all the cast. If it were riding horseback he would not be content with any but the wildest horse. If it were rolling tenpins, he would not be content with anything but the highest score.”

			In occupied New Orleans, Booth was also more open about his own political beliefs. The New York Post later reported that during his visit to the city, Booth was well known around town “as a secessionist,” while on one boozy evening he was briefly detained by the authorities for singing “The Bonnie Blue Flag,” a Rebel anthem, on the streets.

			According to Edward Curtis, however, he largely kept those sentiments to himself. “Booth at that time was not a very pronounced advocate of the Southern cause,” Curtis said. “He was an actor and a good fellow, and that is the way we looked at him.”

			But on one particular night, Booth had been invited to a dinner party at the home of Thomas Davey, the manager of the St. Charles Theatre, and his wife, Lizzie. Among the other guests was James Peacock, a soldier with the 8th Indiana, on furlough, who had known the Daveys before the war. “Booth and I were in the parlor,” Peacock recalled. “The dining room door being open and the table laid. He was very violent in his talk as to Pres’t Lincoln, and called the Union soldiers all manner of vile names which was more than my young blood could stand.” Peacock had finally heard enough, calling Booth a dirty mercenary and a cowardly dog, and claiming that if Booth was a real man, he’d be in the Confederate army.

			“This enraged him so that he attempted to draw a pistol from his hip,” Peacock added. “I had no weapon of any kind—but jumped into the dining room and seized a large carving knife and told him if he attempted to draw a pistol on me I would eviscerate him. Davey and his wife came in then and quieted him down. He was too cowardly to attempt to shoot me, because I was prepared for him. So it ended.”
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			It had not, however, been the only incident of its kind.

			Once, early in the war, Booth was riding in a railroad car when his brother-in-law, John Clarke, made a denigrating remark about Jefferson Davis. “As the words were uttered Booth sprang up and hurled himself upon Clarke in a wild tempest of fury, catching him by the throat,” Charles Wyndham later wrote. “Other passengers tried to interfere, but Booth held his hold, to all appearances bent upon strangling his brother-in-law.” At last, Booth’s fury subsided, and he released his sister’s husband. It was all over in an instant, and Clarke, according to one source, apparently dismissed the episode as “the result of a temporary derangement.” The Booth family was their own house divided, with staunch advocates on both sides, and as the war dragged on, family members knew better than to engage brother John Wilkes in discussions of the conflict.

			An exception was his sister Asia. Only two years younger, with the same high forehead and the same dark eyes, she was bright and perceptive and shared his love of nature, noting how he loved to nibble on twigs and how “in the woods he would throw himself face downward, and nestle his nose close to the earth,” inhaling the rich aromas of the forest floor. Once, they raised the deep, full-throated choir of a bog full of frogs with the strumming of a guitar. On Halloween, they played pranks on their Maryland neighbors, opening gates, pulling up cabbages, and quietly wheeling off carriages. Booth, for his part, became his sister’s protector, while she became his sounding board and confidante. And while he wouldn’t tell her everything, as they grew into adulthood she caught bits and pieces of his life beyond the stage.

			Once the war started, he made no secret of his allegiances to his sister.

			“So help me holy God!” he said, “my soul, life, and possessions are for the South.”

			Booth told his sister Asia other things as well. That he had been involved with smuggling quinine, a drug needed to treat malaria, into the Confederate states. That he had once warned Rebel partisans about the approach of some Union troops. That he, in his own small ways and using his own means, had aided the Confederacy. But come the bloody and calamitous summer of 1864, his involvement with the Rebel cause would take a dramatic and precipitous new turn.
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			Boston had always been good to John Wilkes Booth.

			There was probably no city in the United States that loved him like the great Massachusetts capital. On both bitter winter nights and blustery spring evenings, theatergoers flocked to Booth’s performances, especially at the venerable Boston Museum. “The Museum was thronged to its utmost capacity by an audience as fashionable and as critical as any that ever assembled within its walls,” recorded one journalist of Booth’s portrayal of Richard III in January 1863, while at a performance of Romeo and Juliet a year and a half later A. F. Norcross remembered that “every box was filled with ladies in full evening dress, feathers and flowers in their hair, wearing beautiful jewels and carrying magnificent fans.” They also loved what they saw. “The applause was deafening,” recalled actor Walter Benn, “and the audience gave us a great curtain call.” For theater owner and impresario John T. Ford, nothing equaled the affection that Bostonians had for John Wilkes Booth. “When we were playing in Boston,” Ford said of traveling versions of some of his productions, “he doubtless made the greatest success of any actor of his day. People waited in crowds after the performance to catch a glimpse of him as he left the theatre.”

			Booth played Boston four times between May 1862 and May 1864, and each visit was nothing short of a triumph. The critic for the Evening Transcript proclaimed him to be “perhaps the most promising actor on the American stage,” while a playbill at the Boston Museum declared that “This Young Artist’s histrionic efforts [have] never been equaled by any star at the Museum.”

			Booth also made one other visit to Boston.

			But this time there was no rapturous applause, no glowing reviews, no crowds of fans hoping to catch a peek of their theatrical idol.
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			Long-distance train travel during the early 1860s was far from easy.

			Passenger cars were noisy, smoky, bone-rattling affairs that were often freezing in the winter and blistering in the summer. Seating was on hard wooden benches, while the floors were littered with spit, ashes, food scraps, and cigar butts. If you wanted something to eat, you had to either bring your own food or take your chances with what you could rustle up at a brief whistle-stop. Delays were frequent, and travel took time—lots of time. To go from New York to Chicago by rail could take thirty hours.

			John Wilkes Booth, of course, knew all of this by heart. Between traveling to and from theatrical engagements and visiting family members, he was regularly on the road. In 1863 alone, Booth performed in St. Louis, Indianapolis, Boston, Philadelphia, Baltimore, Washington, Chicago, Cleveland, Buffalo, Worcester, Springfield, Providence, Hartford, Brooklyn, New Haven, and Leavenworth, Kansas. He also visited his brother in New York City, attended a family funeral, and made a business trip to Pennsylvania oil country.

			Given his extensive travels, it wasn’t unduly strange, perhaps, that John Wilkes Booth decided to make a quick trip to Boston in late July 1864. After all, he had performed in the city on numerous occasions. What was strange was that he gave no performances while he was in town. Nor, to our knowledge, did he attend any.

			So what was he doing there?
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			Ten months later, a man by the name of Cordial Crane stumbled upon a possible explanation. An inspector with the U.S. Customs House in Boston, he had become interested in Confederate plots against the city. Acting on a hunch, he examined the register of the Parker House in Boston, and discovered that on July 26, 1864, the hotel’s guests included:

			
				Charles R. Hunter, Toronto, Canada West

				J. Wilkes Booth

				A. J. Bursted, Baltimore

				H. V. Clinton, Canada West

				R. A. Leech, Montreal

			

			Crane forwarded this information to Secretary of War Edwin Stanton, but apparently no official follow-up took place.

			Latter-day investigators, however, have seen something else. All of the names, save for Booth’s, appear to be aliases. But the man who used the name “H. V. Clinton” had also used that same name—this time claiming to be from St. Louis—one month later when he registered at St. Lawrence Hall, the hotel that served as the unofficial headquarters for Confederate Secret Service operations in Montreal. “Now, more than a century later, the gathering at the Parker House can be construed differently,” wrote career intelligence officers William A. Tidwell and David Winfred Gaddy and historian James O. Hall in their little-known but deeply researched and revelatory 1988 book Come Retribution. “It had all the earmarks of a conference with an agenda. The inference is that agents of the Confederate apparatus in Canada had a need to discuss something with Booth.”

			One hundred and fifty years later, it isn’t too difficult to figure out what that was.
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			A fortnight after the meeting in Boston, Booth contacted two old friends in Baltimore.

			“I had not seen Booth since the year 1852,” recalled one of the men, Sam Arnold, “at which time we were fellow students of St. Timothy’s Hall.” Booth asked Arnold and another boyhood friend, Michael O’Laughlen, to meet him at his hotel downtown. Over wine in Booth’s room, the three men openly discussed the war and the precarious condition of the Confederacy. Booth then steered the discussion to President Lincoln. “He said the President frequently went to the Soldiers Home, alone and unguarded, that he could easily be captured on one of those visits, and carried to the Potomac, boated across the river and conveyed to Richmond,” Arnold later wrote. There was one other detail: “Booth said that he would furnish all the necessary materials to carry out the project.”

			Two weeks after the mysterious visit to the Parker House, John Wilkes Booth had suddenly become a would-be kidnapper. He was also now an expert on Lincoln’s movements, on crossing the Potomac by boat, and, he claimed, he now had access to everything needed to abduct the president of the United States—things he may well have learned in Boston. “Undoubtedly he conspired to kidnap the President—that would appeal to him,” actress Clara Morris remembered. As it turned out, he was not alone.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Fourteen-

			Daylight

			Try as he might, the general could not fall asleep.

			Forty-four years old, with a short, scraggly beard and hair the color of Tennessee whiskey, Ohio-born William Tecumseh Sherman looked more like a sign painter or a bricklayer than a general in the United States army. A graduate of West Point, where he had excelled in his classes but was a flop in matters of dress and decorum, Sherman had spent a decade in the army before going into business, including, among other activities, managing a bank in San Francisco. In 1859, the year of John Brown’s raid on Harpers Ferry, Sherman was the president of a military academy in Baton Rouge. And when Louisiana seceded from the Union, he packed his bags and went back to the North. Dismissive of Lincoln’s call for only seventy-five thousand troops to crush the Rebellion—“Why,” he said, “you might as well attempt to put out the flames of a burning house with a squirt gun”—Sherman returned to the army, making it in time to lead a group of irregulars at the Battle of Bull Run.

			A brilliant strategist and tactician, Sherman was later anointed by the British historian B. H. Liddell Hart as “the most original genius of the American Civil War.” But he was also haunted and gripped with anxiety, and after he became overwhelmed by his duties in Kentucky, he was temporarily relieved of them, after which he considered killing himself. “I do think I should have committed suicide were it not for my children,” Sherman wrote to his brother in early 1862.

			Grant and Lincoln both had faith in him, and after he had survived three horses being shot out from under him at Shiloh, his confidence returned. But on the night of September 1, 1864, tossing and turning in his field headquarters cot in north Georgia, William Tecumseh Sherman’s immediate problem was that he could not fall asleep.

			For fifteen long and grueling weeks, he had led the eighty-thousand-plus soldiers of three Union armies on a bloody drive south from Tennessee. His troops had fought dozens of engagements along the way, including major fights at Resaca, Kennesaw Mountain, and Peachtree Creek, against stubborn Confederate resistance. By the last week in August, Sherman’s forces had begun to close a ring around Atlanta, the state capital of Georgia and an important railroad hub. By the evening of September 1, Sherman could sense that the long campaign was at a tipping point, but when, and to what end, was still shrouded in mystery.

			“That night I was so restless and impatient that I could not sleep,” Sherman later wrote, “and about midnight there arose toward Atlanta sounds of shells exploding and other sounds like that of musketry.” Few Civil War battles were fought at night; anxious to identify what he was hearing, Sherman got up and left his tent. “I walked to the house of a farmer close by my bivouac, called him out to listen to the reverberations which came from the direction of Atlanta (twenty miles to the north of us), and inquired of him if he had resided there long. He said he had, and said that these sounds were just like those of battle.” But Sherman heard something else, and bid the sleepy farmer good night. The noises tapered off, and then began again at about four a.m., at which point the red-haired general began to wonder whether the Rebel army, pursuant to abandoning the city, was blowing up its own ammunition magazines, rather than let them fall into the hands of their enemies.

			His hunch was right.

			Shortly after daybreak on September 2, Union troops entered the Georgia capital.

			Atlanta had fallen.
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			By Friday night, September 2, 1864, word of the unexpected victory was racing across the loyal states of the North, carried on the wings of the telegraph. In Poughkeepsie, New York, citizens poured into the streets, delirious with joy. “Although the hour is late the air is filled with fireworks and the streets with bonfires,” ran one report, “and cheers can be heard in every part of the city.”

			At Ford’s Theatre in Washington, actor William J. Florence interrupted a performance to announce to the audience that General Sherman had entered Atlanta. “The audience immediately arose, and cheered so vociferously that some time elapsed before the play could proceed,” the Washington Evening Star reported. “The enthusiasm was so great that many left the house, too much excited at the glorious news to sit still to witness the remainder of the performance.”

			The next day, Saturday, September 3, the news spread even farther.

			“Glorious News” ran the headline in the New York Tribune. “No words can express the joy of the loyal millions of the North at the gratifying intelligence which leaped across the wires at an early hour this morning,” declared the Boston Evening Transcript. “The telegraph never was the medium of more satisfactory information.”

			And with the news came celebration after celebration.

			All across New York State, in Buffalo and Troy, Oswego and Saratoga, and in towns and villages all up and down the Hudson and Mohawk river valleys, guns were fired, church bells rang out, and infantry paraded down cobblestone streets. “Despatches from Rochester, N.Y., New Haven, Conn., and other places,” the Philadelphia Inquirer reported, “indicate the popular enthusiasm in General Sherman’s movements and the reported capture.” A one-hundred-gun salute, ordered by the Massachusetts governor, was fired on Boston Common. Along the Maine coast and in Connecticut and in New Jersey, fireworks and flags blossomed like late-summer flowers, while in homes and church pews, grateful family members prayed for the safety of their sons, fathers, and husbands in Union blue. “In view of Sherman’s gigantic victory we can hardly find words to utter our Thanksgiving,” wrote the Lewiston Daily Evening Journal. And as the news traveled west, the joy did as well. Word of the victory was reported in Pittsburgh newspapers on September 5 and in Milwaukee by the sixth. In Portland, Oregon, and Camp Douglas, Utah, the news came via the Pacific Telegraph Company, carefully tapped out by dozens of operators stretching along hundreds of miles. In Boise City, Idaho Territory, word came by stagecoach.

			The significance of the victory was not lost with the distance.

			“This is a blow at the very vitals of the rebellion,” wrote the National Republican in Washington. “This is truly glorious. The skies brighten.” The Pittsburgh Daily Commercial went even further. “We are nearing the beginning of the end of this war. Even the blindest must now see it,” the newspaper wrote. “The grounds of hope are real.” A Scottish writer named John Francis Campbell heard the news while he was traveling by rail from St. Louis to Louisville. “Nobody knew where Atlanta was, but all were agreed that it was a glorious victory,” he later recalled. “After some time, Atlanta was discovered in a map, and it seemed plain that a very disagreeable missile was in the side of the Reb.”
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			Sherman’s spectacular victory, and the taking of Mobile Bay by the Union Navy under Admiral David Farragut ten days earlier, also accomplished something else: they brought Abraham Lincoln’s floundering reelection campaign back from the dead. Practically overnight, the bitterly competing factions of the Republican Party united behind the President, while future battles over such divisive issues as the Reconstruction of the South were shelved for another day. Even John C. Frémont, the impetuous western explorer who had served as the first military governor of California, withdrew his independent White House bid in order to back Lincoln.

			Sherman hadn’t just taken Atlanta. He’d also thrown the President a lifeline.

			What followed, as the warm September weather turned toward cool October nights, was a newly revitalized and supercharged Republican campaign for the presidency. In cities and towns across the loyal states, precinct-level Lincoln clubs—with names like the Red, White, and Blue Club, the Ninth Ward Wide-Awakes, and the West Haven Union Club—were organized and set to work. “Find out how every voter within the circle of your possible influence intends to vote,” the Daily Missouri Republican suggested, and “see that he votes the right ticket.” Banners and flags were draped across local Republican Party headquarters, and campaign pamphlets and Lincoln biographies were printed by the thousands, as were cartes de visite and ferrotype pinbacks featuring the President’s image. “Large sums of money were expended in expensive printing,” recalled one campaign official, especially on eye-catching posters. Ward heelers, precinct captains, and political operatives, meanwhile, taught regular party members the art of corralling votes.

			It was considered unseemly, in those days, for the presidential candidates themselves to go out and give speeches, shake hands, and actively solicit votes. In their place, Lincoln’s campaign managers enlisted a wide array of politicians, military heroes, and well-known preachers and stem-winders to stump for the President and his reelection at rallies large and small across the country. And speak they did. “For an hour and three-quarters he kept the vast audience in close attention,” ran a newspaper report of a Lincoln spokesman at a packed meeting in a rented auditorium in Hartford, Connecticut, “and his allusions to the restoration of the glorious Union were received with rapturous applause, which will not soon be forgotten.” The evening’s program closed with a seventy-five-member glee club singing patriotic songs, with the audience joining in on “My Country ’Tis of Thee.” “Involuntarily, as it seemed,” wrote a local newspaper reporter, “the audience arose and sang it, making the very arches ring.”

			Two thousand seven hundred miles to the west, at an outdoor Lincoln rally in the rough-and-ready mining town of Dayton, Nevada Territory, one speaker “raked the rebels” so furiously that two local Copperheads “got up and left for more congenial quarters.” Another speaker, the Gold Hill Daily News reported, “in a few impassioned remarks roused the enthusiasm at the highest pitch, and culminated with rousing cheers for the Union, for Abraham Lincoln and Andy Johnson, the future State of Nevada and loyalty in general.”

			Nowhere, however, did the Lincoln campaign create a more dazzling spectacle than in nighttime torchlight parades and processions. Led by brass bands, they featured hundreds if not thousands of Lincoln supporters, men and women both, marching down city and village streets, carrying torches and lanterns in wild and wonderful rivers of light. Some marchers also held aloft boxlike paper transparencies, illuminated from within like Chinese lanterns, decorated with campaign slogans or images of Lincoln. Flags and banners were in abundance. Highly organized—“At 7¼ o’clock,” wrote a Cleveland newspaper, “each division will be promptly in the position assigned to them”—many of the processions featured military units and members of local fire departments. In Nashville, scores of citizens joined one parade on horseback. And the parades were everywhere, from big cities in the North and Midwest, to Pennsylvania coal camps and farm towns in the central valley of California.

			Nonetheless, rough days lay ahead.

			For despite all the enthusiasm, the Lincoln campaign had much ground to make up, and little time to do so.
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			“McClellan developed more strength than was suspected,” wrote a Republican electioneer. A well-known and widely popular former Union army general, George B. McClellan had been a darling of the Northern press during the early months of the war. Handsome and regal, he had done a masterful job of rebuilding the esprit de corps of the Union army after it had suffered a string of early defeats at the hands of the Confederates. But on his own battlefields, the “Young Napoleon,” as some called him, was anything but aggressive. After McClellan failed to follow up a bloody Union victory at Antietam by pursuing Robert E. Lee’s retreating Rebel army, Lincoln had had enough, and he sacked the general. McClellan would become the Democratic candidate for the presidency in 1864, where, it might be postulated, he could exact his revenge at the ballot box.

			Indeed, the McClellan campaign got off to a solid start with its own rallies. Not only did they take place in traditional Democratic strongholds, but they were soon popping up in parts of the country that were thought to be safely in Republican hands. “One of the largest meetings ever held in Connecticut” and “a large and enthusiastic meeting at Providence,” reported the Vermont–based North Star, adding that “great meetings have also recently been held in Manchester, N.H., Portland, Maine, and other places. Preparations are making in Maine for one of the largest demonstrations ever made.” A McClellan rally at Faneuil Hall in Boston, the newspaper reported, was so large that “the crowd could not begin to get into the Hall, and there was speaking at three stands outside.”

			But nothing came close to matching the massive torchlight parade that the McClellan campaign organized in New York City in September 1864. Beginning in the Battery at the lower tip of Manhattan, the parade stretched continuously for nearly three miles, all the way to Union Square. “There was an endless torchlight procession of the M’Clellanites belonging to the several wards of the city,” wrote C. D. Shanly for the Illustrated London News. “All was a blaze of many-coloured light, contrasting finely with the cold splendour of the moon, which rose up very bright and clear.” Along with torches, lanterns, and illuminated transparencies, there were also decorated wagons and parade floats, including a massive Temple of Liberty and a fully rigged replica of the USS Constitution, manned by a crew of young men wearing red shirts. “A bell of some 500 pounds weight was mounted on a truck and rung during the march,” ran one newspaper report. Nor was that all. “Passing through a dark by-street, a man on horseback galloped past me,” Shanly added, “pulling up his horse with a jerk every few yards, and discharging a shower of fireworks from some contrivance carried in his hand.”

			The procession concluded at Union Square, which had been transformed earlier during the day. “Platforms and firework galleries had sprung up as if by magic, horizontal beams were hung with festoons of parti-coloured Chinese lanterns, and banners, and transparencies,” Shanly wrote. The park’s own gas lamps, meanwhile, had been “unscrewed from their posts and hung to the sides of the scaffolds, to give light to the reporters.” Young boys, in order to get a better look at the proceedings, were now hanging from the branches of the park’s magnificent trees, while a massive calcium light flooded the square with a brilliant white light.

			There was not enough room in Union Square for the tens of thousands of marchers who began to arrive not long after eight o’clock, so more than two dozen speaker’s stands had been set up on adjacent streets. The entire neighborhood was now besieged by the massive gathering. “The neighbouring bars were full to overflowing,” Shanly observed, while the waiters at Delmonico’s Restaurant, adjacent to the square, had their hands full. “They had a heavy night before them.” Shanly also added a benediction of sorts. “The sentiment throughout this demonstration was one of disgust with the war; the feeling that with the election of M’Clellan peace will be restored—somehow.”

			Indeed, the choice could not have been clearer.

			A vote for McClellan meant ending the war and negotiating a peace settlement with the breakaway states of the South. Reunion was a possibility, but slavery would likely remain intact. A vote for Lincoln meant continuing the war until victory was achieved, the Confederacy defeated, and the Union restored. But it also meant the end of slavery. And the stakes couldn’t be higher. Never before had so much ridden on the outcome of an American election. “We say then that every loyal man of the North has now a heavier responsibility upon him than any soldier in the field. It is a time when more is at stake in ballots than in bullets,” the New York Times editorialized. “The test is on us. The crisis summons. To your tents, O Israel!”
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			The race grew bitter, nasty, scurrilous.

			“The campaign soon became one of great acrimony on both sides,” wrote Abram J. Dittenhoefer. “Night and day, without cessation, young men like myself, in halls, upon street corners, and from cart-tails, were haranguing, pleading, sermonizing, orating, arguing, extolling our cause and our candidate, and denouncing our opponents.” Lincoln was portrayed as a liar, a manipulator, a race-mixer, and a dictator-in-the-making. “Do you prefer the white man’s party to Lincoln’s n—— party?” asked the Morning Democrat in Davenport, Iowa. McClellan, whose Democratic Party platform called for opening negotiations with the Confederacy, was smeared as a traitor and a Rebel pawn.

			Harsh language was soon followed by harsh deeds.

			In New York City, members of the Twelfth Ward Lincoln Club were attacked near 125th Street as they made their way to a rally at the Cooper Institute. “Stones were freely thrown, and a number of persons received severe contusions,” the New York Herald reported on September 28. “Another attack was made upon the club at the corner of Forty-eighth street and Third avenue. Here sticks and stones were resorted to, and several prostrated from the effects of severe blows.” The next month in Philadelphia, a Democratic torchlight parade was attacked on Chestnut Street by rioters armed with bottles, blackjacks, and rocks, killing an elderly bystander.

			Out in Carson City, Nevada Territory, a Democratic procession composed of “two hundred and thirty-four men, boys, and musicians was assaulted by more than three hundred Lincoln supporters.” As the Union men were passing the stable of Tom Smith, the Gold Hill Daily News reported on October 31, “a volley of stones were poured upon them, hitting several, and inflicting severe bruises. The Union men made a rush toward the stable, and succeeded in ‘corraling’ one man, an Irishman in the employ of Smith, in the office of the stable. M. V. Bamhart, a good Union man, punched the fellow in the face and knocked him down, and as he was pounding him over the head with a large Derringer, it exploded accidentally, and the ball passed into the Irishman’s shoulder, inflicting a slight flesh wound.”
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			Late into October, it was still anyone’s guess as to who was going to win.

			After the fall of Atlanta, Cornelia Hancock, a Union nurse at City Point, Virginia, had written that “the one engrossing subject now is the nomination of George B. McClellan. If it is left to the soldiers his election is sure.” But that was before news of the particulars of the Democratic platform, with its call to negotiate with Richmond, were widely known. There were also rumors of attempts to inflate McClellan’s vote count. In Baltimore, an officer on Lew Wallace’s staff had indeed uncovered a plot to switch votes from Lincoln to McClellan.

			But near the middle of the month, there had been some good news for the administration. In a series of state elections in Ohio, Pennsylvania, and Indiana, Republican candidates had fared better than expected. Still, Lincoln was cautious—and nervous. And on a visit to the telegraph office in the War Department on October 15, his stress was there for all to see. “Major Eckert and the cipher operators were all there,” wrote telegraphist David Homer Bates, “and we could not fail to notice that the President looked unusually weary and depressed as he sat down to scan the political field and consider the probabilities of his reëlection, three weeks later.”

			Referring to “special conditions in some of the States as affording ground for the fear that McClellan might slip through,” Lincoln grabbed a pencil and a blank sheet of cipher paper and wrote out an estimate of how the election would go. He had eight states, including New York and Pennsylvania, voting for McClellan, with the rest going for himself. The electoral vote would be his—117 to 114—he reasoned, but not by a lot. The election could go either way.

			Others felt the same. The race was going down to the wire.

			“If business or convenience might call you away from your precinct on election day, make your arrangements in time that it shall not,” advised a Republican paper in St. Louis on October 29. “Give up for the coming two weeks your ordinary affairs, however important, and attend to the far more important interests of your country.” On the coast of California, the Santa Cruz Weekly Sentinel viewed the election as nothing less than a war itself. “Shall the great Republic, the hope of the world, against which the Old World tyrannies were powerless, be assassinated by its own children?” the newspaper asked. “Will you strike for, or against, your country? Every elector is now a soldier, either in the Union or insurgent ranks. He fights as effectually through the ballot box as if he was in the Army of the Potomac. His vote is his weapon.”
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			The Lincoln campaign had one other weapon.

			And that was the soldiers themselves.

			While some still supposed that Union troops would favor their former commander, George B. McClellan, in the election—“Everything depends on Pa. and upon the army vote in that state,” wrote a New York banker to the Democratic presidential nominee—members of the Lincoln administration, including the President himself, sensed that the winds were now blowing in a different direction. A key to Republican success in the November elections, they concluded, would be to get as many soldiers to vote as possible. The governments of eighteen loyal states had passed provisions allowing their soldiers to vote in the field, including voting by mail. But for others, the troops would have to get back home to cast their ballots. And as far as that was possible, that is exactly what the War Department set out to accomplish.

			“We were busy in the department arranging for soldiers to go home to vote, and also for the taking of ballots in the army,” Charles Dana later remembered. “There was a constant succession of telegrams from all parts of the country requesting that leave of absence be extended to this or that officer, in order that his district at home might have the benefit of his vote and political influence. Furloughs were asked for private soldiers whose presence in close districts was deemed of special importance, and there was a wide-spread demand that men on detached service and convalescents in hospitals be sent home.” Ultimately, requests were even made from Washington to field commanders deep in Confederate territory to, if conditions allowed, send entire units back home in order to vote. “All the power and influence of the War Department,” Dana added, “then something enormous from the vast expenditure and extensive relations of the war, was employed to secure the re-election of Mr. Lincoln.”

			It was a huge gamble.

			In what many felt was a neck-and-neck race—one in which the military vote might very well determine the winner—nobody really knew for whom the troops would cast their ballots. One thing for certain was that, all across the North, in the week leading up to Election Day, railway stations and railroad trains were suddenly packed with thousands of Union soldiers making their way home.
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			After a summer filled with doom and gloom, something like hope was returning to Washington, including at the White House. While the outcome of the election was far from certain, Lincoln was no longer dead in the water. And with the fall of Atlanta, the idea that the war was hopelessly deadlocked had received a solid blow. The ominous, leaden skies of six months earlier had, ever so slightly, begun to lift.

			One clear, moonlit night that fall, Lois Adams, the reporter from Michigan, took in the view from the south side of the White House. Looking south and a little west, she likely enjoyed much the same view that Lincoln often had—one that stretched across the Mall and the river, toward the low hills of Virginia on the opposite shore. “Further on, the shadows of the great trees lie dark across the narrow neck leading to the broad plain beyond; look still further, beyond that plain, more than a mile away, and see that wide, flashing, darkening, brightening sweep of light rolling down along this side of the low, sullen Heights of Arlington. That is the Potomac,” she wrote.

			“The leaves of those old trees,” Adams added, “did quiver just now.”

		

	
		
			-Chapter Fifteen-

			Kidnapped

			In Richmond, the time to wait had come and gone.

			Food was growing scarcer and medicine was nearly impossible to find. Able-bodied boys and men were being pulled off the streets and sent into the ranks of the army. “Men, with exemptions in their pockets, going to or returning from market, have been seized by the Adjutant-General’s orders, and despotically hurried off without even being permitted to send a message to their families,” Confederate government clerk J. B. Jones scribbled in his diary. And the war news itself was far from promising—especially reports of the fall of Atlanta. “The people were not to be deceived by platitudes about ‘strategic purposes,’ or empty nothings about ‘a campaign to nullify it,’ ” wrote Thomas C. DeLeon, a Rebel officer. “They had gotten now beyond that; and saw the terrible blow that had been dealt them in all its naked strength.” Even the nomination of George McClellan as the Democratic candidate for the presidency of the United States, once seen as a harbinger of hope for a peaceful settlement of the war, had lost much of its luster.

			If the Confederacy was to survive, it needed to act, and act now.

			Much, in fact, was already in the works.
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			This time, Thomas Conrad, the Rebel spy, would not work alone.

			His fellow agent, Edward Norton, who had wormed his way onto the National Detective Bureau, would be involved. So, too, would another Confederate Secret Service agent, a twenty-seven-year-old Virginian named Daniel Mountjoy Cloud. Conrad and Cloud knew each other quite well. In the years before the war, they had roomed together at Dickinson College in Pennsylvania. And before he left Richmond, Conrad had been provided with a set of orders, signed by the Confederate secretary of war, instructing both Colonel John Singleton Mosby, the feared Rebel partisan leader, and Lieutenant Charles Cawood, who operated the Confederate signal station on the lower Potomac, to assist him in every way possible. In fact, Conrad’s mission was nothing less than to kidnap the president of the United States.

			Arriving in Washington in disguise on September 25, Conrad first had to figure out a way to get the job done. “I had to ascertain Mr. Lincoln’s customary movements first,” he later wrote, “and plan accordingly afterwards.” Of particular interest was the fact, well known to the Confederate intelligence network, that the President would sometimes ride alone, or be transported in a single carriage, between the White House and the Soldiers’ Home. Lafayette Square, across the street from the White House, proved to be an ideal observation post. Not only was the park often thronged with people, but its magnificent trees provided some cover. “My presence there at any hour of the day excited no comment or suspicion,” Conrad recalled. “I only had to discover when he left the White House; how long he was accustomed to stay; and the route he took in riding or driving.” Hours and days later, Conrad had discovered what he needed to know. “I learned that he usually left the President’s quarters in the cool of the evening on pleasant days, driving and accompanied in his private carriage straight out Fourteenth Street to Columbia Road.” From there, Lincoln would head east, through a patch of dense woods, straight on to the Soldiers’ Home.

			The woods were the key.

			After several days of debate, discussion, and observation, a plan emerged. Conrad and Norton, well armed and mounted on horseback, would tail the President’s carriage up Fourteenth Street until it turned east on Columbia Road. Cloud, driving a closed vehicle, would follow closely behind. “It was all planned out to the last detail,” Conrad wrote, “and the minute the driver of Mr. Lincoln’s equipage passed into the forest, he should be made to stop by means of a pistol at his head, and Mr. Lincoln, served in a similar manner, would be compelled to cross from his carriage to the close vehicle.” Lincoln would be bound and gagged and then driven by Cloud, who was “then to drive with all possible speed along the country roads through Maryland and to the point on the East shore of the Potomac, where it would be an easy matter to signal Lieutenant Cawood and his men and conduct the captured hostage through our lines to Richmond.” From there, and using Lincoln as a hostage, the Confederacy could bargain for peace—and independence.

			A Saturday was selected for the abduction.

			“We felt secure in the belief,” Conrad wrote, “that the author of the Emancipation Proclamation was almost as good as in our hands.”

			Now all they had to do was wait. Others, however, were already on the move.
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			Fall came to the Hudson River Valley in a hurry.

			Ripening apples grew heavy, leaves turned brilliant shades of red, yellow, and orange, and woodsmoke hung low on cool evenings. From Newburgh and Kingston to Kinderhook and Glens Falls, farm families were never busier, harvesting corn and wheat, filling root cellars with potatoes and turnips, and chopping and hauling wood for the winter ahead. In the cities and the towns, life carried on as usual. Stores opened and closed, letters were posted, neighbors chatted on sidewalks, town hall clocks struck the hour, and the occasional train, trailing smoke and cinders, rattled through on its way to Albany or Manhattan, Syracuse or Buffalo. On board one northbound train, on October 17, 1864, was John Wilkes Booth.

			That in itself was nothing unusual. Since giving his last performance of the season back in May, the actor had spent time in New York, Pennsylvania, Cleveland, Boston, Baltimore, and New London, Connecticut, visiting family and friends and seeing to business opportunities. Many theaters closed during the hot-weather months, and Booth, like other prominent actors, usually took the summers off. But this trip was different. Because, for the first time in his life, John Wilkes Booth was leaving the United States.
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			Perched along Great James Street across from L’Eglise de Notre-Dame de Montréal, the massive French cathedral, stood St. Lawrence Hall, the largest and perhaps the finest hotel in Montreal. Featuring, according to one promotional pamphlet, numerous “halls, dining-rooms, public parlors, suites of rooms for families and parties, with commodious rooms for gentlemen,” it was but a short walk from the Place d’Armes, the New Court House, the post office, the Bank of Montreal, the Merchants’ Exchange, and fashionable shops offering imported British and Continental lace and embroidery, as well as sable and mink coats, muffs, and hats. The five-story hotel, proudly flying the Union Jack, was also the central gathering place for Montreal’s sizable community of pro-Southern expatriates and refugees and the unofficial headquarters of the Confederate Secret Service.

			“Some twenty or thirty Southerners boarded at St. Lawrence Hall,” Hosea B. Carter, a Union detective, later testified, “and usually associated together, and very little with people who came there, either English or American.” Among them, according to hotel proprietor Henry Hogan, was a former Florida governor and friend of Jefferson Davis named James Westcott, who had moved to Canada in 1862. “He was a most bitter hater of everything ‘Yankee,’ ” Hogan added, “and thoroughly despised every soul from the North.” Other residents of St. Lawrence Hall included Beverley Tucker, an envoy for the Confederate government, and Luke Blackburn, a onetime Mississippi physician who would attempt to create a yellow fever epidemic in the North. Added to these was the Confederate spy chief in Canada, Jacob Thompson, who often came to Montreal from Toronto.
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			Booth arrived in Montreal on October 18, 1864.

			He checked into Room 150 at St. Lawrence Hall.

			He stayed in the city for nine days. Little is known about what he did, whom he saw, or what he talked about. He did take a bone-rattling sixteen-mile horseback ride in subzero weather. He read novels by Sir Walter Scott. And he chatted with Kate Horn, an Irish American actress, and her husband, John Buckland, the manager of the Theatre Royal. But he acted in no plays and gave no public readings. However, he did do other things.

			One individual whom Booth spent considerable time with was a rakish fifty-two-year-old political operative and Confederate agent named George Nicholas Sanders. Kentucky born and bred, Sanders had briefly served as the American consul in London during the 1850s. But his frequently underhanded methods and volatile opinions—Sanders had advocated for the assassination of Napoleon III and other crowned heads of Europe—stymied his career aspirations. When the war broke out, Sanders immediately joined the Rebel cause, serving as a Confederate agent for business transactions overseas. By 1864 he had relocated to Canada, where, among other activities, he had been the originator of the Rebel raid on St. Albans, Vermont. Following the death of his son, Reid, in a Union prisoner of war camp, Sanders’s long interest in—and advocacy of—assassination likely increased.

			John Deveny, a former Union infantry officer from Maryland who was living in Canada, later attested that Sanders and Booth connected in Montreal. “I was well acquainted with John Wilkes Booth,” he said. “The first time I saw him in Canada he was standing in the St. Lawrence Hotel, Montreal, talking with George N. Sanders. I believe that was in the month of October. They were talking confidentially and drinking together. I saw them go into Dowley’s and have a drink together. I also saw in Canada, at the same time, Jacob Thompson.”

			Booth consorted with another prominent Rebel during his stay in Montreal, Confederate Secret Service agent Patrick C. Martin. A former liquor dealer from Baltimore who was on personal terms with Jefferson Davis, Martin had been a blockade runner before relocating to Canada in 1862, where he helped ship goods to the South via Nova Scotia. Booth arranged with Martin to have some pieces of his theatrical wardrobe, as well as some books, papers, and other items, shipped South. And Martin accompanied Booth when he deposited some money in a Montreal bank. But clearly they discussed other matters, for Martin provided Booth with a letter of introduction to a physician in southern Maryland who was part of the Confederate underground that maintained the secret back route between Washington and Richmond.

			Reading between the lines, it isn’t difficult to surmise why John Wilkes Booth traveled to Montreal. While Booth was a true and impassioned Rebel partisan, the notion of planning and carrying out the kidnapping—or perhaps murder—of President Lincoln was something far outside his realm of experience as an actor and thus was assuredly someone else’s idea. But by August 1864, two weeks after his mysterious stay at the Parker House in Boston, Booth met with Sam Arnold and Michael O’Laughlen in Baltimore, where he asked them to join him in a plot to capture the American president. And even though Booth had performed only sporadically in Washington before then, he apparently came to the Baltimore meeting armed with detailed knowledge about Lincoln’s travel habits between the White House and the Soldiers’ Home—information he could have never gotten on his own.

			There was more.

			While Clara Morris, Booth’s actor friend, acknowledged that the idea of kidnapping President Lincoln might have appealed to his fiery, romantic nature, she was also well aware of the limits of his organizational skills. “I cannot believe that John Wilkes Booth was ‘the leader of a band of bloody conspirators!’ ” Morris later wrote. “I truly believe he was a tool, certainly he was no leader. Those who led him knew his courage, his belief in fate, his loyalty to his friends; and because they knew these things, he drew the lot, as it was meant he should from the first.”

			Before he departed Montreal, Booth had spent one boozy evening playing billiards. “On an evening during last fall, I believe in the early part of October, I was introduced to J. Wilkes Booth at St. Lawrence Hall in Montreal, and indulged in a friendly contest of billiards with him in the saloon of that establishment, which was continued to a late hour in the evening,” his opponent recalled some six months later. Alcohol had loosened the actor’s tongue more than usual, and the other player well remembered some of Booth’s remarks.

			One was “Do you know I have got the sharpest play laid out ever done in America—I can bag the biggest game this side of ———; just remember my address—you’ll hear of a double carom one of these days.”

			Then another: “By ———, I like your Canadian style; I must post myself in Canuck airs, for some of us devils may have to settle here shortly.”

			Finally, after the subject of the presidential election in the United States came up, Booth had this to say: “It made little d——d difference, head or tail—Abe’s contract was near up, and whether re-elected or not he would get his goose cooked.”

			John Wilkes Booth left Montreal on October 27, 1864. He had purchased train fare to Boston, but it didn’t really matter. Because, by now, he was on a whole different journey—one that was just getting started.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Sixteen-

			Election Day

			Tuesday, November 8, 1864.

			Election Day dawned wet and drizzly in Washington. Rain sloshed through the downspouts of government buildings, dripped off flags and banners, and puddled the cobblestone streets of Georgetown. Out on the Long Bridge, the sentries shifted back and forth beneath their slickers, while out on the Potomac itself, flurries of rain swirled on the slate-grey face of the river. It wasn’t the best morning to look for omens, but it was difficult not to. After all, due to the votes that were to be cast that day, nothing less than the fate of the United States hung in the balance.

			The vote itself was an immense enterprise.

			From fishing villages in Maine, Irish slums in Boston, and Quaker districts in Philadelphia, voting moved steadily westward, across the Alleghenies and the Appalachians, out upon the vast prairies of Indiana and Illinois, then beyond the Rockies to the rain-drenched Willamette Valley and the fog-shrouded hills of San Francisco. Polling locations and hours varied widely. In Gettysburg, Pennsylvania, where the scars of the battle were still plain as day nearly a year and a half later, voters cast their ballots in schoolhouses and private homes. In Chicago, voting was done in a grocery store, private businesses, and fire stations, while in Sacramento, saloons were a favored location. Some polls opened at eight o’clock, others at nine or ten. Some closed at seven p.m., others at sunset.

			Who was allowed to vote was more narrowly defined. It was white men.

			Women wouldn’t win the right to vote in the United States for decades to come.

			And while handfuls of property-owning Free Blacks had been allowed to vote in some Northern states before the war, African American suffrage had all but vanished. Even along the Pacific Coast, where the Black population was minuscule, laws had been passed to restrict voting solely to white males. And among newly naturalized citizens, especially those of German descent, would-be voters were urged to be prepared. “Every citizen of foreign birth should look up his papers, and take them with him to the polls to-morrow,” warned the Daily Register of Wheeling, West Virginia, of potential challenges by partisan officials at the polls. “Too much caution cannot be taken to defeat the purposes of such demagogues.”

			There were other hazards as well.

			Packs of hired men often loitered outside polls, hoping to swing votes toward their candidates. “Don’t Stop to Discuss,” cautioned the Hartford Courant. “Pass them by without notice. If they jeer or insult you, give no heed. It will only make the matter worse if you pay attention to them.” And in many places, whom one voted for was not at all secret, thus inviting retaliation.

			Then there was New York City.

			Here, the bad blood between the McClellan and Lincoln forces had dissipated not at all.

			Nine-year-old James Kelly, the son of a Scottish father and an Irish mother, lived in a tenement on Eighth Avenue off Fifty-Seventh Street. “On the morning of Election Day, I looked out the window and saw the polling for the first time,” he recalled. “The day was raw, cold, and rainy.” Slipping outside, Kelly worked his way to Hammond’s Grocery Store, the nearest poll, where thugs were swarming around incoming voters. “I peeped in the doorway. Along the counter were some large glass globes resembling those used for goldfish, only they were closed on the top,” he later wrote. “There was a slit in the top, through which was dropped the folded ballot. It could be seen as it fell into the globe. The room was filled with tobacco smoke, though I could dimly make out the glint of a policeman’s buttons.”

			But before Kelly could see more, he was suddenly swept aside by a gang of toughs. “I followed them to near Sixth Avenue, where they ran into another crowd, and began to pelt one another with stones,” Kelly recalled. “The air seemed full of them, like a flock of swallows. As they flew around me, I crouched behind an ash barrel, near the northwest corner, to dodge them. Then a shot rang out.”

			Kelly zigzagged across the street to get a closer look.

			A man had been shot in the chest and was lying in the street, moaning, his shirt red with blood. “I watched him long enough to impress the scene vividly upon me; when, hustled aside by the crowd, I trotted homeward, joining the other boys.” Kelly was soon back home.

			“The short November day,” he added, “began to darken.”
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			Two hundred miles to the south, Tad Lincoln had also been busy.

			Alert and attentive, he had surely sensed his parents’ anxiety over what might or might not happen that day. And because the weather outside was so wet and dreary, he would likely be stuck inside the White House all day long, taking breaks to look out the window. Early that afternoon, something caught his eye. Bounding into his father’s office, Tad insisted that he come and see something. Tad then took his father by the hand and led him to a window at the rear of the mansion, where, below them, Tad’s beloved members of the 150th Pennsylvania, Company K, were “voting for Lincoln.” And indeed they were. The vote tally for Company K was Lincoln 65, McClellan 0.

			As he stood with Tad at the window, Lincoln noticed something else.

			Mingling among the Bucktails was Tad’s pet turkey, Jack.

			“Does he vote?” the President asked.

			“No,” replied Tad. “He is not of age.”
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			Meanwhile, across the nation, the election continued, state by state, hour by hour.

			In Keokuk, Iowa, a Mississippi river town at the southernmost tip of the state, five Republican committee members stationed themselves at each of the polls to guard against any attempts at illegal voting, while five others went door-to-door in the city’s four precincts drumming up every single vote. In Maine and New Hampshire, sunburned farmers and soot-streaked mechanics and blacksmiths made their way to town halls to vote on behalf of their brothers, sons, and fathers in Union blue, while in Kentucky and Tennessee, where memories of Rebel raids were still fresh, their fellow countrymen flocked to the polls. But even those who could not vote had a stake in the outcome. Irish-born cooks and ladies’ maids hoped that a McClellan victory would end this horrible war, while in contraband camps and alleyways in Washington, former slaves prayed for the President. Caroline Johnson of Philadelphia, who had once been enslaved, told Lincoln, “Mr. President, I believe that God has hewn you out of a rock, for this great and mighty purpose.” Even in the most remote parts of the western frontier, in mining camps and isolated ranches, where it would take days—and riders on horseback—for the news of how they voted to reach the outside world, the imperfect wheels of democracy were turning as never before.
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			President Lincoln fidgeted all day.

			“About this thing I am very far from being certain,” he told his friend Noah Brooks. “I wish I were certain.”

			Around seven o’clock that evening, Lincoln made the short walk from the White House to the telegraph room at the War Department to monitor the returns. Only there was a problem. It was the weather. Wind and sheets of rain falling from the Great Lakes to Chesapeake Bay had played havoc with the telegraph lines, delaying reports of the vote. “Late in the evening I returned to the White House, and found that the only returns then received were from Indiana,” Brooks recalled, “which showed that a gain of 1500 had been made in Indianapolis for the Republican ticket.” There were also scattered reports from New York and elsewhere, but nothing definitive. “The wires continued to work badly on account of the long storm.”

			Finally, around midnight, there was some real news.

			“Pennsylvania, the New England States, Maryland, Ohio, Indiana, Michigan and Wisconsin were tolerably certain for Lincoln,” Brooks wrote. There was still nothing definitive from either Illinois or Iowa, but the trend was clear. Barring catastrophe, the President had been elected to a second term. Not long thereafter, over the din of the receivers in the telegraph room, a different kind of sound could be heard. Coming from the direction of Lafayette Square, it was the sound of human voices. They were singing the “Battle Hymn of the Republic.”
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			After a supper of fried oysters at two a.m., Abraham Lincoln finally went to bed.

			Positioned on the floor outside of his bedroom door in the White House was Ward Hill Lamon, Lincoln’s old friend and United States marshal, who had appointed himself as Lincoln’s personal bodyguard. A burly and physically imposing man, Hill was armed with both a bowie knife and a brace of pistols. He had good reason to be.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Seventeen-

			Memento Mori

			Death had stalked Abraham Lincoln his entire life.

			It had slipped through doorways and lingered by bedsides.

			Now, perhaps, it was but a face in a crowd.

			But whatever form it had taken, it had come early, and it had come often.

			His mother, Nancy Hanks, died when he was nine years old. One year later, he nearly joined her when a horse kicked him in the head so hard that his father was convinced that his son would not make it through the night. His baby brother, Thomas, died in infancy, while his sister, Sarah, passed three weeks shy of her twenty-first birthday. During the summer of 1835, when Lincoln was twenty-seven, an outbreak of what was known as “bilious fever” swept across central Illinois, killing his friends and neighbors.

			“There were no undertakers. No caskets were kept on hand,” recorded Henry B. Rankin. “Coffins had to be made by hand after the death; and in a few instances he had assisted in making them.” Then, on August 25, Lincoln experienced one of the supreme tragedies of his life when Ann Rutledge, his beloved friend and first sweetheart, died of the fever as well, sending Lincoln into a deep depression. Even by the harsh logic of the frontier, where infant mortality and early deaths were common, he had suffered far more than most.

			When Lincoln had found success as a lawyer and a politician, the specter of death still hovered near. In February 1850, after serving one term in Congress, he and Mary buried their second son, Edward, who died at age three. “We lost our little boy,” Lincoln wrote to his stepbrother, John D. Johnston. “He was sick fiftytwo days & died the morning of the first day of this month.”

			Twelve years later, in 1862, tragedy knocked again.

			The Lincolns’ second-oldest son, Willie, age eleven, was the spitting image of his father. “Will was the true picture of Mr. Lincoln, in every way,” recalled a neighbor from back in Springfield, “even to carrying his head slightly inclined toward his left shoulder.” High-spirited and mischievous, yet also sweet, he was a dedicated young horseman, one who insisted on riding his horse every day. But one day he came back from a ride chilled to the bone. “The weather was changeable, and exposure resulted in a severe cold, which deepened into a fever, and I was summoned to his bedside,” Elizabeth Keckly later wrote. “It was sad to see the poor boy suffer. Always of a delicate constitution, he could not resist the strong inroads of the disease.” Physicians were summoned, treatments administered, but nothing worked. In the end Willie no longer recognized his father. “He lingered a few days,” Keckly added, “and died.”

			After Keckly helped to wash and dress Willie’s corpse, she was there when the President came into the room. “I never saw a man so bowed down with grief,” she said. “I did not dream that his rugged nature could be so moved. I shall never forget those solemn moments.”

			“Mrs. Lincoln’s grief,” Keckly added, “was inconsolable.”
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			Then there were the death threats.

			They were nothing new. On his way to be inaugurated in early 1861, President-elect Lincoln had to be secretly whisked through Baltimore at night because of the very real possibility that he would be murdered. During the early years of the war, it later came out, a blind man named Samuel P. Jones used to wander the streets of Richmond, listening to the conversations of citizens and soldiers alike. More than once he heard talk of murdering the American president. “I heard a citizen make the remark once,” Jones said, “that he would give from his private purse $10,000, in addition to the Confederate amount, to have the President assassinated,—to bring him to Richmond, dead or alive, for proof.” According to Jones, assassinating Lincoln was also a popular topic among Confederate military personnel. “The rebel officers, as they would be sitting around their tent-doors, would be conversing on such a subject a great deal. They would be saying they would like to see his head brought there, dead or alive, and they should think it could be done; and I have heard such things stated as that they had certain persons undertaking it.”

			By the second half of 1864, however, the talk of killing Lincoln had burst out into the open, especially in Copperhead circles. Referring to Lincoln’s candidacy in the upcoming presidential election, the La Crosse Democrat had some blunt words. “And if he is elected,” the newspaper wrote on August 20, “for another four years, we trust some bold hand will pierce his heart with a dagger point for the public good.” Another Wisconsin newspaper reached a similar conclusion. “History shows several instances where people have only been saved by the assassination of their leaders, and history may repeat itself in this country,” ran an article in the Beaver Dam Argus. “The time may come when it will be absolutely necessary that the people do away with such rulers the quickest way possible.”

			Forebodings over an attempt being made on the President’s life increased with the fall. In a letter addressed to Secretary of State William H. Seward on November 2, 1864, it was stated that “there is great reason to fear that Lincoln will be assassinated soon.” That same month, David Homer Bates later wrote, “A photograph of Lincoln had been received by the mail which showed red ink-spots on the shirt front, with a rope around the neck, the ends being drawn tautly upward.”

			Then, in New York City, a thirty-three-year-old widow named Mary Hudspeth was riding the Third Avenue streetcar with one of her daughters when she took notice of two other passengers, both men, who were engaged in conversation. “They were talking most earnestly,” she recalled. “One of them said he would leave for Washington the day after to-morrow, and the other was going to Newburg or Newbern that night.” But as the men got up to leave the car, Hudspeth noticed that one of the men was wearing a disguise. “The man that was sitting near me pushed his hat forward, and with that pushed his whiskers at the same time; they were false whiskers. The front-face was much darker than it was under the whiskers.”

			Nor was that all. For after the two men left, Hudspeth’s daughter picked up an envelope that they had dropped. Inside were two letters. “The time has at last come that we have all so wished for, and upon you every thing depends,” read one of the letters, “and you are to be the Charlotte Corday of the nineteenth century. When you remember the fearful, solemn vow that was taken by us, you will fear there is no drawback; Abe must die, and now.” The letter was signed Charles Selby—a pseudonym. “Strike for your home, strike for your country; bide your time, but strike sure.” Hudspeth gave the letters to the police, who then forwarded them on to the White House and, in time, to Lincoln himself. “He seemed to have attached more importance to these papers than to others of the kind,” Charles Dana later recalled, “for I found them inclosed in an envelope marked in his own handwriting, ‘Assassination.’ ”

			These were not the only threats.

			Rebel soldiers had long sung the line “We’ll hang Abe Lincoln from a sour apple tree.” Others were much more proactive. John Cantley, a printer for the Selma Dispatch, later testified that his paper ran an advertisement four or five times in late 1864 in which, for a million dollars—“cash or good securities”—the advertiser guaranteed that the life of Abraham Lincoln would be taken by March 1. “This will give us peace,” the notice stated, “and satisfy the world that cruel tyrants cannot live in a land of liberty.” In Canada, Confederate representative George Nicholas Sanders even boasted in December 1864 about what the Rebels were planning. Speaking to a reporter for the London Daily Telegraph, Sanders declared, “In fact, Sir, we shall do such deeds within the next three months as shall make European civilization shudder.”
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			You are in danger.

			Thus wrote Ward Hill Lamon, the de facto head of Lincoln’s security detail, to the President at one thirty in the morning on December 10. “And you know, or ought to know, that your life is sought after, and will be taken unless you and your friends are cautious; for you have many enemies within our lines.” Lamon went on to scold the President for recently attending a play in Washington accompanied only by a cabinet member and a foreign minister, “neither of whom could defend himself against any able-bodied woman in this city.”

			In truth, danger was everywhere. While members of the 150th Pennsylvania Bucktails were on hand to protect the White House from a military attack, the Executive Mansion was far from secure. People, chiefly seekers of government jobs, flocked in and out of the White House all day long, sometimes wandering into areas that were supposed to be off-limits. One morning in March 1864, a man had even slipped past the doorkeeper and burst into Lincoln’s room, where he began haranguing the President, claiming that he was the actual and true president of the United States. Had the man been carrying a gun, the war may have turned out much differently.

			Part of the problem was Lincoln himself.

			Not only had he been supremely embarrassed by the fact that he had been snuck into Washington back in 1861, but, with a few exceptions, he found it difficult to believe that there were individuals out there who desperately wanted to kill him and that, when their moment of decision came, they would be willing to pull the trigger. “He had a sublime faith in human nature,” Lamon later wrote, adding that the President could be “singularly indifferent as to his personal safety.”

			In one instance, at least, some of the danger to Lincoln had indeed passed. For by the middle of November, Thomas Conrad called off his plan to abduct the President. Lincoln no longer rode alone between the White House and the Soldiers’ Home, but instead traveled with an armed military escort. The time to kidnap the President, Conrad had concluded, had passed.

			Other plans, however, were afoot.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Eighteen-

			Autumn in New York

			The planning had gone on for weeks.

			Maps had been pored over, locations selected, money allocated. On October 26, a frosty fall morning, John Headley, Robert Martin, Robert Cobb Kennedy, and five other Rebel agents boarded a southbound train in Montreal. The men, who were all traveling under aliases, had split off into pairs and, to any other travelers, did not appear to know each other. Two days later, along with their trunks, they arrived in New York City. Headley and Martin checked into the St. Denis Hotel, on Broadway at Eleventh Street, but moved a couple of days later to a furnished room off the north side of Union Square. They then met with their local contact, James A. McMaster, the Copperhead editor of the New-York Freeman’s Journal and Catholic Register, an anti-Lincoln weekly, to discuss the operation.

			It was, to say the least, breathtaking.

			On Election Day, November 8, Confederate agents would set fire to New York, Chicago, Boston, Buffalo, and other cities. In the ensuing panic, armed Copperhead organizations would seize control of the local governments. The governor of New York, it was believed, would not put down the rebellion in Democrat-heavy Manhattan, while plans were afoot for Illinois, Indiana, and other midwestern states to secede from the Union and form a northwestern confederacy. Lincoln would thus be forced to negotiate, and the Confederacy would be safe. In one fell swoop, the war would be over. The eight Rebel agents from Montreal were about to play a leading role in the biggest coup ever to take place in America. What they didn’t know was that the White House had already caught wind of their plans.

			During the late summer or early fall, a Union spy working as a Confederate courier had carefully opened one of the messages he was to deliver. “Our despatch-bearer reported one day at the War Department with a document which, he said, was of extraordinary consequence,” Charles Dana wrote. The message, which was in code, was quickly deciphered. “It was found to contain an account of a scheme for setting fire to New York and Chicago by means of clock-work machines that were to be placed in several of the large hotels and places of amusement,” Dana explained, “and to be set off simultaneously.” The fires would quickly overwhelm the local fire departments and, with a little luck, “these cities might be greatly damaged, or even destroyed.” The message was resealed, and the courier was sent on his way.

			At first, it all seemed too far-fetched to be true.

			Nonetheless, precautions were taken, and the authorities in New York were notified.

			Plainclothes New York police detectives began haunting the city’s largest hotels, paying special attention to visitors from Canada. Then, on Tuesday, November 1, exactly one week before Election Day, the United States consul in Halifax, Nova Scotia, telegraphed Secretary of State William Seward that “it is secretly asserted by secessionists here that plans have been formed and carried into execution by the rebels and their allies, for setting fire to the principal cities in the Northern States on the day of the Presidential election.” By the end of the week, not only had notice of possible Rebel arson attacks been printed in New York newspapers, but the sudden appearance of General Benjamin Butler in town gave credence to the rumors that ten thousand Union troops were on their way to Manhattan to protect the city.

			“The leaders in our conspiracy were at once demoralized,” Headley recalled. Soon there was even worse news for the Confederate agents. The day before the election, several Copperhead leaders were arrested in Chicago, while on Election Day itself, no fires were set in New York, Chicago, or any other Northern city. Nevertheless, the agents from Montreal were still determined to act. Only now McMasters, the Copperhead editor, refused to go along. “The more we insisted on the attempt in New York, the weaker McMasters became,” Headley recalled. “Finally, after repeated interviews Mr. McMasters decided to withdraw from any further connection with the proposed revolution when it was foredoomed to failure.” They were now on their own.

			The weather, meanwhile, had grown colder. On November 15 the first snow of the season fell across New York, dusting windowsills and wrought iron fences and disappearing into the grey-green waters of the East River and the reservoir in Central Park. And while winter had not yet officially begun, the cold temperatures and shortened nights drove more and more people indoors. “In the city there is not much sleighing,” observed the Herald. “We have in our gay city parties and soirees, our dancing and musical festivals, our balls, theatres—above all, our blessed Opera.” But for the Rebel agents, the coming of cold weather might also mean something else.

			More visitors to the city. And with them, more victims.
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			The chemist had his office in the basement of a town house on West Washington Place. One block from Washington Square, here was one of the most serene neighborhoods in the city, an oasis of tidy sidewalks, leafy elms, and bright brass doorknobs. John Headley rapped on the door and was admitted inside. He asked the heavyset bearded man behind the counter, as had been arranged, for a certain piece of baggage. It was a valise, nearly two and a half feet long. Headley carried it up and out onto the sidewalk and began walking east. The case was extremely cumbersome. “I had to change hands every ten steps to carry it,” he later remembered. “No carriage was in sight. I had not expected the valise to be so heavy.”

			Packed inside were 144 sealed glass bottles, each of which held approximately four ounces of clear liquid. Known as Greek fire, it was likely a deadly mixture of phosphorus and carbon disulfide. Exposed to air for a brief number of minutes, it would spontaneously ignite and set on fire anything combustible that it came in contact with. Inspired by historic accounts of similar substances being used in the seventh-century Mediterranean, both British and American chemists had been working in the years before and during the Civil War to invent modern versions of the legendary incendiary, the results of which were often reported by Scientific American magazine. And once the war broke out, the Confederacy joined in the hunt for an effective form of Greek fire as well.

			But for now, on that brisk autumn day, John Headley’s main problem was getting his supply of incendiary to a safe house. Sweating beneath his wool suit and stopping from time to time to catch his breath, he lugged the forty-plus-pound leather valise east through Washington Square, then past Greene and Mercer, all the way to the Bowery, where he boarded a horse-drawn streetcar headed north. “The car was crowded and I had to put the valise in front of me on the floor in the passway, as the seats ran full length on each side of the car,” Headley wrote. “I soon began to smell a peculiar odor—a little like rotten eggs—and I noticed the passengers were conscious of the same presence. But I sat unconcerned until my getting off place was reached, when I took up the valise and went out.” As Headley left the streetcar, a passenger remarked that “there must be something dead” in there.

			Headley made it to the safe house, up near Central Park. The others were waiting for him, and they all excitedly examined the contents of the case. “We were now ready,” Headley later wrote, “to create a sensation in New York.”

		

	
		
			-Chapter Nineteen-

			Fire

			It was the talk of the season.

			For the first time, all three Booth brothers—Edwin, Junius Jr., and John Wilkes, actors all—would, for one night only, perform together on a New York stage. They were scheduled to appear in Julius Caesar on Friday evening, November 25, 1864, and word of the performance, which was a benefit to raise money for a statue of Shakespeare to be erected in Central Park, spread like wildfire. “It is not necessary to flourish many trumpets over a performance like this,” observed the New York Herald. “The house will be one of the most densely crowded ever seen.” The manager of the Winter Garden Theatre—on Broadway, opposite Bond Street—where the play was to be performed, began squeezing in additional seats in the orchestra.

			By half past seven that Friday evening, the Winter Garden was packed. “An immense audience filled the building from parquet to dome,” ran one report. And as the production opened with the scene featuring Caesar and the soothsayer who bid him to “beware the Ides of March,” a profound quiet fell over the audience. “An intense interest was manifested in the play by the large assemblage,” the Herald reported, “and utmost quiet prevailed.” Playing off each other—with Junius as Cassius, Edwin as Brutus, and John Wilkes as Marc Antony—the three brothers dazzled the house. “Only English cities could hope to rival us in this,” ran one review, “and England does not now possess three tragedians, or even one, comparable to any one of the Booths.”

			But about eighty minutes into the play, after Caesar had been murdered, the atmosphere inside the Winter Garden suddenly shifted. Some sort of commotion was taking place on the street outside the theater, seemingly from the hotel next door. The noises kept getting louder and louder. Then somebody smelled smoke.

			

			
				[image: ]
			

			In the days leading up to, and including, November 25, at more than a dozen of the city’s finer hotels, a certain scene had been repeated. A lone white male, often in his twenties, sometimes older, would present himself at the front desk, where he would ask for a room. Nicely dressed and unfailingly polite, the men signed the guest registers with a variety of names, all common—William Warren from Schenectady, C. I. Harrison from New Jersey, J. T. Allen of Albany, J. B. Richardson from Camden, W. L. Haines from Ohio. Each of them had small black leather cases, which they insisted on carrying up to their rooms. Some wanted lodging for up to a week, others for just a night or so.

			The men were rarely seen again.

			At Lovejoy’s Hotel, on Park Row near City Hall, a chambermaid later told the police that a Mr. Warren had slept in the bed only one night. “She only has a faint recollection,” the Herald later reported, “and describes him as rather a tall man, gentlemanly dressed, and having with him a small leather travelling bag.” At the St. Nicholas, the palatial, six-hundred-room hotel on Broadway between Spring and Broome Streets, Mr. Harrison had not been seen since the day he registered. On the evening of November 25, a young man asked for a room at the United States Hotel on Water Street. “He was very respectably dressed and seemed very anxious to retire as soon as possible. After paying for his room he was shown up by one of the bell boys,” it was later reported. “He registered his name as C. E. Morse, Rochester, N.Y. He had with him a small black leather bag, which was found in the room, and, upon examination, proved to contain nothing but a paper collar. He has not been seen since.”

			That same day, in another part of town, John Headley, Robert Martin, Robert Cobb Kennedy, and the others gathered for one final meeting. There were only six of them now, as two other agents, who had come to New York separately, had disappeared. The worry was that they had been arrested, and if that was true, Headley and his fellow conspirators were in even more danger.

			It was time to act. Tonight. Now.
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			Rising along Broadway next to St. Paul’s Chapel, the Astor House was the first luxury hotel in America. Built by fur trade mogul John Jacob Astor and constructed with blue Quincy granite, the five-story hotel featured servants’ quarters, gas lamps, and running water. There was even a printing press in the basement to produce daily menus for the separate men’s and women’s restaurants. William James was born at the Astor, Henry Wadsworth Longfellow and Frances Elizabeth Appleton spent part of their honeymoon there, and Thurlow Weed helped to direct Lincoln’s 1864 presidential campaign from his suite at the hotel. Grand, and suitably Republican, it was a perfect target.

			John Headley checked into his room at the Astor, a lower corner chamber, a little past seven p.m. on Friday, November 25. The sun was just setting, and the carriage traffic was still brisk up and down Broadway. Once the sky had darkened, he got to work. “After lighting the gas jet I hung the bedclothes loosely on the headboard and piled the chairs, drawers of the bureau, and washstand on the bed. Then stuffed some newspapers about among the mass and poured a bottle of turpentine over it all,” Headley later wrote, creating what he hoped would be part of a funeral pyre for the largest city in America. But he hesitated before adding the Greek fire. Not knowing how quickly it would ignite, or whether it “would make a noise or not,” or whether “I might have to get out in a hurry,” he first unlocked the door to his room.

			Then came time for the final step.

			“I opened the bottle carefully and quickly and spilled it on the pile of rubbish. It blazed up instantly and the whole bed seemed to be in flames before I could get out,” he recalled. “I locked the door and walked down the hall and stairway to the office, which was fairly crowded with people. I left the key at the office as usual.” Out on the street, Headley picked up his pace. He had three more hotels to set ablaze.
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			The others, meanwhile, had also been busy. Martin had rented rooms at the Fifth Avenue, St. Denis, Hoffman House, and two additional hotels, while the other agents had targeted the Howard, Belmont House, Tammany, Lovejoy’s, Brandreth House, St. Nicholas, Metropolitan, Lafarge House, Gramercy Park, and St. James hotels. All told, nineteen hotels had been selected for fiery destruction, stretching from Wall Street all the way to Madison Square. If successful, the multiple arson attacks would quickly overwhelm the city’s fire department and create an inferno that could destroy the dense heart of Manhattan.

			Most of the fires were set in the same way. Sheets and linens were piled upon the bed, as were chairs, cabinet drawers, and other flammable items. One Confederate agent also scattered blocks of highly flammable resin around the rooms, while another positioned rifle cartridges in such a manner that they would explode and send projectiles in various directions. Most of the agents doused the beds with turpentine before adding the Greek fire, then quickly left the hotel.

			The first fire broke out at the St. James Hotel at 8:43 p.m.

			Twelve minutes later, fires were discovered in rooms 138, 139, 140, and 174 of the St. Nicholas, a massive hotel at 515 Broadway that featured magnificent chandeliers and candelabras, a telegraph office in the bar room, and beds for one thousand.

			Guests at the Lafarge House were informed of a fire at 9:20 p.m.

			Forty minutes after that, a fire broke out at the Metropolitan Hotel.

			By then, fire bells were ringing up and down Broadway. The city was under attack.
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			Robert Cobb Kennedy, meanwhile, took matters a step further. After setting fires at three hotels, he slipped inside P. T. Barnum’s American Museum. The most popular public attraction in all of New York, drawing in as many as fifteen thousand paying customers per day, the museum was a five-story wonderland of history and hokum, natural wonders, and sideshow curiosities. Visitors could marvel at ventriloquists and sword swallowers, exotic dancers and living statuary, jugglers and a wax museum. In huge glass tanks filled with seawater pumped directly from New York Bay swam whales and sharks. There were dioramas from the Bible, dog shows, and cute-baby contests. In a cavernous three-tiered theater known as the Lecture Hall, audiences could thrill to dances performed by American Indians or to the antics of Commodore Nutt, a thirty-inch-tall entertainer who would arrive onstage in a miniature English walnut carriage pulled by a team of Shetland ponies. Packed from morning until night, Barnum’s wonder palace thrilled families, who sometimes spent the entire day inside.

			Once inside the museum, Kennedy located a vacant staircase, opened up a vial of Greek fire, and emptied its contents onto the wooden stairs, setting them on fire. By the time Kennedy hit the exit and blended in with the crowds on the sidewalks, the first screams could be heard inside the Lecture Hall.
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			At a little after nine o’clock, after setting fire to his room at the United States Hotel, near the East River, John Headley decided to walk back to the Astor House to see how his first fire was doing. “As I came back to Broadway it seemed that a hundred bells were ringing, great crowds were gathering on the street, and there was general consternation,” he later wrote. “There was no panic at the Astor House, but to my surprise a great crowd was pouring out of Barnum’s Museum…. The surging crowds were frantic.” Patrons were pouring out of second- and third-story windows on ladders.

			Headley then kept working his way west, to the North River wharf on the Hudson below Canal Street: “The vessels and barges of every description were lying along close together and not more than twenty yards from the street. I picked dark spots to stand in, and jerked a bottle in six different places. They were ablaze before I left. One had struck a barge of baled hay and made a big fire. There were wild scenes here the last time I looked back.” Walking back to Broadway, Headley found a city in chaos, with great crowds spilling out into the streets. “There was the wildest excitement imaginable,” he wrote. “There was all sorts of talk about hanging the rebels to lamp posts or burning them at the stake.” Three hundred miles from Richmond, the people of the North were under assault. The Confederate terror war was now in full flower.
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			But something was not right.

			While more than a dozen fires had been set, not a single hotel in the city had been burned to the ground. “The fires,” Headley later wrote, “had been put out in all the places as easily as any ordinary fire.” At the Belmont Hotel on Fulton Street, the management broke into a room on the third floor when smoke was seen issuing from the door and quickly doused the smoldering fire inside. At the posh Fifth Avenue Hotel across from Madison Square, a Rebel agent had soaked bedding and furniture with Greek fire. But it was only the next morning, when a porter opened the door to the room and “supplied the necessary air, [that] the piles ignited,” the New York Times reported. The fire was quickly put out.

			The same was the case all over town.

			At the Winter Garden Theatre, the audience and cast of Julius Caesar had calmly filed out into the street when smoke had been smelled coming from the Lafarge House next door. Once the fire there had been extinguished, the crowd traipsed back into the theater and the Booth brothers finished their performance.

			The Confederate arsonists had made a crucial mistake. They had neglected to open the windows in the hotel rooms where they spread their Greek fire, and without adequate oxygen the fires had not come fully to life. “So far as we could learn, the programme had been carried out,” Headley remembered, “but it appeared that all had made a failure.”

			Now there was a new problem.

			The New York Police Department, which had at first been skeptical of reports that the Rebels were planning to burn down their city, now had no doubts whatsoever about who the culprits were. Detectives fanned out across Manhattan, interviewing hotel staff and collecting descriptions of the phantom hotel guests. “In due time,” the New York Times declared, “the detectives will undoubtedly succeed in capturing most of the guilty parties concerned.” The Union army was soon involved as well. “If they are detected,” declared Major General John A. Dix, “they will immediately be brought before a court-martial or military commission, and, if convicted, they will be executed without the delay of a single day.”
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			The next morning, Headley and Martin sat down to breakfast at a restaurant off Twelfth Street, where they picked up copies of the Herald, World, Times, and Tribune. Not surprisingly, the lead stories were about the arson attacks. But what was more troubling came further down in the articles. “All our fictitious names registered at the different hotels were given and interviews with the clerks described us all,” Headley learned. “The clerk of the United States Hotel especially gave a minute description of my personal appearance, clothing, manners and actions.”

			If they remained in New York any longer, chances were good that they would be arrested. But it was also clear that the authorities would be watching the ferries and railroad stations. At a meeting that evening, it was decided that they must leave the city at once. It was discovered that a New York Central train was leaving that night for Albany at eleven o’clock, and tickets were purchased. But they also learned that they could board the train early. “We slipped into the sleeping-car at 9 o’clock,” Headley later wrote. “We believed anyhow that all the policemen could not have a knowledge of us and our greatest fear was from detectives.”

			Their instinct proved correct. Peeking out from their sleeping berths just before eleven o’clock, Headley noticed that “there was a great crowd about the station and a number of men occasionally chatting, that we felt sure were detectives. They scrutinized every passenger that entered the train.” The Confederate agents were resolved to fight it out if the detectives came on board. “But to our great relief,” Headley added, “the train pulled out on time.”

			They spent the night in Albany. The next evening, they were on a train to Canada.

			They hadn’t burned down New York. But they had sent a message.

			And they had lived to fight another day.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Twenty-

			This Flag Is Your Flag

			The war was different now.

			What had begun as a seemingly Napoleonic armed conflict, with neat squares of infantry, dressed in colorful finery, facing off across open fields, had turned into the mud and grime of the trenches outside Petersburg and the crazed, chaotic slaughter at the Wilderness. At first largely the domain of professional soldiers, the American Civil War had become a struggle waged by entire societies, fought in large measure by conscripts and draftees. The stated goals of each side had changed as well. While the Confederates maintained that theirs was a just war of independence, to live their lives as their parents and grandparents had before them, the war aims of the North had been transformed from a war whose sole aim was to preserve the Union to something much larger. Slavery had always been the underlying cause of the war, but by issuing the Emancipation Proclamation on January 1, 1863, President Lincoln had turned the cause of the loyal citizens of the North and West into a war both to preserve the Union and to end slavery.

			There was another major change as well.

			Black soldiers had joined the Union army.

			This had not happened easily. Within days after the outbreak of the war, Free Blacks in Boston, Providence, and New York City had organized militias, while Frederick Douglass, an escaped slave from Maryland who had become a leading voice of Black America, pushed for the recruitment of African American troops, only to run into significant opposition.

			For even though only a tiny percentage of African Americans lived in the North, white racism was far from uncommon there. Many whites felt that Blacks had neither the intellectual capability nor the backbone to make good soldiers. Others, like President Lincoln, worried that the enlistment of African American troops would drive states such as Maryland—which, while loyal, were also slave states—into the arms of the Confederacy. It was not until after the horrific Union casualties at Antietam in the fall of 1862 that the federal government finally relented and called for the creation of all-Black regiments. The following summer, the 54th Massachusetts Volunteer Infantry Regiment, with their inspired assault against Rebel-held Fort Wagner on the coast of South Carolina, shattered notions of African American cowardice. “The decision of our destiny is now in our hands,” Douglass declared, rallying Black men to enlist in the Union army. “The chance is now given us.”

			Rally they did.

			Now, one year later, tens of thousands of Black soldiers were a vital component in the Union war effort. They had fought the Confederates at Port Hudson and Milliken’s Bend, Louisiana, at Olustee, Florida, and at Honey Springs in the far-off Indian Territory. They had marched hundreds of miles, suffered from disease and dysentery, and had killed and had been killed. “Kill the goddamned sons of bitches!” screamed a Rebel officer at the charge of a Black regiment outside of Jacksonville, only to be immediately dropped by a well-aimed shot. “The Johnny Reb,” wrote an unnamed soldier of the 55th Massachusetts, “will find out that n——s won’t die so fast.” Before the end of 1864, twenty-three African American soldiers would win the Medal of Honor.

			Moreover, Black troops fought despite being paid less than their white counterparts, having to serve under white officers, and not being recognized by Rebel soldiers as prisoners of war. At the battle of Fort Pillow in Tennessee, troops under the command of Confederate general Nathan Bedford Forrest bayoneted to death nearly two hundred overwhelmed Black Union troops as they attempted to surrender. And that was far from the only incident of its kind. Outside of Petersburg, some Black soldiers taken prisoner were then lynched.

			Nevertheless, by the following spring, more than one hundred and fifty thousand former slaves and Free Blacks would be clad in Union blue. And nowhere would African American soldiers prove to be more important than in Virginia. While not every Union general sought out all-Black units, Ulysses S. Grant did. Once he took command of the war in the East, thousands of African American troops were transferred to the front in Virginia. It is estimated that along the Petersburg line, one out of every five Union soldiers was Black. They were fighting for their wives and children, parents and grandparents, both for those still held in bondage and for those who had found a shaky handhold of freedom in the North. And they were fighting to end slavery once and for all in America.

			That, and something else as well.

			“Once let the black man get upon his person the brass letters, U.S.; let him get an eagle on his button, and a musket on his shoulder, and bullets in his pocket,” said Frederick Douglass, and “there is no power on the earth or under the earth which can deny that he has earned the right of citizenship in the United States.”
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			The United States Colored Troops, or U.S.C.T., had become the pride of Black America.

			But African American women had also embraced the martial cause.

			All across the North, in churches and schoolrooms, businesses and private homes, they had rallied to their menfolk, raising money, sewing flags, and, above all, encouraging enlistments. “Let our maidens vie with each other in urging the young men forward to their duties,” declared the Weekly Anglo-African, while a Pennsylvania congressman told Black women “that you would rather marry the wooden-leg and empty sleeve jacket of a war-worn hero than a man who might require you to tuck him in during every thunderstorm.”

			Not only were African American women indispensable to recruitment efforts, but once their fathers and husbands and brothers were in uniform, they suffered dearly for the cause of the Union. If married, they were now denied their husbands’ regular income and subject to inevitable delays in receiving any of their military pay. Thus forced to make do with less, they had to find ways to somehow feed their children and keep them warm with even fewer pennies than before, all the while working themselves. Also denied the bounties and state pay that the families of white soldiers often received, African American women had to face the winter of 1864 with weary feet and hungry children. Rosanna Henson, a New Jersey woman whose husband was fighting with the 22nd U.S.C.T., wrote to President Lincoln on July 11, 1864, that her husband “has not received any pay since last May and then only thirteen dollars…. I have four children to support and I find this a great struggle. A hard life this! I being a [colored] woman do not get any State pay. Yet my husband is fighting for the country.”

			They were as well.
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			Alexandria, Virginia. August 1, 1864. A Monday.

			Just under a mile west of the Potomac, dozens of African American men and women, most dressed in their Sunday best, gathered on the sidewalk and spilled onto the edge of Prince Street. Standing nearby, in perfect formation, was a detachment of U.S. Colored Troops from the Ninth Army’s Colored Division, their rifles shouldered. The morning was already hot and muggy, and more than a few parasols had appeared among the crowd. But no one seemed to mind. Because, for the African American population of this aged river port, this was to be a day of celebration. For upon this date, exactly thirty-one years earlier, slavery had been abolished in the British West Indies, which the Weekly Anglo-African noted was “a day of great interest to every colored American.”

			To commemorate this event, there would be speeches and a meal, the dedication of a new L’Ouverture Hospital, named in honor of Toussaint L’Ouverture, the Black liberator of Haiti, and the presentation of a new American flag to the 9th Division, courtesy of friends in Pennsylvania. Among the speakers that day was a woman named Harriet Jacobs. Fifty years old, or so she believed, she had been born into slavery in Edenton, North Carolina. Repeatedly raped by her white owner beginning when she was about fifteen, she was finally able to escape for good in 1842. Settling in New York, and after considerable struggle, she published her autobiography, Incidents in the Life of a Slave Girl, in early 1861. After the war broke out, and witnessing the horrid conditions faced by escaped slaves in refugee camps in Washington and Virginia, Jacobs took up the plight of the contrabands. She set up a school in Alexandria in early 1864, insisting that it be staffed with Black teachers.

			But on this day she wanted to speak of something else.

			Approaching the dais, Jacobs said a few brief words about British emancipation.

			Then she turned toward the troops. And toward their new flag.

			“Three years ago,” she said, “this flag had no significance for you, we could not cherish it as our emblem of freedom. You then had no part in the bloody struggle for your country, your patriotism was spurned; but to-day you are in arms for the freedom of your race and the defence of your country—to-day this flag is significant to you. Soldiers you have made it the symbol of freedom for the slave, unfurl it, stand by it and fight for it.”
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			Five months later, wounded African American soldiers recuperating at the L’Ouverture Hospital petitioned the War Department to allow U.S.C.T. soldiers to be buried in the new military cemetery that was taking shape just below the hill on which Arlington House stood. “We are not contrabands, but soldiers of the U.S. Army, we have cheerfully left the comforts of home and entered into the field of conflict, fighting side by side with the white soldiers, to crush out this God insulting, Hell deserving rebellion,” read the petition. “As American citizens, we have a right to fight for the protection of her flag, that right is granted, and we are now sharing equally the dangers and hardships in this mighty contest, and should share in the same privileges and rights of burial in every way with our fellow soldiers who only differ from us in color.”

			This was no hat-in-hand entreaty on bended knee.

			Black troops were demanding their rights as American citizens.

			But before the first spadefuls of earth could be turned, the war had suddenly taken a dramatic new turn.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Twenty-One-

			March

			He took one last look from the top of the hill.

			“The day was extremely beautiful,” he later recalled, “clear sunlight, with bracing air, and an unusual feeling of exhilaration seemed to pervade all minds—a feeling of something to come, vague and undefined, still full of venture and intense interest.” But at the rise along the Decatur road, already dusty with long lines of moving soldiers, horses, and wagons, General William Tecumseh Sherman had stopped and gazed back. “Behind us lay Atlanta, smouldering and in ruins, the black smoke rising high in the air, and hanging like a pall over the ruined city,” he wrote. “Then we turned our horses’ heads to the east; Atlanta was soon lost behind the screen of trees, and became a thing of the past.”

			What lay ahead was an entirely different matter. For weeks, his staff had been busy. Wagon loads had been sharply reduced, horses and mules had been carefully looked over, and the number of artillery pieces had been cut to only sixty-four. Individual infantrymen were to carry, besides their armaments, only forty rounds of ammunition and a blanket. Moreover, army doctors had fanned out through the ranks, culling any soldiers who were sick or deemed too weak to march fifteen miles a day for days on end. Nearly sixty thousand strong, this was to be an army, Sherman wrote, that was light and fast on its feet, composed of “able-bodied, experienced soldiers, well armed, well equipped and provided, as far as human foresight could, with all the essentials of life, strength, and vigorous action.” The renowned British military historian B. H. Liddell Hart went even further, writing decades later that they were “probably the finest army of military ‘workmen’ the modern world has seen. An army of individuals trained in the school of experience to look after their own food and health, to march far and fast with the least fatigue, to fight with the least exposure; above all, to act swiftly and to work thoroughly.”

			They were a new kind of army for a new kind of war.

			Because Sherman was about to try something that was virtually unheard of. Rather than rely on the tried-and-true methods of military supply, with long lines of wagons loaded with ton after ton of food, ammunition, and other supplies moving continuously toward the front, his army was to be self-sufficient. Having carefully studied beforehand the agricultural tables and statistics for Georgia in the 1860 federal census, he was convinced that there would be enough forage available where they were headed in order to feed his troops. Rather than carrying massive amounts of foodstuffs with them, Sherman’s soldiers would feed themselves. Each unit would send out foraging parties every day, responsible for confiscating enough corn, vegetables, chickens, pigs, cattle, ham, and cornmeal to feed their brothers in arms. Cut free from the tethers of supply lines, they could now penetrate deep into enemy territory.

			Such tactics were also extremely risky. Entirely cut off from any communication with Washington, and with a Confederate army potentially showing up at his rear, Sherman wouldn’t just be making a leap into the Georgia countryside, he’d also be making an extraordinary leap of faith. Both Grant and Lincoln hated the idea at first. Lincoln in particular worried that “a misstep by General Sherman might be fatal to his army.” But Sherman finally won them over, and on November 12, 1864, he sent his last telegram and disappeared, with his troops, into the heart of Georgia. “I was strongly inspired,” he later wrote, “with the feeling that the movement on our part was a direct attack upon the rebel army and the rebel capital at Richmond, though a full thousand miles of hostile country intervened, and that, for better or worse, it would end the war.”

			Sometime earlier, a member of his staff had asked the general where he planned to go after taking Atlanta. Sherman’s reply was short and to the point:

			“Salt water.”
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			The march was like no other.

			Dividing his army into two halves, Sherman drove southeast out of Atlanta, roughly paralleling the lazy flow of the Oconee, Ohoopee, and Ogeechee Rivers. His long lines of seasoned, fast-moving troops were like rivers themselves, feinting toward Augusta on the left and Macon on the right but passing them by as they drove farther and farther into the red clay country of the Georgia Piedmont. Teams of foragers swept to the outsides of the infantry columns like blue-jacketed locusts, helping themselves liberally to the contents of smokehouses and corncribs, sweet potato patches and chicken houses—all to the fury and horror of their owners, who had already objected to the not-infrequent looting by renegade Union troops. Sherman’s soldiers were authorized to appropriate horses, wagons, and mules for their use, “discriminating, however, between the rich, who are usually hostile, and the poor and industrious, usually neutral or friendly.”

			Sherman’s troops were also active with regard to industrial infrastructure. Railroad tracks were torn apart, with the centers of the rails heated red-hot over fires, then twisted around nearby telegraph poles or tree trunks into what were known as “Sherman’s neckties.” Manufacturing machinery was smashed beyond repair, while cotton gins, mills, roundhouses, factories, warehouses, and bridges were put to the torch, as were bales of cotton. At the then state capital of Milledgeville, which Sherman’s troops reached by the third week of November, some mischief-minded Union officers gathered in the empty Hall of Representatives, declared themselves to be the state legislature, and promptly rescinded the ordinance of secession.

			Rebel resistance to Sherman’s March, meanwhile, had been weak and ineffective. “The force here, including all available reserves, does not exceed 6000 effectives,” wired Confederate General Joseph Wheeler from Augusta in a dispatch to Richmond on November 27, adding that another five thousand men were at Macon. “Neither point could long resist the enemy’s whole force.” Desperate officials in Georgia, looking for more recruits for the state militia, even opened the gates to the state penitentiary. There simply weren’t enough men and arms to fight off Sherman’s advance.

			However, there was also one other army.

			One that no one had counted on.
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			It began as a trickle.

			At the very start of the march, just outside the village of Conyers, soldiers of the 104th Illinois suddenly found themselves with unexpected company. “The second day several negroes came up, a few old infirm men, besides women and children,” Captain William Strawn recalled. “I was on picket and during the night a party consisting of a man and his family arrived. I tried to reason with him, telling him that we would have all that we could do to take care of ourselves, he had better stay at home and raise something to live on. But all to no purpose. He seemed to realize that in starting to follow us his master would never pardon him. Go he must, and did.” Nor was the incident a one-off, as more former slaves began to follow the troops of the 104th Illinois. “Their numbers continuously increased day by day and night by night during our march,” wrote Lieutenant William Wirt Calkins of the 104th. Other units in Sherman’s army experienced the same phenomenon.

			The trickle soon became a stream, a river, and a flood.

			“The negroes were joining us in crowds,” wrote David P. Conyngham, a reporter for the New York Herald. “Near every cross-road and plantation, we would meet groups of old men and women, and young children, who received us with shouts of joy, exclaiming ‘Glory be to the Lord.’ ” The Union soldiers were both astounded and dumbfounded at the number of African Americans arriving from “every cabin and plantation from miles around,” recalled Adin B. Underwood of the 33rd Massachusetts, “who came as if they had long heard about it, and yearned for it, and were warned by some under-ground telegraph that the day of the Lord had come.” By the time the 86th Illinois reached Milledgeville, wrote J. R. Kinnear, “there was a great crowd of negroes hanging on the rear of our column.”

			On they came.

			From the fields and the woods, the slave quarters and the big house, the canebrakes and the river bottoms. They came on foot and on the backs of horses and mules, in conveyances of every description. “Just at sundown there would join the march or enter the camp a motley collection of wagons, carts, chaises, buggies, sulkies, coaches,” wrote Samuel Merrill of the 70th Indiana, “any that had wheels, drawn by anything that could pull.” Others remembered “mules and horses, and rickety old carts,” and “galled and jaded mules and horses [that] carried hampers and bags, stuffed with children and wearables, balanced on each side.”

			What one enlisted man in the 102nd Illinois remembered best, however, was a small African American woman walking with a bundle balanced upon her head. “A young negro child was clinging to her back, and was sustained in its position by her hands,” S. F. Fleharty recorded in his diary on December 1, 1864. “Following her was a girl perhaps twelve years old. She also carried a young one in her arms. All were most wretchedly clothed. Their dresses, which had been patched and re-patched until the original cloth had lost its identity, were faded and greasy, and it would seem that they had worn no others for years.”

			Still they came, day by day, week by week. By the thousands.

			“As soon as the Federal army struck through Central Georgia,” Conyngham wrote, “a regular stampede took place of bondmen and bondwomen, and bond children too.” Most, though not all, had leapt at the chance. George Whitfield Pepper, a member of Sherman’s staff, recalled a conversation he had with an elderly enslaved man and his wife, at a shanty out in the country. “In the talk which ensued, nothing was said which led us to believe that either of them were anxious to leave their mistress,” Pepper wrote, “when all at once the Old Negress straightened herself up.” Her expression suddenly fierce, she then pointed at her husband and declared, What you sit there for? You suppose I wait sixty years for nothing? Don’t you see the door open? I not stay. I walk till I drop in my tracks.

			The dangers that the escaping slaves faced were many—and deadly. If they were recaptured by their owners, they would likely be sold, whipped, or killed. In northern Georgia, before the Battle of Atlanta, Union troops had seen the corpses and skeletons of what were believed to be murdered slaves. The columns of the formerly enslaved, which had to follow those of the Union soldiers, also faced death at the hands of Confederate cavalry or Rebel bushwhackers, who could pick them off with impunity. And then there was the oncoming winter weather. “There was a high, raw wind blowing,” Sherman had recorded on November 22. “The afternoon was unusually raw and cold.” And as the march moved closer and closer toward the coast, there came the seemingly endless swamps, and the perils they posed.

			But the formerly enslaved of Georgia were not to be denied.

			Told at first that they could not come along, they came anyway. If the army marched fifteen miles a day, so did they. They, too, had to forage for their own food along the way—and had to do so unarmed. And unlike the Union troops, who by now had their own African American cooks and valets, the ex-slaves had to do everything for themselves. Moreover, marching in the rear, it was often well after dark before they could catch up with the soldiers, then fall asleep on the bare ground beneath a blanket of stars. “The uninitiated may wonder how this great mass of people managed to subsist on the long march of three hundred miles when the army was always in advance,” wrote Lieutenant Calkins. But the answer wasn’t hard to find.

			It was freedom.

			For these were a people who were determined to be free, and once the door finally cracked open, they were determined to act. They had, of course, fought against slavery since the day they had landed, shackled and bound, upon American shores. They had mounted insurrections, run away, and broken tools. They had taken the religion of the masters and turned it into their own, holding prayer meetings in the woods in the dark of night. Denied the right to learn how to read, they had found ways to become literate. Feigning ignorance, they had picked up every bit of war news that they could. They knew of Lincoln, and the Emancipation Proclamation, and of the armies of Northerners who were beginning to pierce the heart of the Confederacy. And when their chance came, as it had come for slaves along the Virginia and South Carolina coasts when Union armies drew near, they voted with their feet.

			It was their soul-deep, long-held desire for freedom that had sent them, on those remarkable, unforgettable November and December days, on this journey of dignity and hope. S. F. Fleharty, of the 102nd Illinois, knew it when he watched the mother and her children, dressed in the raggedy, patched, and repatched dresses, push on after the soldiers. They were, he wrote, “a negro family in search of freedom.” So did the soldiers of the 70th Indiana when they watched what a struggling young Black mother did as she followed in their wake. “One poor creature, while nobody was looking,” wrote Samuel Merrill, “hid two boys, five years old, in a wagon, intending, I suppose, that they should see the land of freedom if she couldn’t.”

			Black Georgians weren’t simply following Sherman’s soldiers.

			They were freeing themselves.
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			Among the newly freed, none received more adulation than General Sherman himself.

			“Wherever Sherman rode, they crowded about him shouting and praying,” Underwood recorded. “They evidently regarded him as the great deliverer.” John Richards Boyle, a captain with the 111th Pennsylvania, later wrote of an encounter between an aged former slave and the red-haired general. “One old patriarch, with white hair framing his serious ebony face,” he recalled, “turned away from a prolonged gaze at General Sherman, exclaiming with the utmost solemnity, ‘I have seen the Great Messiah and the army of the Lord.’ ”

			In truth, Sherman was an unlikely candidate for a modern-day Moses. Though an extremely talented and visionary general, he wasn’t free from racist beliefs and had stubbornly resisted adding Black troops to his command. But, try as he might, he could not ignore the extraordinary events unfolding around him and the awe in which he was regarded by the newly freed. “Whenever they heard my name,” Sherman wrote in his memoirs, “they clustered about my horse, shouted and prayed in their peculiar style, which had a natural eloquence that would have moved a stone.” And while they were touching his heart, they were teaching him as well. At a camp along the Ulcofauhachee River outside of Covington, Sherman met with one elderly ex-slave. “I asked him if he understood about the war and its progress,” he wrote. “He said he did; that he had been looking for the ‘angel of the Lord’ ever since he was knee-high, and, though we professed to be fighting for the Union, he supposed that slavery was the cause, and that our success was to be his freedom. I asked him if all the negro slaves comprehended this fact, and he said they surely did.”

			Only on the March to the Sea, the formerly enslaved did much more.

			They served as scouts and spies, alerting Sherman’s staff to the whereabouts of Confederate troops. They led Union foragers to hidden caches of food, guns, and ammunition, and they delivered horses and mules to the troops. “These humble people were proud to offer any service to the soldiers. They would risk their lives to aid them, and give them the food from their mouths or the garments from their backs,” wrote Captain Boyle of the 111th Pennsylvania. “Every black face was the face of a friend, every black hand was wide open with the proffer of its little all, every black man’s heart was an altar of prayer for the cause of the nation, every black man’s poor cabin was a city of refuge to a hunted or imperiled union soldier.” The soldiers began to respond in turn, passing along rations and other needed items. Opinions changed as well. “The volunteer army so far as I know, are all abolitionists,” wrote Michael Hendrick Fitch of the 21st Wisconsin.

			For as the twin columns of blue-coated troops and those of the formerly enslaved trekked mile after mile through the pine-wooded heart of Georgia, a season of miracles was at hand. Generations of African Americans had freed themselves from the iron shackles and rancid breath of slavery, while thousands of battle-toughened farmers and mechanics from the shores of New England, the hills of Pennsylvania, and the prairies of Illinois had walked with them. Here, in the late autumn of 1864, as the two groups marched together, a new story was being written not just for the war but for the nation itself. For on the red clay plains of Georgia, in the last weeks before Christmas, a new kind of America was struggling to be born.

		

	
		
			Second Intermission
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			Christmastime in Washington
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			The holidays came and went in a blur.

			“We didn’t have many doings in those days,” Thomas F. Pendel, a White House doorman, later recalled. “Mrs. Lincoln used to buy a great many presents for Tad.” The truth was, Pendel added, that Tad enjoyed spending time with the Pennsylvania Bucktails, the presidential military guard, more than anything else. On Christmas itself, however, Tad managed to invite several cold, hungry newsboys to dine at the White House. The cook was not amused, but they came anyway.

			President Lincoln had never been one to celebrate Christmas, preferring instead to work. While gift-giving was in vogue, and Christmas trees were common, many Americans, like the President, felt that quiet humility, prayer, and contemplation were the proper response to the day of Christ’s birth, all the more so during wartime. And, for that matter, Lincoln had already gotten what was likely the best present of all. On Friday, December 22, he had received the following telegram from Georgia:

			
				To his Excellency,

				President Lincoln—

				I beg to present you as a Christmas gift the city of Savannah, with one hundred and fifty heavy guns and plenty of ammunition, and also about twenty-five thousand bales of cotton.

				W. T. Sherman

			

			It was a magnificent achievement, one that was celebrated in newspapers across the loyal states.

			Four days later, on December 26, the Lincolns hosted a public reception at the White House. Earlier in the day, the President had drafted a telegram to General Sherman, both thanking him for taking Savannah and admitting to his early trepidation about the march itself. “When you were about leaving Atlanta for the Atlantic coast, I was anxious, if not fearful,” he wrote, “but feeling that you were the better judge, and remembering that “nothing risked, nothing gained,” I did not interfere. Now, the undertaking being a success, the honor is all yours.’ Lincoln also stated that by dividing his army and taking on a vital new task, Sherman had brought “those who sat in darkness, to see a great light.” In closing, the President added, ‘But what next? I suppose it will be safer if I leave Gen Grant and yourself to decide.’

			

			—

			What that would be was of no small consequence.

			For even though it had been wounded, by Christmas 1864 the Confederacy was still vast, potent, and unconquered. Functioning state governments existed in fully nine of the eleven states that had seceded from the Union. Rebel blockade runners were still making the run into Wilmington, North Carolina, bringing in needed cargoes of rifles, ammunition, saltpeter, and shoes for the war effort, while scientists and inventors working for the Rebel cause were experimenting with land mines, poison gas, and other new kinds of weaponry. Confederate envoys were still stalking the palace courts of Europe, seeking aid and diplomatic recognition. And stretched out for over a thousand miles, from the Chesapeake Bay and the tip of Florida all the way to the high plains of Texas, were tens of thousands of Confederate troops. Tough, experienced, and well armed, they were determined to do nothing less than to secure the lasting independence of their young nation.

			Virginia, as always, would be the key.

			For here were massed the largest Union and Confederate armies, the biggest concentrations of artillery, and the most massive and extensive breastworks and fortifications ever erected on American soil. Here, at City Point along the James River, Union army engineers and pioneer battalions had constructed the largest military port in the Western Hemisphere, a virtual city of deepwater docks, warehouses, and railroad lines capable of sustaining what had already been a monthslong campaign against the crack troops of Robert E. Lee’s Army of Northern Virginia.

			And then there was Richmond, the Rebel capital itself, the seat of the Confederate national government and undoubtedly the biggest prize of the war. It had been battered. Food, clothing, and medicine were all in short supply. Tensions were rising over the fact that so many wealthy slave owners had dodged military service, while the poor did the fighting. There was a rising chorus as well against the leadership of Jefferson Davis, with some whispering that Lee should be appointed dictator. And all that winter the presence of thousands of Union troops facing the city, some within earshot, was the source of constant strain.

			Yet, through it all, the Rebel spirit of Richmond had not been broken.

			“We have quite a merry Christmas in the family,” War Department clerk J. B. Jones recorded in his diary on December 25, “and a compact that no unpleasant word shall be uttered, and no scramble for anything.” The family baked cakes and pies and, Jones noted, would have “full rations” that day, adding, “I have found enough celery in the little garden for dinner.” Elsewhere throughout the city, other Confederate stalwarts also put on brave faces. Despite, or perhaps because of, the proximity of Union troops, amateur theatricals had become all the rage that winter, as had gatherings known as “Starvations,” so called because they featured neither food nor spirits. “Parties were of nightly occurrence,” wrote Thomas C. DeLeon. ‘Not the brilliant and generous festivals of the olden days of Richmond, but joyous and gay assemblages of a hundred young people, who danced as though the music of shells had never replaced that of the old negro fiddler—who chatted and laughed as if there were no to-morrow.’

			

			—

			One hundred miles to the north, meanwhile, on the streets of Washington, there was a new presence in town. While he had played the nation’s capital only twice—once, for the long series of performances in the spring of 1863, and a shorter stay in the fall of that year—beginning in December 1864, John Wilkes Booth had, for all intents and purposes, taken up residency in the city. Lodging at the National Hotel, he also rented a stall in a stable located in an alley behind Ford’s Theatre, the capital’s newest playhouse, where he often kept a one-eyed horse and a light-colored bay. Indeed, Booth spent considerable time at various Washington theaters, meeting up with old theatrical friends, trading gossip, and catching performances. According to Matthew Canning, his former theatrical agent, Booth had once even encountered President Lincoln at the end of a performance by Felicita Vestvali, a renowned Polish actress and singer who often played men’s roles, at Grover’s Theatre a few blocks from Ford’s, that December. Canning later told a mutual friend that ‘Booth was in the house, and when the president and lady were passing out, he moved after them, eyeing them very intently, while they waited on the steps some moments for a carriage. Canning said he noticed Booth watching the President with the greatest intensity.’

			Canning also remembered one other thing about that month before Christmas.

			He said that Booth had spent a lot of time over on Eleventh Street.

			At a shooting gallery.

			

			—

			Meanwhile, outside of the sleepy town of Port Tobacco, Maryland, a scruffy German immigrant named George Atzerodt maintained a steady side business that winter, rowing passengers and packages back and forth across the Potomac River. On some nights there would be a blanket of stars overhead, so close, it seemed, that you could pinch one off with your fingertips. On others, there was only wind and clouds, and the monotonous pull of the oars. But on a few nights there was snow, the thick flakes drifting silently from the sky, only to disappear, forever, into the rolling, darkened water.
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			-Chapter Twenty-Two-

			Powell

			There. In the shadows. In a black overcoat.

			It had been easier than he’d figured. There’d been hail, then rain, then finally snow, all day long, blanketing the streets and the sidewalks, piling up alongside the government buildings, and sheathing the bare January tree branches in ice. Then, around nine o’clock, the snow turned to sleet. Most everyone was indoors by then. You could see them inside the neat houses on Lafayette Square, their faces soft and warm in the candlelight. No one paid any attention to the lone figure in the dark overcoat, hugging the shadows as he slipped off Pennsylvania Avenue onto the frozen ground between the White House and the War Department. The guards were inside, likely warming themselves by the fire.

			He found a spot behind some bushes along the glass-walled conservatory. The sleet was already forming a hard crust on top of the snow, while overhead, when a gust of wind kicked up, he could hear the tinkling of the ice-covered branches. Now all he could do was bide his time. Shifting his feet slowly back and forth on the frozen ground, he could feel the weight of the revolver in his coat pocket.
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			Lewis Thornton Powell had not started out to be a killer.

			A preacher’s son from northern Florida, he had grown up in a home noted for piety and educational attainment as well as for valuing hard, honest work. Gentle and good-natured, with an almost magic touch with animals, Powell took great joy in Bible lessons and Sunday school. Big for his age, by the time he hit his teens, he was also exceedingly handsome. At seventeen, he stood at six feet one, with thick brown hair, piercing blue eyes, and a ruggedly athletic physique. He told his parents that, when he grew up, he wanted to be a minister. Powell was later described as being “a young man of cultivated mind, ingenious, frank, candid, and an earnest supplicant for Divine favor.”

			The war had other plans for him.

			Lying about his age, Powell enlisted in the Florida militia at age sixteen and was eventually assigned to the 2nd Florida Infantry, where he had no choice but to grow up in a hurry. While he never acquired a taste for hard liquor, he took to playing cards, neglecting his Bible study. Then came the fighting. In short order, Powell and the 2nd Florida saw action at Yorktown, Williamsburg, Seven Pines, Antietam, and Fredericksburg. He smelled the smoke, heard the screams, was shot at and shot at others. He saw men die and knew the sickly sweet smell of death. A week after his eighteenth birthday, he fought in the Battle of Chancellorsville. He was by then already a seasoned veteran.

			Three months later, on July 2, 1863, as he stood on a patch of rocky Pennsylvania ground outside of Gettysburg, Powell was wounded by a gunshot to his right wrist. The next day, that of Pickett’s Charge, he was captured by Union troops and taken to a makeshift hospital, at a nearby college, for Confederate prisoners. And it was here that the arc of Lewis Powell’s life began, once again, to change forever.
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			Word of the Rebel defeat at Gettysburg had hit Baltimore’s pro-Southern partisans hard, and few as much as a fiery, die-hard secessionist named Maggie Branson. Determined to bring comfort to wounded Confederate soldiers, she and a group of other like-minded women gathered up what medications they could find, purchased train tickets, and traveled to the makeshift hospital outside of Gettysburg, where they talked the Union officers into letting them help. In no time at all, Maggie had caught the eye of the tall, strikingly handsome Floridian, who was helping other patients. Their affection grew, and Powell told Maggie that he wanted to go back South and rejoin his unit. They soon fell in love. He was eighteen. She was thirty-one.

			When the patients were transferred to a hospital in Baltimore, Powell went, too, and the Union provost marshal there determined that he was to work as a nurse. Maggie visited him whenever she could. But Powell had not forgotten his plan to get back into the fight. Sometime during the late summer, Maggie was able to smuggle to Powell a Union officer’s cloak as well as a ten-dollar bill hidden inside of a cake. Using both, Powell was then able to walk past the guards and onto the streets of Baltimore. After a brief stay at the Branson family’s boardinghouse on North Eutaw Street, Powell bid Maggie goodbye and started his journey south.
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			Sixteen months later, in early January 1865, he was back.

			Now twenty years old, and more handsome than ever, Lewis Powell was no longer a common Rebel soldier but an agent in the Confederate Secret Service. He was different now as well: harder, more serious, more determined. A Union hospital steward had once described him as “a man of unusual intelligence and one of the most unyielding of all the rebels.” Added to that were the months that he had spent as one of Mosby’s Rangers, the feared guerrilla group in Virginia, where he gained a reputation for his daring. Then, in late 1864, he had been picked to escort some Union prisoners to Richmond. “Powell returned to the Piedmont section a changed man. He seemed to be more grave and thoughtful than ever. He often spoke of his visit to Richmond and his intention soon to go to Baltimore to meet friends he had met in Richmond,” Lewis Edmonds Payne, the son of a Virginia doctor who was acquainted with Powell, later wrote. “Powell soon began to sell off his horses and dispose of his effects, saying he would be gone for several months.”

			On January 13, 1865, Lewis Powell showed up at Fairfax Court House on foot, unarmed and wearing a threadbare Rebel uniform. Telling the Union officers that he was done with the war, he took the Oath of Allegiance to the government of the United States and was told to keep heading north and not to stop until he was past Philadelphia. Instead, Powell headed straight for Baltimore. And Maggie.

			In truth, the house at 16 North Eutaw Street wasn’t just the Branson family home. It was a link in the Confederate spy apparatus in Baltimore, a safe house and stopover for Rebel agents and escaped prisoners, and a connecting point to the city’s hidden network of smugglers, traitors, and true believers. The Bransons welcomed Powell with open arms and provided him with a room. But before he had a chance to settle in, he had some business to attend to in Washington.
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			Finally, the sleet had begun to ease up.

			Even with his hat pulled down low, his collar turned up, and his hands jammed into his coat pockets, there was no escaping the damp, bone-chilling cold. Luckily, no one had seen him, but that was because no one was out unless they had to be. Back on the square, most of the houses had gone dark. And while light still shone from a handful of the windows in the War Department, there had been no movement in or out of the building. All he could hear was the wind. Maybe he had picked the wrong night.

			Then it happened.

			An outer door to the department swung open. Light spilled onto the icy walkway, and, indistinctly, he could hear voices. Two men then emerged. One was short and heavy. The other, wearing a top hat and with a shawl draped about his shoulders, was lean and tall. They lingered for a minute in the light of the doorway, chatting. Then they said goodbye to the guards, who pulled the door closed behind them, and started on their way across the ice-covered snow toward the White House.

			Here was his chance. A well-aimed shot, even from behind the bushes, might work. That, or a quick dash for one at close range.

			But he had not counted on the second man. Probably a bodyguard, and more than likely armed. And then there was the ground itself. Could he even run on it at all? What if he fell? Powell hesitated. The two men walked away. The moment was lost.

			There’d be other chances, he told himself.

			He waited a few minutes and then, staying close to the conservatory, made his way back to the square and into the night.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Twenty-Three-

			Henry Highland Garnet

			Lois Adams had never seen it so full.

			“On the floor of the House were soldiers, officers, civil and military members of Congress,” wrote the correspondent for the Detroit Advertiser and Tribune about the doings at the U.S. Capitol on February 12, 1865; “strangers, and citizens, with their wives and daughters, filling all the seats except for those reserved for members of the choir.” But even those weren’t enough. Sofas, settees, and chairs had to be brought in from the anterooms and set along the back and sides of the chamber. More remarkably, many of the visitors to the House of Representatives were Black.

			African Americans were far from strangers to the Capitol building. Skilled Black workers, both enslaved and free, had helped to excavate its foundation, haul its iron and stone, set its joists, and shape its marble columns. The massive statue of Freedom, which sat atop the Capitol dome, had been forged by Black hands. Yet, though they had helped to build the most potent symbol of democracy that the world had ever seen, unless they were carrying a broom, a rag, or a mop bucket, they had not been welcomed inside.

			Now that was changing.
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			For a new wind was blowing across the cities of the North. Unsteady at times, difficult to gauge at others, it, too, was a wind of freedom. As Black men took up arms to fight for the Union, their families shouldered different kinds of battles back home. The Spirit of ’64 is what James Smallwood called it. A newly minted, nineteen-year-old graduate of the Institute for Colored Youth in Philadelphia, Smallwood believed that “the Spirit of ’64 soars higher aloft than that of ’76.” A yearning for liberty that had echoed throughout human history had once again come to life in the United States, he argued, by destroying slavery and ushering in a better age. “Liberty,” Smallwood said, “may lie dormant for ages, but it is never extinguished. It may be crushed by unjust men, fettered by the chains of despots, but whenever favorable opportunities offer, it is ever ready to strike.”

			For many of Smallwood’s neighbors in Black Philadelphia, the city’s horse-drawn streetcars were a particularly hateful form of discrimination. While white passengers, of any class and in any condition, were welcome to sit inside the cars themselves, African Americans were forced to stand outside on a platform at the front. “No more shameful sight can be presented to an intelligent, sensitive mind, than that of respectable females standing upon the platforms of empty cars,” declared the Christian Recorder newspaper, “with sons, husbands, and brothers beside them in United States uniform, ready to defend the rights and property of those railway corporations which treat them thus indignantly.”

			At a mass meeting held in a rented hall on Sansom Street in late July 1864, Black Philadelphians gave full voice to their anger. “So much prejudice exists in the North, that there is no wonder the Federal arms are not successful at the South,” said J. C. Bowers, a tailor. “Pennsylvania has sent more men of color to the field than any other State, and yet her black citizens receive less justice.” Reverend Jonathan C. Gibbs was equally direct. “If public opinion were right in regard to the colored people of this community, there would be no need for a meeting of this kind,” he said. “But we do not come to beg them to correct their errors of opinion, we come to demand them to do so.” Before the night was over, Philadelphia’s Black community had launched a protest campaign against the streetcar company. The meeting ended with the singing of the “Battle Hymn of the Republic” and “The Star-Spangled Banner.”

			The choice of songs was not accidental.

			By the fall of 1864, Black Americans had, in increasing numbers, fully embraced the cause of the United States. African American support for Lincoln’s reelection, according to historian Benjamin Quarles, “became practically 100 percent.” The Black community in Nashville celebrated Lincoln’s victory with a torchlight parade, including transparencies and a “miniature vessel drawn by six horses” pulled through the streets of downtown. Black sons, fathers, brothers, and husbands, meanwhile, had joined the ranks of the Union army by the tens of thousands. And the Stars and Stripes, long viewed as a symbol of oppression or neglect, had been embraced as a beacon of Black hope. It was their flag now, too.
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			There were other changes as well.

			In Washington, too, African Americans pushed back against streetcar segregation, with Black soldiers leading the way. But they also fought for education for their children. Even though Congress had passed legislation and allocated funds for establishing Black schools in Washington in 1862 and 1864, the white authorities in Georgetown had refused to act. So Black parents, with the help of Northern aid organizations, set up schools in church basements. And at a time when segregation was rising across the North, African Americans fought it from the start.

			Moreover, they made their presence felt in the corridors of power, especially in the nation’s capital. By the summer of 1864, African Americans had started to appear in the House and Senate galleries, where they were eyewitnesses to the work of Congress. Frederick Douglass had visited President Lincoln in the White House, as had Sojourner Truth, the renowned abolitionist and civil rights and women’s rights activist. The old ways were starting to crack.

			Or at least some of them.

			Because, by the end of 1864, no African American had ever delivered an address in the Capitol. But come February, that was about to change.
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			Standing five feet eleven with a high forehead and piercing black eyes, Henry Highland Garnet was a minister, abolitionist, and adventurer all rolled into one. The grandson of a Mandinka chieftain who had been captured off the coast of West Africa, Garnet had been born enslaved in Maryland in 1815. When he was nine, his family escaped to the North and resettled in New York City, where he attended the African Free School, an innovative academy where students not only played an outsized role in teaching but also learned to consider themselves citizens of the world. In 1829, after slave catchers had discovered that the family was living in Manhattan, thirteen-year-old Garnet walked out onto Broadway with a knife in hand to defend his family. Luckily, bloodshed was averted and the family managed to avoid capture. Garnet later attended an integrated academy in New Hampshire—until it was burned down by anti-abolitionists.

			Embracing both Christianity and the antislavery cause, Garnet grew into adulthood and became a powerful voice in the movement to end enslavement. Studying theology and ordained as a minister, he took a pastorship in upstate New York, where he sheltered runaways in the basement of his church. In 1855 he returned to Manhattan, serving as the minister of the Shiloh Presbyterian Church. When the draft riots broke out eight years later, in early July 1863, and largely Irish mobs murdered unarmed African Americans in the street and burned down the Colored Orphan Asylum on Fifth Avenue, Garnet and his family only escaped with their lives because his daughter had the foresight to remove the metal nameplate from the door to their home.
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			Eighteen months later, February 12, 1865. A Sunday.

			The choir had performed first, singing “All Hail the Power of Jesus’ Name,” their voices echoing off the walls of the House of Representatives. That was followed by prayer. Then came a hurricane.

			Speaking for nearly a full hour, Garnet first condemned slavery itself, “the highly concentrated essence of all conceivable wickedness,” and praised those thinkers and leaders throughout the ages, from Socrates to George Washington, who ultimately sought its demise. Garnet praised as well the Thirty-Eighth Congress for ratifying the Thirteenth Amendment, ending slavery, at least on paper, five weeks earlier. He was far from finished. “It is often asked when and where will the demands of the reformers of this and coming ages end?” he asked. “It is a fair question, and I will answer.”

			Then came the thunderbolts—

			“When all unjust and heavy burdens shall be removed from every man in the land.

			“When all invidious and proscriptive distinctions shall be blotted out from our laws….

			“When emancipation shall be followed by enfranchisement, and all men holding allegiance to the government shall enjoy every right of American citizenship.

			“When our brave and gallant soldiers shall have justice done unto them….

			“Emancipate, Enfranchise, Educate, and give the blessings of the gospel to every American citizen.”

			This was no victory lap over the legislative death of slavery. Instead, Reverend Garnet had issued a call for a new kind of American nation, one in which the rights and privileges of democracy would be available to all. No commonplace Sunday sermon, this was a challenge that went to the very heart of American national identity.

			The significance of the address was not lost on its audience.

			“For the space of an hour what a breathless house!” wrote William J. Wilson, who sat among the overflow crowd in the gallery. “Men who went to the house to hear a colored man came away having heard a Man in the highest and fullest sense. Many who went there with feelings of curiosity, came away wrapped in astonishment.” When Garnet spoke, he added, the attention of the audience was “turned as a wheat-field upon a sudden change of wind.”

			But it was Lois Adams who best caught the larger significance of Garnet’s speech.

			“The 12th of February, 1865, is the initial letter to a new chapter in our country’s history; indeed, it might be called the introductory chapter itself to a new volume, so full of significance have been the simple yet grand events chronicled on its record,” she wrote for her newspaper back in Michigan. “That the world moves can no longer be doubted, for what less than a revolution could have brought about what has now been witnessed by all Washington—the spectacle of a black man preaching against slavery from the Speaker’s desk in the House of Representatives at the Capitol?”

		

	
		
			-Chapter Twenty-Four-

			Handprints

			John Wilkes Booth had a different kind of future in mind.

			He had been busy. In early January 1865, he arranged for a cache of weapons, including two carbine rifles, three pairs of revolvers, and three knives, along with two pairs of handcuffs, to be transported from New York to Washington. He’d also been exercising regularly at a gymnasium and going for long horseback rides every day. And Booth had been trying to recruit individuals to help him with what he described in hushed tones as a plan to kidnap President Lincoln, secretly transport him to Richmond, and use him as collateral to free Confederate officers and soldiers being held in Northern prisoner of war camps. Michael O’Laughlen and Sam Arnold, both of whom were childhood friends, had already agreed to help. So did Ned Spangler, a carpenter and stagehand at Ford’s Theatre who had worked on the Booth family home when John Wilkes was a child. None of them, including Booth, had any experience in anything remotely related to kidnapping, while Arnold had a reputation as a drunk. Moreover, the plan itself was surely not Booth’s idea but had been presented to him either in Boston or Montreal by representatives of the Confederacy.

			But beginning in December 1864 and continuing into the New Year, John Wilkes Booth also increasingly found himself again connected with a very different set of men. One week before Christmas, while he was scouting a route in southern Maryland through which to carry a bound and gagged President Lincoln, Booth met with Thomas Harbin near Bryantown. A onetime hotel proprietor, Harbin was an experienced Confederate secret agent. Not only did Harbin tell Booth that he would help with the kidnap plot, but he also introduced Booth to another Rebel agent, John Surratt.

			A former seminary student with a wispy moustache and a prematurely receding hairline, Surratt worked as a Confederate courier along the so-called Secret Line, escorting people and information between Richmond and the North. He well knew the back roads and byways of southern Maryland, but he also knew Washington, where his mother ran a boardinghouse on H Street. Surratt met Booth for the first time two days before Christmas and soon became an integral player in the evolving plot. Not only did he bring George Atzerodt, the German-born oarsman, into the conspiracy, but it was Surratt who would bring in Lewis Powell as well. What would be later portrayed as a John Wilkes Booth–led effort to kidnap or kill Abraham Lincoln was, in fact, covered with the handprints of the Confederate Secret Service and other agents of the Confederacy. Just who was leading whom would be a question well worth asking.
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			Meanwhile, in Richmond, Confederate scientists were now racing to develop both powerful new weaponry and innovative ways to use the weapons they already possessed.

			Richard Sears McCulloh was one such figure. The son of successful Maryland cattle farmers and Arabian horse breeders, McCulloh had been a precocious youth who graduated from the College of New Jersey at age eighteen. After a stint at the U.S. Mint, where he devised a new method of refining the gold pouring in from California, and a professorship at Princeton, by the time the Civil War broke out McCulloh had joined the faculty at Columbia in New York City. Possessed of a volcanic temper, he was a divisive figure on campus, well known for his exacting, demanding classes. “Don’t wonder the students hate him,” wrote one observer. And while many praised his scientific accomplishments, especially in chemistry, others derided him. “McCulloh is a feeble and washed out kind of man,” wrote Columbia trustee George Templeton Strong on hearing McCulloh speak for the first time in the college chapel, “but I did not think it possible that he could deliver so deplorably commonplace, incoherent, and imbecile a piece of maundering as that which he bestowed on us.”

			Then, suddenly, in the fall of 1863, McCulloh was gone.

			Writing from Richmond on September 25, McCulloh resigned his chair at Columbia, stating, “It should incite no surprise that one, born and reared a Southerner prefers to cast his lot with that of the South.” The Columbia community, however, was shocked. “He ‘has gone over to the dragons’ and we are well rid of him,” wrote Strong. “He has probably been offered a high price to come south to take charge of some military laboratory.” That is exactly what happened, as McCulloh began work as a consulting chemist for the Confederate Nitre and Mining Bureau. Not only did he work on improving the explosive capability of gunpowder, but he also worked to perfect the formula for Greek fire. So successful was McCulloh in creating incendiaries that the Confederate secretary of war issued him a passport allowing him to enter the United States “to engage in the destruction of the enemy’s property on the high seas or the rivers, lakes, and harbors.” One year later, in February 1865, McCulloh had added a new weapon of war to his list of creations. It was poison gas.

			Others were also at work.

			Land mines, then called torpedoes, were a particular focus of the Rebel high command. In 1863, the Confederate Congress created the Torpedo Bureau, where soldiers and scientists created the first modern land mines. Often built from artillery shells that were fitted with explosive caps, the torpedoes could be buried in roads, where enemy soldiers would detonate them. The wounds from such explosions were often fatal. On the March to the Sea, Sherman witnessed the results of one torpedo explosion, which had killed a horse and blown the skin off the leg of a young officer. “This was not war,” Sherman wrote, “but murder.”

			One other special project was soon to be in the works as well.

			It was a plan to blow up the White House.

			In a later confession, George Atzerodt related that “Booth said that he had met a party in New York who would get the Prest. [President] certain. They were going to mine the end of the pres. House, near the War Dept. They knew an entrance to accomplish it through. Spoke about getting friends of the Presdt. to get up an entertainment & they would mix it in, have a serenade & thus get at the Presdt. & party.”

			The Confederates, to be certain, had the personnel capable of creating massive explosions. On August 9, 1864, a pair of Rebel agents placed a horological torpedo—a time bomb—on one of the ammunition barges docked at City Point. When the bomb went off at 11:30 a.m., ordnance officer J. P. Farley later wrote, “The resulting explosion was terrific.” The ground shook like an earthquake, artillery shells and debris flew into the sky for hundreds of yards. “From the top of the bluff there lay before me a staggering scene,” wrote Union captain Morris Schaff, “a mass of overthrown buildings, their timbers tangled into almost impenetrable heaps. In the water were wrecked and sunken barges.” The death count was staggering. Upward of three hundred people died, many of them Black. “Those loudest in their grief were the contrabands who mourned their relatives and comrades,” wrote African American war correspondent Thomas Morris Chester. “Being employed in great numbers where the accident occurred, more of them were killed and wounded than any other class of individuals.”
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			The kidnap plot, however, was languishing on the vine.

			It being winter, President Lincoln no longer spent time out at the Soldiers’ Home. And now, whenever he traveled in Washington on horseback or by carriage, he was accompanied by a military escort. A suggestion that the President might be kidnapped while attending the theater was quickly scrapped. For Booth, Surratt, Powell, and the others, the next steps were unclear. But there were a couple of hints as to their direction.

			On March 3, 1865, Booth, Surratt, and Louis Weichmann, who boarded at Mary Surratt’s boardinghouse, attended an evening session of the House of Representatives, sitting in the gallery. But they were also likely aware that the President was present in the Capitol that night, signing bills. And earlier that year, when he visited New York, Booth would spend time at a shooting gallery in Manhattan, working on his marksmanship.

			Only this time he brought his own target to shoot at.

			It was a photograph of Abraham Lincoln.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Twenty-Five-

			Second Inaugural

			The week could not have ended any worse.

			Rain had been pouring in torrents for twenty-four hours, filling the creeks and swelling the Potomac, turning the streets into rivers of mud, and causing the canal, with its toxic soup of refuse and dead animals, to overflow onto the Mall. So many visitors had come to town that Willard’s had been forced to set out cots in the hallways. And then there were the rumors of an imminent Confederate attack. “Secessionists are whispering about that Lee,” Lois Adams wrote, “with his army as body guard, is in the vicinity of Fairfax Court House, on his way up here to assist at the interesting ceremonies on Saturday.” Said ceremonies being the second inauguration of Abraham Lincoln, the sixteenth president of the United States of America, a nation that was still younger than its oldest citizens.

			Saturday started no better. “A stormier beginning than this morning ushered in could scarcely be imagined,” Adams wrote in her letter back home. “The rain which had been pouring incessantly for two days and nights, grew, towards daylight, to a perfect tempest with high winds and clattering hailstones.” Lincoln’s friend Noah Brooks could only agree. “The day of Lincoln’s second inauguration, March 4, 1865, was as somber and drizzly as the November day of his second election,” he said. “The mud in the city of Washington that day certainly excelled all the other varieties I have ever seen before or since.” But the show, as it were, had to go on. And at about eleven o’clock that morning, a waterlogged yet grand procession began to make its way down Pennsylvania Avenue from the White House to the Capitol.

			It was a most remarkable sight.

			The parade included a massive delegation of Philadelphia firemen, aged veterans of the War of 1812, a full regiment of U.S. Colored Troops, marching bands, civic organizations, and fraternal societies. Members of Lincoln-Johnson clubs marched in black frock coats and pantaloons, bedecked with “orange, blue-and-gilt, cherry-color, yellow, pink and white” sashes and regalia. A model of an ironclad ship, much like the USS Monitor, set on wheels, was pulled along by a team of four white horses. “It had a revolving turret containing a small cannon, which was frequently fired as the procession moved,” recalled one paradegoer. The Typographical Society mounted an entire printing press on a wagon, churning out inaugural programs, while another horse-drawn display was a dazzling Temple of Liberty, bedecked with flags and red, white, and blue banners.

			Despite the rain and the mud, which sometimes went as high as the axles on the wagons, the parade was a sensation.

			“The broad sidewalks meanwhile,” Lois Adams wrote, “for the whole length of Pennsylvania Avenue, covered with splashing mud as they were, were crowded and packed with human beings, and the surging tide was augmented by the constant streams of life pouring from every street and byway. Windows and doors were full from cellar to attic, and thousands of anxious eyes looked down from balconies and rooftops. Flags were everywhere.” Marshals lined the parade route, while mounted policemen stood at each corner. “The mud was deep, and prancing horses splashed it upon each other and upon the people, but nobody seemed to care,” Adams added. “The whole city like a rainbow.”
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			Thousands were already at the Capitol.

			Dodging the rain, and killing time before the actual inauguration began, they wandered the halls, admiring the paintings and statuary. They also crowded into the Senate gallery while the Senate was in session, where, Noah Brooks observed, “they chattered and clattered like zephyrs among the reeds of a waterslide.” The atmosphere was both festive and ripe with anticipation. But when it was time for the various ticketed dignitaries—including senators, congressmen, generals, and foreign luminaries—to leave the Capitol building and take their places on the steps outside, they were met with an astonishing sight.

			“Before them, as they stepped into the daylight,” Margaret Leech would later write, “they saw the mighty assemblage of people, spreading back, back from the acclaiming faces near the portico to the blurred and tiny dolls’ heads among the distant trees.” Noah Brooks, who was there, was awed by the size of the crowd that had come from all across the Union: “There was a sea of heads in the great plaza in front of the Capitol, as far as the eye could reach, and breaking in waves along its outer edges among the budding foliage of the grounds beyond.” But there was also something new. Because, for the first time ever at a presidential inauguration, the faces in the crowd were not all white. “Thousands of colored folk,” wrote the Marquis de Chambrun, a visiting French politician, “heretofore excluded from such affairs, were mingled for the first time with the white spectators.”

			Then came the moment that everyone had been waiting for.

			“When the President and the procession of notables appeared, a tremendous shout, prolonged and loud, arose from the surging ocean of humanity around the Capitol building,” Brooks wrote. “Then the sergeant-at-arms of the Senate, the historic Brown, arose and bowed, with his shining black hat in hand, in dumb show before the crowd, which thereupon became still, and Abraham Lincoln, rising tall and gaunt among the groups about him, stepped forward.” As he began to speak, the clouds parted and, as if it had been scripted by some unseen hand, Lincoln was bathed in sunlight.
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			The speech was not long.

			Composed of twenty-six sentences, all of which easily fit on the single sheet of paper, divided into two columns, that he read from, it began with a history lesson. Turning the attention of the audience to four years earlier, when he had delivered his first inaugural address, Lincoln reminded the audience of how this war—“All dreaded it—all sought to avert it”—came to be, despite the similarities between the two sides. “Both read the same Bible, and pray to the same God; and each invokes His aid against the other.”

			As he spoke, the crowd fell utterly silent. Adelaide Smith, a Union nurse at the Depot Field Hospital at City Point, who had traveled up to Washington to hear the President speak, later recalled “a silence of awe” that fell over the crowd. Noah Brooks sensed it as well. “The inaugural address was received in most profound silence,” he said. “Every word was clear and audible.” But Brooks also noticed something else. “Looking down into the faces of the people, illuminated by the bright rays of the sun,” he wrote, “one could see moist eyes and tearful cheeks.”

			Lincoln continued, speaking from his heart.

			“Fondly do we hope—fervently do we pray—that this mighty scourge of war may speedily pass away. Yet, if God wills that it continue, until all the wealth piled by the bond-man’s two hundred and fifty years of unrequited toil shall be sunk, and until every drop of blood drawn with the lash, shall be paid with another drawn with the sword, as was said three thousand years ago, so still it must be said ‘the judgments of the Lord, are true and righteous altogether.’ ” The war would not end until slavery was dead.

			Then came the surprising, unexpected finale.

			“With malice toward none; with charity for all; with firmness in the right, as God gives us to see the right, let us strive on to finish the work we are in; to bind up the nation’s wounds; to care for him who shall have borne the battle, and for his widow, and his orphan—to do all which may achieve and cherish a just, and a lasting peace, among ourselves, and with all nations.”

			The crowd erupted into wild applause.
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			Not everyone, of course, had been so moved.

			John Wilkes Booth had finagled a pass to stand in a reserved section of the Capitol steps that morning from Lucy Lambert Hale, a starstruck twenty-four-year-old he was plying with affection. Her father was a United States senator from New Hampshire.

			When Lincoln delivered his address, Booth was less than twenty-five feet away, part of a crowd standing on a raised platform above and behind the dais. Less than one month later, at the House of Lords tavern in New York, Booth ruefully told Samuel Knapp Chester, an old theatrical friend, “what a splendid chance I had to kill the President on the 4th of March.”

			Soon, however, Booth and the other conspirators had more pressing matters.
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			On March 6, 1865, two days after Lincoln’s second inauguration, Lewis Powell was arrested in Baltimore. Powell, who was then going by the alias of Paine or Payne, was staying at the Branson family home when he attacked a young Black woman working there who had refused to clean his room. “He called her some names, and slapped her, and struck her,” recalled Margaret Kaighn, another servant. Powell then threw the young woman on the ground, stomped on her, and said he would kill her. Escaping with her life, the young woman went to the police, who then arrested Powell.

			Eventually, Powell came to the attention of Lieutenant Hiram B. Smith, a Union intelligence officer. Smith interrogated Powell but could get nothing out of him. “I felt in my bones that he was a spy,” he later wrote, “but could not prove it.” Instead, the prisoner was released on the afternoon of March 14. That night he was back at Mary Surratt’s boardinghouse in Washington.

			But it had been a close call, and they all knew it.
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			Three days later, on St. Patrick’s Day, word reached Booth that President Lincoln would be attending a play being held for the benefit of soldiers convalescing at the Campbell Hospital out on Seventh Street near the District line. A plan was quickly hatched and guns were secured. Lewis Powell, John Surratt, Booth, Michael O’Laughlen, George Atzerodt, and a new face, a pharmacist’s assistant named David Herold, all rode out toward the hospital, apparently intent on abducting Lincoln. Only Lincoln didn’t show up for the play.

			Nobody talked about kidnapping the President after that.

			Something else would also soon become evident.

			The conspirators were running out of time.

			They weren’t the only ones.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Twenty-Six-

			City Point

			At exactly twelve o’clock noon on Thursday, March 23, 1865, President Lincoln called bodyguard Major William Henry Crook into his bedroom at the White House. They would be leaving immediately for General Grant’s headquarters at City Point, Virginia. It was a beautiful spring day in Washington. Crocuses, snowdrops, and jonquils had suddenly appeared everywhere. The stately elms along the Mall were showing off their first, tenderest leaves, while clouds of house sparrows and blackbirds exploded out of bushes and arced over rooflines and chimney pots. Down along the Potomac, slick-backed turtles and bullfrogs emerged in the shallows, while schools of shad nosed their way up Rock Creek.

			Though there had been no notice in the newspapers, by the time the carriage carrying the President, with Tad sitting at his side, reached the Arsenal dock off Seventh Street, a curious and anxious crowd had gathered. Everyone knew that, with the arrival of warm weather, the war in Virginia, after months of stagnation, would gear up again. Spring had come, the feeling went, and a new offensive would soon follow. Lincoln, for his part, said nothing but quietly moved up the gangplank and boarded the River Queen, a sidewheel steamship, for the journey down the Potomac and then up the James River to City Point. As the ship pulled away from the dock, the President remained outside, on the deck, the narrow brim of his top hat doing little to shade his eyes from the bright glare of the afternoon sun.

			“Mr. Lincoln watched the city until he could see it no more,” Crook later recalled. “At first he was interested in the sights along the shores. But as we drew near Alexandria he turned back to catch one last glimpse of the city. All the sadness of his face came out now when he was quiet.” For Crook, the moment proved to be an epiphany. “I realized, as I had never done before, what the war meant to him and how anxious he was. It was growing dark, and the air was raw and chilly. But he stayed on the deck until we had passed Alexandria.”

			Despite the recent successes in Georgia and elsewhere, there was plenty for Lincoln to be anxious about. Thousands of Rebel soldiers were still in the field, blockade runners were still bringing needed goods into the Southern states, and the Confederate terror war in the North had shaken the loyal public’s confidence in the government’s ability to protect them. Even more troubling was the situation in Virginia, the most important theater of the war. Richmond had not fallen and Union troops were mired in trenches outside of Petersburg, unable to break through the stubborn Rebel works.

			“From the Petersburg front sick and wounded were daily sent to the hospital, often on rough flat sand cars, over badly laid shaking tracks, being brought as hastily as possible that they might receive proper care and help,” wrote Adelaide Smith, a Union nurse at City Point. “The sight of these cars, loaded with sufferers as they lay piled like logs, waiting their turn to be carried to the wards—powder-stained, dust-begrimed, in ragged torn and blood-stained uniforms, with here and there a half-severed limb dangling from a mutilated body—was a gruesome, sickening one, never to be forgotten.”

			To defeat the Confederacy, Grant would have to find a way to end this stalemate.

			And however it was done, the casualties would be immense.
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			“It was after dark on the 24th when we reached City Point,” Crook later recalled. “It was a beautiful sight at the time, with the many-colored lights of the boats in the harbor, and the lights of the town straggling up the high bluffs of the shore, crowned by the lights of Grant’s headquarters at the top.” Grant, of course, had posted lookouts for Lincoln’s ship. “As soon as the River Queen was made fast to the wharf, General Grant and some members of his staff came aboard. They had a long consultation with the President,” Crook said, adding, “Everybody was up until late.”

			For the next week Lincoln toured the front with Grant and other generals, inspected the fleet of ironclads on the James, reviewed troops, and met with individual soldiers. Riding a black pony, the President got close enough to the fighting to hear musket fire and see the Confederate tents on the other side of the river. “We saw some lively skirmishing,” Crook recalled, “between the picket-lines of the two forces, while we were at General Meade’s headquarters. We were on a hill just east of where the troops were engaged; we were not more than a quarter of a mile from the wood where the fighting was in progress.” As had been the case at Fort Stevens, when Lincoln had been fired upon by Jubal Early’s sharpshooters the previous summer, never had a sitting American president been so close to the action.

			There was more. Lincoln watched as the bodies of Union soldiers were carried off to be buried, and he looked directly into the eyes of a string of Rebel prisoners as they were led away. At the massive field hospital at City Point, he visited with wounded Union troops, both white and Black. But when he started to walk toward a tent near the end of the line, a young medical volunteer spoke up.

			“Mr. President,” he said, “you don’t want to go in there.”

			“Why not, my boy?”

			“Why, sir, they are sick rebel prisoners.”

			“That is just where I want to go,” Lincoln said.

			And with that he walked into the tent, Adelaide Smith recalled, “shaking hands and speaking words of comfort as only his magnanimous spirit could prompt.”
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			One night near the end of the week, a visitor came aboard the River Queen and asked to see President Lincoln. When the ship’s captain said that wasn’t possible, the man became agitated, saying that he had known the President back in Illinois and had contributed large sums of money to his campaign. The captain then summoned Major Crook, who again said that the President was not to be disturbed. After the man offered a bribe, Crook ordered him off the ship, threatening to have him arrested if he did not leave at once. “If Mr. Lincoln does not know me now,” the man said, “he will know me damn soon.” Then he turned and melted into the night.

			But there was something about the man that haunted Crook.

			He seemed somehow familiar; Crook felt he had seen him before. Then it hit him.

			Surratt. John Surratt, whom he’d vaguely known in Maryland before the war.

			“I shall always believe,” Crook later recalled, “that Surratt was seeking an opportunity to assassinate the President at this time.” Soon, however, both Crook and Lincoln would have other, more urgent issues to contend with.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Twenty-Seven-

			Dies Irae

			The men were given coffee at midnight.

			The night was cold and dank, cloaked in a heavy fog. When the moon finally dipped below the trees, the brigade moved quietly toward their left, voices stilled. Then it was hurry up and wait. Dropping down onto the damp ground, for three hours they shivered in the darkness. The Rebel picket line was little more than three hundred yards away. At half past four, there was enough light to begin to make out the broad contours of the broken and swampy ground between them and the Confederate battlements. The order to advance was given, and a column of ten thousand Vermonters rose as one and launched the long-awaited assault on Petersburg.

			It was Sunday, April 2, 1865.

			Once the Rebel pickets realized what was happening, they opened fire. Only it wasn’t as thick as had been feared, and the Union troops responded with a mighty roar and kept pushing forward. But in the still-dim predawn light, some of the units got mixed, and small groups of soldiers and officers became separated from their regiments.

			Among them was a sandy-haired farmer’s son from Windham County named Charles Gilbert Gould, who had lied about his age and joined the army when he was sixteen. Now, four weeks shy of his twentieth birthday, Gould was a captain with the 5th Vermont, the troops that were at the very front of the column. Mistakenly veering to the left when most of his regiment pushed straight ahead, Gould made a beeline for what he was certain was a narrow gap between the abatis in the Rebel line. “I had jumped into the ditch and climbed the parapet,” he later recalled, then dropped into the breastwork itself. After a siege that had lasted two hundred and ninety-two days, Gould was the first to breach the Confederate line at Petersburg.

			He was also all alone among enemies.

			“I was scarcely inside before a bayonet was thrust through my face and a sword-thrust returned for it that fully repaid the wound given me,” Gould said. “At almost the same breath an officer—or someone armed with a sword—gave me a severe cut in the head.” Furiously fighting back, Gould was now getting clubbed with rifle butts and received a second bayonet wound in the back, nearly severing his spinal cord. He should have died right then and there. “I have no distinct recollection of what followed,” he added, “until I found myself at the parapet, trying to climb out of the work, but unable to.” Luckily, a private in the 5th Vermont suddenly appeared and pulled Gould back to safety, receiving a bullet wound in the process.

			By the time that Captain Gould made it back to the rear for medical attention, the Confederate line at Petersburg was collapsing.
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			St. Paul’s was both the largest church in Richmond and easily the most influential. Located across the street from the Confederate capitol, it was the preferred place of worship for many of the city’s richest and most powerful families. Heads of government departments regularly attended services there, as did General Lee whenever he was in town. So, too, on this Sunday did Jefferson Davis. It was Communion Sunday, and as the eleven o’clock service began, the Confederate president took his seat in his regular pew, Number 63. “Another clear and bright morning,” recalled J. B. Jones.

			But shortly before noon, the atmosphere inside St. Paul’s suddenly changed.

			“At about twelve o’clock and while the congregation was engaged in prayer,” remembered William A. Irving, the church’s English-born sexton, “a young gentleman, in plain clothes, entered the vestibule, and in a very quiet manner desired to see President Davis, and I informed him that as soon as the congregation arose from their knees that I would call him out. The young gentleman, after waiting several minutes informed me that he could wait no longer, and taking from his pocket a slip of paper he wrote thereon these words: “General Lee telegraphs, that he can hold his position no longer. Come to the office immediately. Breckenridge.” The sexton delivered the message, and Davis immediately left the church, a wake of widened eyes and whisperings trailing behind him. The service concluded with communion and prayer.

			Afterward, outside on the street, the parishioners weren’t left in the dark for long.

			Up at the capitol, clerks were already burning stacks of documents.

			The collapse at Petersburg had made Richmond indefensible.

			The city was to be abandoned.
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			The rest of the day passed in a blur.

			Rumors ran amok. There was talk that General A. P. Hill had been killed and that Lee had been seriously wounded. “I hear nothing of all this at the department; but the absence of dispatches there is now interpreted as bad news!” wrote clerk J. B. Jones in his diary. “Certain it is, the marching of veteran troops from the defenses of Richmond, and replacing them hurriedly with militia, can only indicate an emergency of alarming importance.” At two o’clock came the official announcement: the city was to be evacuated. President Davis and key members of the government would relocate farther south.

			Everywhere, across the city, there was sudden activity.

			“Ordnance supplies, that could not be moved, were rolled into the canal; commissary stores were thrown open, and their hoarded contents distributed to eager crowds,” wrote a Confederate officer. “And strange crowds they were. Fragile, delicate women staggered under the heavy loads they bore to suffering children at home; the pale wife clutched hungrily at the huge ham, or the bag of coffee, for the wounded hero, pining at home for such a delicacy. Children were there with outstretched hands, crying for what they could carry; and hoary-headed men tugged wearily at the barrels of pork, flour, or sugar they strove to roll before their weak arms.” Many African Americans saw their chance and took it, fleeing for the Union lines. Others watched and waited. “The negroes stand about mostly silent, as if wondering what will be their fate,” wrote J. B. Jones. “They make no demonstrations of joy.”

			Come nightfall, another population emerged.

			Thieves and pickpockets, sharps and molls.

			“Fierce crowds of skulking men,” Thomas C. DeLeon wrote, and “coarse, half-drunken women.” Breaking into stores whose owners had already fled, they smashed windows, littering the streets and sidewalks with shards like diamonds, and grabbed whatever was left: sad bits of clothing and crockery, tattered rugs, and chipped china. But it was down by the river where the looters truly ran free. “Now the uncontrolled swarms of men and women—especially the wharf rats at Rockett’s where the navy storehouses were—seized the liquor and became more maddened by it,” DeLeon noted. “In some places where the barrels were stove, the whisky ran in the gutters ankle deep; and here half-drunken women, and children even, fought, to dip up the coveted fluid in tin pans, buckets, or any vessel available.”

			Come midnight, the city had grown still. “All is yet quiet,” J. B. Jones wrote.

			Then, at around two a.m., came the first fires. Rebel soldiers, following commands by their officers, began setting fire to government warehouses and ammunition magazines, barges and ironclads, bales of cotton and stacks of lumber, flour mills, anything that the enemy could use. Beneath a canopy of spring stars, great plumes of black smoke and orange cinders rose into the sky, punctuated by tremendous, window-shattering blasts. “The armory, arsenal, and laboratory, which had been previously fired, gave forth terrible sounds from thousands of bursting shells,” Jones recounted. “At dawn there were two tremendous explosions, seeming to startle the very earth, and crashing the glass throughout the western end of the city.”

			The soldiers of the Confederacy were burning their own capital.

			Soon afterward, the last Rebel troops to leave Richmond—“gaunt men, guiding half-starved horses,” wrote DeLeon—tramped across Mayo’s Bridge over the James River. Then two Confederate officers and one engineer set the bridge on fire.
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			By eleven o’clock the next morning, Monday, April 3, order had been restored in Richmond. Union cavalry, led by Black troops, had raced into the city, the hooves of their horses clattering along the cobblestone streets. Hundreds of soldiers occupied Capitol Square, the former seat of Confederate government, where now, atop the former capitol, the Stars and Stripes fluttered once more.

			That same day, Adelaide Smith and some fellow nurses watched as a group of Confederate prisoners from Petersburg tramped along a road near their hospital at City Point. “It was a strange, sad sight,” she wrote, “this long line of Confederate prisoners, 3,000 strong, officers and men without arms—some by habit reaching for the forfeited sword, belt, or gun—worn, tired, begrimed figures of despair. They were clothed in every degree of shabbiness, from the dulled tinsel of the uniformed officers, to the worn, faded, ragged grey that they had so confidently donned at the beginning of the war.” None of the Union soldiers, nurses, and orderlies lining the road, Smith added, exulted over the procession. “Some even saluted.”

			But the most trenchant comment came from an elderly Black woman, her hair tied in a faded handkerchief, who stood with a group of ragged, barefoot African Americans along the side of the road. Peering carefully at the faces of the men passing by, she suddenly spoke up. “Lord, there goes old Master, I knows him sure.”

			Then came the hammer blow.

			“I’se free,” she added. “I’se free.”

		

	
		
			-Chapter Twenty-Eight-

			Easter Week

			Saturday, April 8, 1865.

			President Lincoln had been in Virginia for nearly two and a half weeks. He had conferred with Grant, Meade, and Sherman, who had come up from the Carolinas, as well as hundreds of ordinary soldiers, shaking so many hands that his arms hurt. The day after Richmond had fallen, he had visited the smoldering Rebel capital in what must have been a sublimely satisfying moment. There, he had walked inside the former White House of the Confederacy and sat at Jefferson Davis’s vacated desk. He had gone to Petersburg as well. But now it was time to return to the White House. At eleven o’clock that night, with a sleepy Tad—and also Mary, who had come to City Point separately—at his side, Lincoln boarded the River Queen for the voyage back to Washington.

			The next morning, Palm Sunday, was cool, but as the day wore on the temperature climbed, and the Virginia and Maryland countryside on both sides of the Potomac shimmered in all of its springtime glory. The President was in fine spirits and especially talkative. “The whole day the conversation turned on literary subjects,” wrote the Marquis de Chambrun. “Mr. Lincoln read aloud to us for several hours…. Most of the passages were from Shakespeare, especially Macbeth.” Of particular interest were the lines following the murder of Duncan. “Now and then he paused to expatiate on how exact a picture Shakespeare here gives of a murderer’s mind when, the dark deed achieved, its perpetrator already envies his victim’s calm sleep. He read the scene over twice.”

			The River Queen finally docked in Washington at six o’clock in the evening. The President’s carriage was waiting at the wharf. Lincoln, Tad, and Major Crook climbed in and headed for the White House. Only something was different. “The streets were alive with people, all very much excited,” Crook later recalled. “There were bonfires everywhere. We were all curious to know what happened. Tad was so excited he couldn’t keep still.” Finally, the driver was instructed to halt, and they called out to a bystander.

			“What has happened?”

			The man looked at them in amazement.

			“Where have you been?” he said. “Lee has surrendered.”
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			It was true.

			When the line at Petersburg began to collapse on the morning of April 2, Lee had had no choice but to withdraw from Richmond. Hoping to preserve his army, he withdrew his troops to the west while Jefferson Davis and the Confederate government took off for Danville, intent on establishing a new capital in Charlotte. But Lee’s hungry and emaciated soldiers could not move at the pace they had managed in earlier campaigns, and they were mauled by Grant’s troops four days later at Sailor’s Creek, suffering heavy losses. Lee, however, was not finished. While Union soldiers, including U.S. Colored Troops, kept up their pursuit, Lee sought to win a tactical victory near Appomattox Court House, where he hoped to capture needed supplies and continue moving his army south to North Carolina. Instead, he found himself trapped by thousands of Union troops. At a little after one o’clock in the afternoon on April 9, Lee met with Grant inside the parlor of the McLean House and surrendered the Army of Northern Virginia.
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			Word of Lee’s capitulation electrified the nation.

			Telegraph wires hummed from New England to the Pacific.

			“The great news had really reached Washington the night before,” wrote Lincoln’s friend Noah Brooks, “and a few newspaper men and others of late habits, who were up through the darkness and dampness of those memorable hours, had sent the glad tidings all over the Union from Maine to California, and had then unbent themselves in a private jollification.” In Washington itself, anyone who hadn’t heard the news on Sunday night got more than an inkling early on Monday morning when a roaring five-hundred-gun salute broke through the light rain and mist and shook the earth and rattled windows from the Congressional Cemetery to Georgetown.

			“The streets were shockingly muddy,” Brooks added, “but were alive with people singing and cheering, carrying flags, and saluting everybody.” At the Treasury Department, female and male employees gathered in the central hallway and sang “Old Hundredth,” the three-hundred-year-old hymn that begins with “Praise God, from whom all blessings flow.” “Then they marched in a body across the grounds to the White House,” Brooks recalled, “where the President was at breakfast, and serenaded him with ‘The Star-Spangled Banner.’ ” Others joined the crowd, which soon filled the entire front lawn. They waited for the President to give a speech.

			Finally, there was movement at a window on the upper floor.

			Tad appeared first, joyfully waving a captured Rebel flag to the utter delight of the mass of people. Then came Lincoln himself. Begging off making an address until later, he told the crowd that he had conferred with the attorney general, who had determined that the song “Dixie” now rightfully belonged to the United States. He then had one of the brass bands gathered on the lawn play the unofficial Rebel anthem. “Then the President proposed three cheers for General Grant,” Brooks wrote, “and the officers and men under him, then three cheers for the navy, all of which were given heartily, the President leading off, waving his hand; and the laughing joyous crowd dispersed.”

			Never had there been such a happy day in Washington.

			People smiled and laughed and cried. Who cared about the weather?

			The Washington Evening Star wrote that it was “The End of the Rebellion.”

			The National Republican simply said, “The End!”

			Only it wasn’t true.
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			While Robert E. Lee had surrendered the Army of Northern Virginia at Appomattox, the war had not ended on April 9. Not at all. Jefferson Davis fully intended that the Confederacy would fight on, and there were still more than one hundred thousand armed Rebel troops in the field. Confederate general Joseph E. Johnston commanded the largest number, in North Carolina, but there were other commands as well. Nathan Bedford Forrest still had troops in Tennessee, Mississippi, and Alabama, as did Lieutenant General Richard Taylor. West of the Mississippi River, Confederate forces were still operational in Arkansas, Texas, and Indian Territory. Even in Virginia, not all Rebel troops had laid down their arms. The war was not over.

			Lincoln, of course, was fully aware of this.

			So was John Wilkes Booth. On the evening of April 10, he dropped by Mary Surratt’s boardinghouse. One of the boarders, Louis Weichmann, who knew full well of Booth’s pro-Southern proclivities, was there. “I jested Booth about the fall of Richmond and told him I thought the Confederacy had gone up,” Weichmann later recalled. Booth wouldn’t hear of it.

			“No,” he said, “it’s not gone up yet.”

			Then, according to Weichmann, Booth launched into a rebuttal by “pulling a Perrine’s war map out of his pocket, [and] began to show the different routes which Johnston would take to the mountains, where, he thought, he could make a stubborn resistance and thus prevent final capture.” By disappearing into the Appalachians, the logic went, the Confederacy could fight a guerrilla war until the war-weary North would finally relent.
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			The others had also been busy.

			On March 15, Lewis Powell and John Surratt, along with two female companions, Nora Fitzpatrick and Mary Apollonia Dean, clearly on a reconnaissance mission, sat in the Presidential Box at Ford’s Theatre and watched a twin bill of tragedy and comedy. Surratt left for Richmond soon after that. When the Confederate capital was on the verge of being evacuated, Surratt and a Rebel spy and courier named Sarah Slater made their way from the Confederate capital to Washington, arriving on April 3. The next day, they took a train to New York. Booth had already been in Manhattan for a couple of days. At a meeting with like-minded conspirators, Booth likely not only learned for the first time about the plot to blow up the White House but discovered that it was to happen imminently. “Booth said that if he did not get him [Lincoln] quick, the N. York crowd would,” Atzerodt later stated. Whether Surratt was at that meeting or not is unknown. On April 4, Surratt left New York for Montreal. Despite the crisis in Virginia, the Confederate terror network in the North was still intact.

			

			
				[image: ]
			

			One week later, back in Washington. Late on a misty Tuesday afternoon.

			Lewis Powell and John Wilkes Booth made their way past the now seemingly permanent encampment of people hanging about Lafayette Square. It had been five days since Union troops, led by Black soldiers, entered Richmond. And only the day before yesterday had come the shocking news of Lee’s surrender to Grant. It had been by far the worst week ever for the Confederacy. Crossing Pennsylvania Avenue, the two men worked their way into the crowd gathered on the White House lawn. Rumor had it that the President would be giving an address from his usual window in the Executive Mansion.

			The rumor proved to be true.

			Lincoln appeared at the window. Tad was at his side, holding a lamp, so the crowd below could better see the President.

			“We meet this evening, not in sorrow, but in gladness of heart,” Lincoln began. “The evacuation of Petersburg and Richmond, and the surrender of the principal insurgent army, give hope of a righteous and speedy peace whose joyous expression cannot be restrained.” The words were measured and precise. There would be none of the soaring language of the Second Inaugural or the Gettysburg Address—no “government of the people, by the people, for the people,” no “with malice toward none.” For months the President had been under extreme pressure from the different wings of the Republican Party to make clear his intentions on the Reconstruction of the South. This was to be a policy talk, not a call to glory.

			The audience, shifting its feet on the soft grass, listened politely as Lincoln spoke of the difficulties inherent in knitting the nation back together, of competing interests and agendas between Congress and the Executive Branch, and of recent efforts to bring the state of Louisiana fully back into the Union. The language was dry and analytic. It was lawyer talk. Then, about two-thirds of the way through, Lincoln touched upon the question of who should be allowed to vote in the newly reconstructed states. “It is also unsatisfactory to some that the elective franchise is not given to the colored man,” he said. “I would myself prefer that it were now conferred on the very intelligent, and on those who serve our cause as soldiers.” A mild endorsement, at best, of Black voting rights, and certainly not as far as Frederick Douglass, for one, would have wanted, even expected, him to go.

			But to Booth the words burned like molten iron.

			He turned to Powell, who had a revolver, and urged him to shoot Lincoln.

			Powell ignored him.

			Afterward, while walking back through Lafayette Square, Booth offered a kind of benediction. “That’s the last speech he’ll ever give.”
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			The next evening, Wednesday, April 12, Booth dropped by the box office at Ford’s Theatre and spoke with three men working there. Booth was in a foul mood, ranting about African Americans and playing the role of the victim. “We are all slaves now,” he said. “If a man were to go out and insult a n——, he would be knocked down by the n——, and nothing would be done to the n——.” He was especially bitter about seeing groups of Confederate prisoners being guarded by Black troops.

			“He just went on talking about n——s, and we would not argue with him any more, and he went out of the office,” recalled Henry Clay Ford, one of the men in the box office that night. “I guess he was there about thirty minutes.”

			

			
				[image: ]
			

			Booth came back to Ford’s the next day, April 13, but stayed only for a few minutes.

			He also paid a visit to Grover’s Theatre, over on Pennsylvania Avenue, at about three o’clock that afternoon. Grover’s had just opened a new production, Aladdin, or, The Wonderful Lamp, a theatrical extravaganza complete, ran the newspaper ads, with “Magnificent Scenery, Magical Illusions, Intricate Machinery, Entrancing Songs, and the Living Fountain of Colored Waters.” Even more appealing, that evening’s performance would also include the reading of a new patriotic poem, and a performance of a new musical number, “Sherman’s March to the Sea.”

			Booth had a question for Charles Dwight Hess, one of the managers at Grover’s:

			“You going to invite the President?”
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			That evening was like no other in the history of Washington.

			Known as the “Grand Illumination,” it was both a celebration of the recent Union victories and an immense, patriotic, and citywide lighting and pyrotechnic display. Not only would every government building be decorated with flags and bunting and be lit up for one special night, but so, too, would hotels, stores, banks, hospitals, and theaters. Private citizens were also encouraged to illuminate their homes. The idea, which was announced on Tuesday, two days after Lee surrendered, was immediately embraced. Flags, candlesticks, and lanterns flew off the shelves, while shopkeepers, business owners, government functionaries, and even schoolchildren got busy making decorations. That there would be something to look at on Thursday night was assured.

			But few were prepared for what did occur.

			“Never, in the history of the National Metropolis was such a scene of brilliancy, beauty, and general rejoicing witnessed here,” gushed the Washington National Intelligencer. “The entire city was literally ablaze.” The Washington Chronicle concurred, calling the Grand Illumination “the most magnificent display ever witnessed in Washington, or, we may venture to say, in any other city of the world.” After the sun set a little after six thirty and the skies darkened, the wartime capital was transformed as it had never been before.

			The streets were literally bathed in light. Across the city, every single government building was decorated and illuminated. All one hundred and ninety-five windows of the Post Office Building were lit, some with as many as fifteen candles each. So were those at the Patent Office, across whose south front the word “Union” was spelled out in a large display of gas jets. The War Department was lit by Drummond lights while, the Washington Evening Star reported, “On the top of the north portico was a transparency with the word ‘Grant,’ surmounted with an arch of evergreens, from which was suspended a number of ship lanterns with red, white and blue lights.” The Treasury building and the State Department were all aglow, while City Hall, the police department, Hook and Ladder Company No. 1, and the Navy Yard were swathed in flags and patriotic bunting and illuminated by thousands of candles. Even the insane asylum was lit up.

			Hotels and shops competed with each other for the grandest, cleverest, and most memorable displays, while the streets were packed with awestruck, delighted crowds. Flags and portraits of Lincoln and Grant appeared in illuminated storefronts, along with large transparencies declaring “Union Forever!” E. L. Seldner’s clothing store at the corner of Seventh and Pennsylvania drew hordes of laughing passersby with its gas jet sign that asked, “How are you, Lee?” Private homes and residences were lit and decorated, from substantial mansions to the lowliest quarters. Eleven-year-old Otto Wolfstiner had decorated a window with his own hand-lettered tribute to Sherman and Sheridan, while in the alleyways near the barracks off South Second Street, the Washington Chronicle reported, “Nearly every negro hut in the neighborhood had its lights.” And for most of the evening, fireworks lit up the sky above the city.

			One reporter had the bright idea of talking his way to the top of the dome of the Capitol in order to view the Illumination. “From this elevation the impression was given that of an immense map of Washington traced out in phosphorescent fires,” the reporter wrote. “Every street and avenue was revealed by the lines of living light.” But equally impressive was the view across the Potomac toward Arlington House, where a giant illuminated star had been attached to a flagpole. “There was nothing brighter than that star above Arlington House,” the National Republican reported. “Robert E. Lee’s star has set, but the star of freedom has arisen over his house, never again to be obscured by the treason for which he has sought so bloodily and vainly.”

			Across the river, in Washington proper, the crowds lingered and walked the streets until late, a fitting end to what had already been a joyous week.

			

			
				[image: ]
			

			Not everyone, of course, felt the same.

			As the evening drew to a close, John Wilkes Booth, David Herold, and George Atzerodt gathered together in Lewis Powell’s rented room on Ninth Street for one last time—four angry, bitter men in a city awash in light.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Twenty-Nine-

			April 14th

			Laura Keene was a survivor. And a force of nature.

			Born Mary Moss in London in 1826, she learned to play the piano, dance, and sing as a child, and was a voracious reader. Smart and determined, she was also “beautiful, with chestnut hair and eyes.” Married at eighteen, she gave birth to two daughters. But when she turned twenty-three, her husband was arrested, convicted, and sent to a penal colony in Australia. Forced to find a means of supporting herself and her young children, she became an actress—and a wildly successful one. Now billing herself as Laura Keene, she made her London debut in 1851. One year later, she accepted an offer from an American theater manager to move to New York, where she won accolades from critics and audiences alike.

			But Keene had bigger dreams. In 1853, she took over the Charles Street Theatre in Baltimore, becoming one of the first, if not the first, women theater managers in the United States. Acting, writing, and directing, she produced thirty-four plays in Baltimore over the course of a single year. Following a stint in San Francisco, where she was credited with raising the level of the city’s theatrical performances, she returned to New York City, where, in 1856, she opened her very own Laura Keene’s Theatre on Broadway. She was only thirty years old.

			She was also far from done.

			Play runs in those days were typically short, with most productions lasting for less than a dozen performances. Not Laura Keene’s. The Elves ran for a then record-breaking fifty performances, while The Seven Sisters played for an astonishing two hundred and fifty-three. By choosing her material carefully, Keene built up a repertoire of successful plays, usually featuring herself in one of the leading roles, that she could also successfully take on the road. Such was the case with one of her most popular plays, Our American Cousin, which ran in New York for five months straight. A three-act comedy written by Tom Taylor, the play revolved around the efforts of a hayseed American heir who has returned to England to claim control of the family manor from his snooty English cousins.

			In early April 1865, Laura Keene agreed to star in a set of performances at John Ford’s new theater in Washington. A new play, The Workmen of Washington, would be performed, as well as some older chestnuts, like She Stoops to Conquer, The School for Scandal, and the surefire crowd favorite, Our American Cousin.
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			If Mary Todd Lincoln did not love playgoing as much as her husband, she loved going to the theater for other reasons. Possessed of a deep need to be admired and respected by Washington’s elites, yet mired in insecurity and self-doubt, Mary discovered that a night at the theater gave her an opportunity to bask in the adulation afforded her husband while also allowing herself to be seen publicly by those whose judgment she feared and whose approval she desperately wanted. And the Good Friday evening showing at Ford’s, with the great Laura Keene, would be a fitting end to what had already been an unforgettable and incredibly tumultuous week. Better yet, when she learned that General Grant and his wife, Julia, were in town, the First Lady sent an invitation asking them to join the President and her at Ford’s on Friday evening, followed by a small after-theater party.

			In truth, Mary didn’t care at all for Mrs. Grant. When both women were visiting their husbands at City Point, a rattled Mary had turned on Julia. “I suppose you think you’ll get to the White House yourself, don’t you?” she hissed.
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			The President’s day had gotten off to a good start.

			At eight o’clock he had breakfasted with his eldest son, Robert, who was serving as an aide on Grant’s staff. Several members of Congress dropped in at the White House to sing the administration’s praises for its continuing handling of the war. Grant himself dropped by later and shared details of the surrender of Lee’s army at Appomattox. The war itself, after all, wasn’t over yet. During the cabinet meeting, which lasted from eleven until two, there was much to discuss, especially whether the leaders of the Rebellion should ultimately be prosecuted once they were apprehended or allowed to flee the country. “Well,” Lincoln said, “I should not be sorry to have them out of the country. But I should be for following them up pretty close, to make sure of their going.”

			Yet despite all the policy talk, Lincoln was in an expansive mood, one in which he often told stories or veered off into seemingly trivial matters. “Mr. Lincoln remarked that a peculiar dream of the previous night was one that had occurred several times in his life—a vague sense of floating—floating away on some vast and indistinct expanse, toward an unknown shore,” recalled Frederick W. Seward, who sat in on the meeting for his father, Secretary of State William Seward, who was recovering from a carriage accident. Almost immediately, cabinet members gave their own interpretations, but the President’s view of the dream was unquestionably positive. “He came to regard it as a welcome visitor,” Ward Hill Lamon wrote. “It was of a pleasing and promising character.” And, indeed, Lincoln had much to be pleased about. While there was still much work to do, and a war to be finally and irrevocably won, the nation had turned a mighty corner, and he knew it. The horrible, dark days of the previous summer were now behind him.

			There was a small off note when the Grants ended up turning down Mary’s invitation to join them at the theater and the small party afterward, that evening. But it quickly passed, and Lincoln invited Major Henry Rathbone, a veteran of Antietam and Fredericksburg with the 12th United States Infantry, and his fiancée, Clara Harris, daughter of a senator from New York, to join them instead. At around half past four, Charles Dana dropped by the White House with the news that Jacob Thompson, the Confederate spy chief in Montreal, would be passing through Portland, Maine, that evening, where he would catch a steamship to England. Stanton wanted Thompson to be arrested, but, once again, the President was inclined to let a traitor go. “Well,” Lincoln said, “when you have got an elephant by the hind leg, and he’s trying to run away, it’s best to let him run.”

			Later that afternoon, between five and six o’clock, the President and Mary went for a carriage ride. The air was crisp and brisk, with a lingering touch of winter.
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			For a Good Friday performance, the full or nearly full house at Ford’s Theatre was especially impressive. Whether it was because of rumors that the President would be in attendance or not, well before curtain time most of the seats were filled with happy patrons, many of whom were still discussing the incredible news of the past week, as well as the wonders of the Grand Illumination the night before. At seven forty-five, the Presidential Box was still empty, so the stage manager, John B. Wright, dawdled a bit and had the orchestra play some patriotic songs. Finally, at a quarter past eight, Wright could wait no longer. Upon his instructions, the house lights dimmed and the stage lights brightened. Then the curtain rose and Our American Cousin began.

			The play itself was a gentle farce. Asa Trenchard, an uneducated and uncouth backwoodsman from the mountains of Vermont, has learned that he is the heir to an English country estate that his forebears left two hundred years earlier. Asa, played by veteran actor Harry Hawk, has come to England to claim his property. His English relations are understandably aghast at this sudden turn of events and fall prey to an unscrupulous businessman named Coyle, who has his eyes on marrying Lord Trenchard’s beautiful daughter, Florence, played by Laura Keene, who detests him. Rounding out the cast are an idiotic nobleman, Lord Dundreary, a befuddled butler, an alcoholic tutor, and a poor but honest milkmaid.

			But before the players were even halfway through with the first scene in the first act, Laura Keene suddenly broke character and directed the attention of the audience to the Presidential Box, bedecked with flags and bunting, hovering over the south side of the auditorium, less than fifteen feet from the floor of the stage itself. The President and the First Lady, along with Major Rathbone and Miss Harris, had arrived. “The President entered the theatre at 8½ o’ck, amid deafening cheers and the rising of all,” wrote James S. Knox, a Princeton graduate working in the Union army’s medical department. “Everything was cheerful, and never was our magistrate more enthusiastically welcomed or more happy.”

			The good cheer continued when the play resumed. Joke after joke was met with infectious laughter, especially when they involved the culture clash between Asa, the unlettered, outspoken American, and his reserved and guarded English cousins. Going for even more laughs, Keene and the other cast members also freely ad-libbed lines that referred to both current events and to the President himself. “Many pleasant allusions were made to him in the play,” Knox added, “to which the audience gave deafening responses, while Mr. Lincoln laughed heartily and bowed frequently to the gratified people.” Laura Keene was particularly thrilled. The performance that night was not only a benefit in her honor. It was also a smashing success.

			Then it happened.

			Near the middle of the third act, Keene was standing in the wings, waiting to make her next-to-last entrance. Asa was verbally sparring with the snobbish Mrs. Mountchessington, who had accused him of having no manners. But Asa has had enough. “Don’t know the manners of good society, eh?” he shot back. “Well, I guess I know enough to turn you inside out, old gal—you sockdologizing old man-trap.” As the audience erupted into laughter, a gunshot was heard.

			Then, in a flash, a man in a black suit was seen climbing onto the railing of the Presidential Box. Leaping to the stage, he caught one of his spurs on the bunting on the way down. Dropping briefly to his knees when he hit the stage floor, he rose up and, holding a dagger in his hand, shouted “Sic semper tyrannis!” The motto of the state of Virginia, it meant “Thus always to tyrants.” The man then pushed his way into the wings, bolted out the back of the theater, jumped onto a waiting horse, and galloped off into the night. It had all happened in an instant.

			Inside the theater, shock and disbelief soon gave way to pandemonium.

			Screams gave way to a flurry of words and phrases. The President. Surgeon. Is there a surgeon? Assassinated. Kill him. Lynch. Someone shot Mr. Lincoln. Someone.

			But it wasn’t someone to Laura Keene.

			For he had bumped into her as he dashed off the stage toward the alley.

			She would have known him anywhere.

			It was Booth. John Wilkes Booth.

		

	
		
			-Chapter Thirty-

			Of Time and the River

			By any measure, it was the most storied house in town.

			Located on Brattle Street only a short walk from Harvard Yard, the twenty-two-room Georgian mansion known as the Craigie House boasted twin verandas, extensive gardens, and a view of the Charles. But even more impressive was its backstory. During the fevered spring of 1775, the house had been used as a temporary hospital for the wounded from the Battles of Lexington and Concord. Less than three months later, General George Washington took it over as his headquarters during the siege of Boston. John and Abigail Adams, Benedict Arnold, and Nathanael Greene had all walked along its polished wood floors, while Washington himself had invited the African American poet Phillis Wheatley to visit him there should she ever come to Cambridge.

			Now the home of Henry Wadsworth Longfellow, it was where the Massachusetts poet had written some of his most beloved works, including “Paul Revere’s Ride,” “Evangeline,” and The Song of Hiawatha. And it was here that Longfellow had entertained some of the great artistic, literary, and political figures of his age, including Charles Dickens, Jenny Lind, Fanny Kemble, Nathaniel Hawthorne, and Charles Sumner. Here, beneath its roof, the great issues of the day were parsed and prodded and debated. But during the summer of 1865, a different kind of drama took place, week after week, on the side porch and grounds of the mansion.

			Its protagonists were a group of girls, aged eight to fifteen.

			Three of them were Longfellow’s daughters. The others were neighborhood friends and classmates, including Henrietta Dana, daughter of novelist, abolitionist, and attorney Richard Henry Dana Jr. All that summer, the girls put on a play—the same play, week after week. “The east veranda of the Craigie House became the Presidential Box at Ford’s Theater,” Henrietta later wrote. “The croquet-lawn was marked out as the stage, where the elder Sothern was playing ‘Lord Dundreary’ with his English company in ‘Our American Cousin.’ ”

			Though it may have struck passersby as needlessly morbid, it was the girls’ way of coping with the terrible, shocking news of Lincoln’s assassination. “That such a thing could happen in our own civilized age, in our own free country, to our own good and dear President was appalling,” Henrietta recalled. “It seemed, like an earthquake, to knock away from under us all sense of stability and direction, leaving us dizzy and terrified. But soon our love of the dramatic came to our rescue.” Reading the daily newspaper reports for details of the assassination, they created and staged their own outdoor drama.

			The oldest girls, not surprisingly, claimed the best parts. “The tallest of the older girls was Lincoln in the opening scene where he entered the loge with Mrs. Lincoln and other friends and received the plaudits of the audience.” But in a later scene, where the President sat in his chair and was shot, Henrietta was judged to be an adequate stand-in: “Our brilliant and resourceful stage manager, Gertrude Horsford, assuming the role of Booth, stole into the Presidential box, held a wooden gun to my head with a loud ‘Bang!’ and flourishing a long paper-cutter with the shout ‘Sic semper tyrannis,’ vaulted lightly over the veranda rail on to the stage, four feet below. The excitement on the stage was tremendous as Trudie dashed through the actors,” Henrietta added, “and disappeared into a clump of bushes off-stage.”

			In the next scene, Henrietta was again enlisted. “Booth as the lonely, crippled, hunted fugitive was no longer a star part,” she recalled. “It was unanimously assigned to me, and I was given a long start to make the tour of the entire grounds alone, circle back and take refuge in the stable at the rear.” The other girls, along with Trap, the Longfellows’ Skye terrier, then formed a posse and, after diligently searching the grounds, converged upon the stable. And for Henrietta, what happened next became difficult to handle. “Poor Booth, pursued and execrated, was a rather lonely and even terrifying role for the eight-year-old child,” she wrote. “For, though I knew well enough it was all play-acting, yet when I at last took refuge in the hayloft of the stable, and the girls were jumping about and shouting outside, threatening to burn down the stable, Trap barking furiously the while, it became almost too realistic and I confess that I was on the verge of tears.”
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			Eventually, the war ground to an end.

			Rebel land forces in Texas held out until May 26 and had even fought in a small battle two weeks earlier. North of the Red River, in the Indian Nations, Cherokee Confederate general Stand Watie did not give up until June 23, more than two months after President Lincoln had been murdered. And the final Rebel surrender, that of the Confederate raider CSS Shenandoah, did not happen until well after that. Cut off from news on land, the ship, which had been purchased in England by a Confederate agent the previous fall, rounded Cape Horn, crossed the Indian Ocean, and then set about attacking New England whaling vessels in the Pacific. Finally notified by a British seaman that the war had ended, the Shenandoah returned to England, where its captain surrendered in Liverpool on November 9, more than six months after Appomattox. The war, on paper at least, had finally ended.

			Not every Rebel leader surrendered, however.

			Colonel John Mosby, whose Confederate guerrillas had been a key link in the Rebel spy network in Virginia, simply told his men to go home. Jubal Early, who had come within an inch of capturing or burning Washington, rode on horseback all the way from Virginia to Texas, where, trading his uniform for the simple clothes of a poor farmer, he slipped across the border into Mexico. “I have come into exile rather than to submit to the yoke of the oppressors of my country,” he wrote the next year. “That right of self-government has been lost, and slavery violently abolished.” The Confederate governor of Florida, John Milton, no doubt would have empathized. Upon hearing of the fall of Petersburg, and having told the state legislature that “death would be preferable to reunion,” he promptly blew out his brains.
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			John Wilkes Booth was on the run for twelve days.

			He had been identified immediately to police as the man who had shot the President by Laura Keene, actors, and stagehands at Ford’s Theatre, and a massive search for the dazzling actor was immediately launched. Lodgings were searched, scores of people were interviewed, and wanted posters were distributed up and down the East Coast. Once the darling of footlights from Boston to Chicago and from New Orleans to New York City, Booth was fatally wounded in a burning barn in rural Virginia, shot in the neck by a troubled Union army sergeant. Booth died three hours later. He was twenty-six.

			Lewis Powell did not fare much better. Assigned on the same night of Lincoln’s murder to kill Secretary of State William Seward at his home on Lafayette Square, Powell immediately ran into trouble. His plan went awry when he was confronted by Seward’s son and an army nurse. Attacking them both with a pistol and a knife, Powell then assaulted the bedridden Seward, violently slashing him about the face and throat. Thinking that he had killed Seward, he fled the house, only to be arrested three days later. George Atzerodt was supposed to kill Vice President Andrew Johnson that same night but, after a few rounds at a saloon, backed out. Atzerodt, along with David Herold and Mary Surratt, was also arrested.

			During a widely publicized trial that summer, government prosecutors were unable to prove that the conspirators had been working at the direct behest of the Confederate government, though they believed that to be true. They did, however, prove that four of the conspirators were guilty in the plot to kill President Lincoln, and they were sentenced to death. Three others were given life imprisonment, while Ned Spangler received a sentence of six years at hard labor. John Surratt got nothing. Hidden by a Catholic priest in Saint-Liboire-de-Bagot, Quebec, he escaped to Europe, where he joined the Pontifical Zouaves in Rome. Recognized by an American tourist, he was eventually arrested by American authorities in Egypt. Brought back to the United States, he was tried for his role in the murder of President Lincoln, but the jury could not agree on a verdict, and Surratt was set free.

			Meanwhile, the four who received the most attention during the course of the trial experienced a different fate.

			On July 7, 1865, a sunny Friday, Lewis Powell, David Herold, George Atzerodt, and Mary Surratt were hung from a wooden gallows at the Old Arsenal Prison in Washington, the counters of Mrs. Surratt’s shoes gently rubbing against each other in the warm breeze coming off the river.
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			The conspirators had failed.

			So, too, had Jefferson Davis, and Lee, and all the rest, the secessionist politicians and planters, the traitorous former U.S. army officers, and all of those who had gone along with them.

			They had fought for an older version of America, one with deep roots in the land, one that was based not only on lofty ideals but on power and cruelty and exploitation. Slavery was nothing like they told themselves that it was: a Bible-approved institution that fit the talents of Africans stolen from their homelands and that the slaves themselves loved and benefited from. Instead, it was a brutal system of captivity under which rape was rampant, children were torn from their mothers’ arms, and humans were bought and sold, all for the love of money. And they had loved it enough to betray their flag, turn their backs on their sacred oaths, and take up arms against their sisters and brothers.

			They had fought and they had lost.

			They told themselves, and others who would listen, that they had lost because the North was more populous and more powerful and had a bigger industrial base. Most of that was true. But they also said that they had lost because Grant was a butcher, and Sherman was a fiend, and that the Union army was filled with foreign conscripts who could neither speak the language nor understand what they were fighting for. That part wasn’t true.

			The reality was that during the last, long, bloodstained, and crucial year of the war, the Confederate States of America was beaten by a coalition of forces that the nation had never seen before: a combination of different groups with different voices and differing agendas that, together, would represent a new version and a new vision of American life.

			Foremost among them were the soldiers of the Union army, the farm boys, mechanics, clerks, canal hands, schoolteachers, German and Irish immigrants, runaways, contrabands, and free people of color who, by choice or otherwise, donned the blue uniform and risked their lives for their nation. Poorly led and outmaneuvered during the first three years of the war, by the final year they had found their footing. Advancing under fire in the Wilderness and Spotsylvania, with their tattered banners ripped and torn by Rebel shot and shell, they had proven themselves equal to the soldiers of the Confederacy. And when the end finally came, they were not to be stopped.

			But they had not done so alone.

			For all across the loyal states of the North and Midwest, in cities and towns and on farms, women and children took up the slack while their husbands, fathers, and brothers were in uniform. Farm wives took up the plow and city women pursued work wherever they could find it, while younger sons and daughters, like the March girls in Little Women, sought ways to contribute to the cause. North and South alike, the Civil War was not only a war between regiments and battalions but of entire societies.
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			The human cost had been enormous. As many as 620,000 Union and Confederate soldiers and sailors, or one out of every fifty Americans, lost their lives in the war. Family members wanting to visit the graves of their loved ones often had no place to go. “The bones of these men were gathered from the ground where they fell, having never been interred, and by exposure to the weather for more than a year all traces of their identity were entirely obliterated,” wrote Captain James M. Moore, who visited the Wilderness and Spotsylvania fourteen months after the battles. “Hundreds of graves on these battle-fields are without any marks whatsoever to distinguish them, and so covered with foliage that the visitor will be unable to find the last resting-places of those who have fallen until the rains and snows of winter wash from the surface the light covering of earth and expose their remains.”

			Millions who survived the fighting, meanwhile, carried with them other scars, ranging from missing eyes and fingers to crushing guilt and mental anguish. Drug addiction blossomed for the first time in the United States after the Civil War, as many soldiers had become hooked on morphine and opium, which were used to relieve pain. “I can bear neither for myself or the children, this life any longer,” wrote Frances Goolrick, whose Confederate soldier husband had become a morphine addict after getting shot in the left leg at Petersburg. “I am obliged to leave him.” And for decades to come, one-armed and one-legged men could be seen in every part of the country.

			“I am well and very busy finishing up this Rebellion,” Union nurse Cornelia Hancock had written to her sister from City Point on April 11. “I hope we shall get thru before the heat of summer.” Hancock, and the countless other women who had served the Union army as nurses, cooks, and laundresses, had every right to also claim the victory as their own. Yet both they and the soldiers themselves knew that the Union army had not won it by themselves.
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			For the formerly enslaved, it was one of their greatest victories.

			For more than two hundred and fifty years, since the first African slaves landed on the shores of what would become the United States of America, they had fought against their bondage. Seeking not merely to survive but to enrich their lives, they had created songs that would be soon known as Negro spirituals, the first great new art form of the new nation. Surreptitiously, they had taught themselves to read. And they had found in the Christianity that their masters, hoping to create docile, obedient slaves, had inculcated them with a different set of meanings. And all the while, decade after decade, they had waited for an opportunity to destroy slavery once and for all.

			The Civil War was that opportunity. And they took it.

			They served as spies and lookouts for Union troops, alerting them to the presence of the enemy, pointing out hidden caches of arms and ammunition, and hiding and caring for Union soldiers left behind. And as soon as the Union armies drew anywhere near, they fled their plantations by the tens of thousands. Once across enemy lines, they chopped wood and drove munitions wagons, cooked meals and washed clothes, freeing up thousands of Union soldiers to rejoin the fighting. Those who could joined the army itself, serving in all-Black regiments and fighting the Confederates head-on at Fort Wagner and Port Hudson, Nashville and Chaffin’s Farm, Petersburg and Appomattox. In the end, more than 180,000 African Americans served in the Union army. Lincoln himself recognized the centrality of the Black portion of the Union army in winning the war. “Keep it and you save the Union,” he wrote in September 1864. “Throw it away, and the Union goes with it.”

			For the U.S. Colored Troops, as well as for the millions of African Americans, enslaved and free, destroying slavery was a far greater proposition than saving the Union. But in the end they did both.
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			And then there was Lincoln himself.

			Without him, it is difficult to see how the nation could have been saved. With McClellan or Andrew Johnson in the White House, it is likely that the split between the Confederacy and the United States would have been permanent. Or, barring that, that the price for the Southern states rejoining the Union would have been that slavery could have continued in the South, thus merely postponing what had caused the war in the first place. Lincoln’s genius was not only in his relentless pursuit of maintaining the Union, and in how he was able to keep the Border States within it until the war had begun to swing favorably toward the North, but in his linking of the war to save the Union with that of destroying slavery.

			“When Abraham Lincoln signed the Emancipation Proclamation it was not the act of an opportunistic politician issuing a hollow pronouncement to placate a pressure group,” Reverend Martin Luther King Jr. said during a speech in New York City one hundred years later. “Lincoln achieved immortality because he issued the Emancipation Proclamation.” To celebrate it, King added, we must do more. “That is to make its declarations of freedom real; to reach back to the origins of our nation when our message of equality electrified an unfree world.”

			King, of course, was right.

			Those very ideas defeated the Confederacy as well.

			They were the yearnings of human beings to be free.
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			Even during times of war, day-to-day life, in some form, tends to go on.

			People go to work, meals are served, children are put to bed. So it was in the former Confederate capital.

			In Richmond, the abandonment of the city by Jefferson Davis and Lee’s troops, the fires, and the arrival of the first Union soldiers had all been events of shattering, society-altering magnitude. But other events, much less newsworthy, perhaps, but of lasting significance, were also soon occurring. One of them was the arrival in the former Confederate capital, less than five days after the coming of Union troops, of a seemingly innocuous clerk from Washington named David B. Parker.

			Mr. Parker, who worked in the Post Office Department of the United States government, had been sent to reclaim the Richmond post office and once again get it into operation. But what he found absolutely astonished him. For during all the years that the office had been under Rebel control, accepting payment with Confederate dollars, and selling official Confederate-issue stamps bearing the images of Jefferson Davis, George Washington, Thomas Jefferson, John C. Calhoun, and Andrew Jackson, the Rebel postmaster had run it as it had been run before. “The place looked very familiar,” ran one newspaper account. “The old United States post-bags, the old United States post-office lock, and the old United States post-office fixtures.” The Confederate postmaster had maintained the status quo. “His post routes, such of them as were kept up, were the old United States post-office routes; the mail carriers were the same; the United States regulations were adopted in toto.”

			One month later, the reestablished Richmond post office had already rented out fifteen hundred mailboxes. The mail was flowing, and family members who had not communicated for some four years were once again in touch. Letter by letter, and rebuilt and reconnected rail line by rail line, the country was slowly uniting itself once again.
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			The rest of the nation, meanwhile, struggled to cope with Lincoln’s death.

			In some parts of America, particularly in the South, the assassination had been celebrated. “All honor to J. Wilkes Booth, who has rid the world of a tyrant,” wrote Kate Stone, a member of a Louisiana planter family that had moved to Texas. “What torrents of blood Lincoln has caused to flow, and how Seward has aided him in his bloody work. I cannot be sorry for their fate. They deserve it. They have reaped their just reward.”

			For the loyal citizenry of the nation, however, Lincoln’s murder was a wrenching, shocking, heartbreaking blow. Buttons and rosettes with the late President’s likeness blossomed on dresses and lapels, government buildings in Washington were adorned with black crepe, while portraits of Lincoln, bordered in black, appeared in store windows. Lithographs of his death scene at the Petersen House, across the street from Ford’s Theatre, were printed in national magazines, while on Wall Street, the New York Stock Exchange shut down. Lincoln was eulogized in sermons and editorials, books and poems. A Baptist minister in Hartford, Connecticut, preaching on Easter Sunday, noted that the President had been martyred on Good Friday. “Jesus Christ died for the world,” he added. “Abraham Lincoln died for his country.” Grieving the President’s death, Walt Whitman penned two of his greatest poems, “O Captain! My Captain!” and “When Lilacs Last in the Dooryard Bloom’d.”

			But nothing would compare with his final send-off.

			After the lying in state in the East Room of the White House, on April 21, the coffin carrying Lincoln’s embalmed body was moved in a funeral car pulled by six white horses down the length of Pennsylvania Avenue to the Capitol. The procession, unlike any seen in the city before, included hundreds of dignitaries, military officials, and family members. An utterly crushed and forlorn Tad, who had been in the audience at Grover’s Theatre watching Aladdin, or, The Wonderful Lamp when he learned that his father had been shot, rode in a carriage with his older brother, Robert. But there were others as well. General Grant was there, as was Admiral Farragut, along with senators, congressmen, cabinet members, and Supreme Court justices. Four thousand African American citizens, wearing white gloves and arrayed in lines of forty, walked hand in hand down the avenue. There was also one regiment of cavalry as well as two artillery batteries and two regiments of infantry, including U.S. Colored Troops.

			Thousands of men, women, and children lined both sides of Pennsylvania Avenue, among them wounded soldiers from the wards at Armory Square Hospital, who had made their way over on crutches and wheelchairs. But what stunned many observers that morning was the profound, tomblike silence of both the procession and the audience, interrupted only by the sounds of muffled drums and marching feet. Lois Adams recalled the weather. “Spring has been trying to smile,” she wrote, “but it seems like an effort without heart in it. The sky is cold and steely blue, and the white sun glitters like ice through the atmosphere. Trees and plants are in beautiful bloom nevertheless, but their brightness of beauty seems only mockery beside all these mourning badges.” After lying in state beneath the dome of the Capitol, where thousands more paid their respects, the body of the slain President made its most remarkable journey of all.

			Mary Todd Lincoln, who was too bereft to take part in the funeral procession, had expressed a desire to keep the remains of her late husband out of view. But Secretary of War Edwin Stanton had overruled her. The nation needed a chance to publicly bid farewell to its fallen leader. The solution, as it turned out, was both novel and unprecedented. Lincoln’s coffin would make a sixteen-hundred-mile rail journey from Washington to its final resting place in Springfield, with planned stops in ten cities along the way where the coffin would be removed and temporarily placed on display. Traveling in a great arc through Maryland, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, and New York State, the train would dip down into Ohio and Indiana and head north to Chicago before coming to its final stop at the Illinois capital. On Friday morning, April 21, the nine-car funeral train, which also carried the remains of Willie Lincoln, departed Washington. Yet, despite the fact that ten thousand Washingtonians showed up at the railroad station to bid their former president goodbye, there was little sense among Stanton and the others of how the public would react to the traveling funeral.

			They soon found out.

			In Philadelphia, tens of thousands of people crammed both sides of Broad Street, climbing up telegraph poles and sitting on rooftops, in order to catch a glimpse of the ornately decorated hearse that brought Lincoln’s coffin to Independence Hall. When the public viewing began at five a.m. on Sunday morning, thousands were already waiting in line. “By daylight the lines reached west as far as the Schuylkill River and east as far as the Delaware,” read one later account, “and the Camden river boats were landing huge loads of would-be viewers from New Jersey.” Philadelphians stood in line until one a.m. the next morning in order to file by Lincoln’s coffin, which lay in the very room where the Declaration of Independence had been signed.

			In Manhattan, the crowds were even larger. An estimated half a million people lined Fifth Avenue and Broadway for the coffin’s journey to City Hall, among them a six-year-old Theodore Roosevelt. But there was also dissension in New York, as the Democratic political machine ruled by William M. Tweed announced that no Blacks would be allowed to march in the funeral procession. Only with the intercession of Edwin Stanton was the bar lifted. Placed near the end of the procession, and guarded by two platoons of New York City policemen, some three hundred African Americans carried aloft a banner that read:

			
				TWO MILLION OF BONDSMEN HE LIBERTY GAVE

			

			At every city the funeral train stopped at, in Baltimore and Harrisburg, Albany and Buffalo, Cleveland and Columbus, Indianapolis and Chicago, the crowds were massive and expectations exceeded. The funeral train had touched a deep chord in the soul of the loyal citizenry, those who, for four long and often bitter years, had stood by the flag, stood by the Constitution, and stood by the Union. Men and women openly wept. One-armed veterans rose and saluted. The entire faculty and student body at West Point crossed the Hudson River and stood in formation, with arms reversed, to greet the train at Garrison Landing. At Cold Spring, a young mother, possibly a widow, bowed in prayer with her two young sons at her side, each dressed in a miniature Union uniform, as the train passed by. In town after town, county after county, there was always something new: an archway built of flags, twenty young women dressed in white, a farmer with his hat pressed to his chest, kneeling beside a stilled plow.

			But it was during the night of April 29–30, across the prairies and farmlands of Ohio and, especially, Indiana, where Lincoln had lived as a child, that the expressions of love for the martyred president transcended all that had come before. For at every crossroads and every village and town along the way, crowds of farmers and small-town residents had gathered along the railroad tracks, lit by bonfires. Church choirs sang hymns and patriotic songs, mothers waved handkerchiefs, while fathers balanced sleepy young ones on their shoulders in order to get a good look at the train.

			Town after town, hour after hour, all night long, the people sang, and cried, and waved goodbye while their bonfires sent swirls of sparks heavenward. Abraham Lincoln, once a boy so poor that he had to wear gunnysacks for clothing, but the man who had saved the Union and helped to destroy slavery, was being sent home in a blazing river of light.

		

	
		
			Afterword
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			Los Angeles, California. Late spring, 1930.

			In a small studio on Formosa Avenue, a bare-bones motion picture crew is preparing to film a brief conversation between two men. One is a middle-aged actor named Walter Huston. In a few years he will win accolades and an Academy Award for his portrayal of a grizzled old prospector in The Treasure of the Sierra Madre, starring Humphrey Bogart. But for now he is just another Broadway actor trying to make it in Hollywood. And things are looking up. Huston has just finished the filming for his first-ever talking picture.

			The other man is nothing less than a moviemaking legend. Known by some as “the man who invented Hollywood,” D. W. Griffith had not only revolutionized how movies were made but directed more than five hundred films. But the motion picture industry is changing rapidly, and Griffith is now at the tail end of his career. Increasingly bitter and alcoholic, he can no longer attract the star power or the financing that he once had. The interview to be filmed that day isn’t even about Abraham Lincoln, his latest picture and first talkie. Instead it is to be used for promoting the re-release of Griffith’s most famous movie, The Birth of a Nation, a 1915 box office smash about the Civil War and Reconstruction.

			Finally, the soundman and the gaffer are ready.

			The director calls “Action,” and the interview begins.

			
				Huston: You call yourself David Wark Griffith, don’t you?

				Griffith: Well, I did when I was younger and wore a high hat, but now I am satisfied just to be called D.W.

				Huston: You know, I rather liked your Birth of a Nation. Do you think it was entirely true?

				Griffith: Perhaps it was one-sided quite a bit.

				Huston: Then why did you make it one-sided?

				Griffith: I am a Southerner and wanted to tell our side of the story.

			

			In reality, The Birth of a Nation was the most controversial movie ever created in America. A dazzling technological achievement, complete with groundbreaking camerawork, its own orchestral score, and a top-tier cast, it was the first motion picture ever shown inside the White House. Telling a story of slavery, the Civil War, the assassination of President Lincoln, and the coming—and overthrow—of Reconstruction, Griffith’s movie wowed audiences and played in theaters across the country for months and months.

			The Birth of a Nation was also one of the most racist films ever produced. In Griffith’s hands, the enslaved were happy, the Civil War was a tragic, misguided squabble over states’ rights, and Black men were subhuman rapists who longed to assault white women. The Ku Klux Klan loved the picture so much that they used it as a recruiting tool. The same year that the film was released, eighty African Americans were lynched in the United States. The biggest impact, though, of The Birth of a Nation was how it reshaped perceptions of what the Civil War and Reconstruction were all about. In this effort D. W. Griffith did not act alone. Far from it.
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			It would be called the Lost Cause.

			During the opening decades of the twentieth century, a coalition of white Southerners and their Northern allies sought to completely rewrite the history of the Civil War. Monuments to Confederate soldiers and leaders began to appear in town squares and on courthouse lawns across the South, while in 1931 a bronze statue of Jefferson Davis was installed inside the United States Capitol. Even the U.S. Mint got involved, issuing a commemorative half-dollar coin in 1925 dedicated “To the Valor of the Soldier of the South,” while college professors, book publishers, and state governments also took up the fight. In this new retelling of American history, slavery was a benign institution, Black people were pawns in the hands of unscrupulous abolitionists, while Robert E. Lee and Stonewall Jackson were no longer traitors but American heroes.

			The Confederates were back.

			All, that is, except for one.

			For in the new, Lost Cause whitewashing of the American past, the assassination of Abraham Lincoln posed some vexing problems. The sheer barbarity of sneaking up behind the President and firing a bullet into the back of his head while he was sitting in a chair, enjoying a theatrical comedy, was anything but heroic. And the assassination was such a titanic event that it simply couldn’t be written out of history books. The solution, then, was to portray Lincoln’s murder as having nothing to do whatsoever with either the Confederacy or Confederate war aims—even though that was clearly not the case.

			In this new version, the assassination was the sole brainchild of John Wilkes Booth, who would now be portrayed as a second-rate actor who lived in the shadow of his far more famous and talented brother and father. Highly emotional, driven by petty jealousies, and fanatically devoted to the cause of the South, it was Booth, and Booth alone, who conceived of the murder plot and gathered together a ragtag group of virtually indistinguishable conspirators to assist with his deadly deed. Gone were Booth’s numerous ties with the Confederate Secret Service. Gone was Booth’s own identification as a Confederate. Gone were the meetings with Rebel agents in Canada and the United States. In this rewriting of American history, the reputations of the newly heroic Confederate leadership could then emerge unsoiled—because, it was implied, they had nothing whatsoever to do with Lincoln’s murder.

			Early twentieth-century schoolbooks soon followed suit. In North Carolina Yesterday and Today, published by the N.C. State Department of Public Instruction in 1942, the nobility of the Lost Cause was now accepted wisdom. Southerners had been forced into the war by the overreach of the federal government. Enslaved African Americans had overwhelmingly supported their masters and even slavery itself. Lincoln, meanwhile, would also get a makeover. “Lincoln thought that the South had been punished enough,” wrote the authors of North Carolina Yesterday and Today, and wanted the Southern states to rejoin the Union as quickly as possible. Lincoln’s murder, meanwhile, rated only three sentences: “On the night of April 14, 1865, the President attended the theater. Suddenly, John Wilkes Booth, the actor, shot the President and then jumped from the President’s box to the stage. Thus the country lost its leader just when it needed him most.”

			Hollywood got into the act as well. Following the success of The Birth of a Nation, the studios pumped out Lost Cause versions of Southern and Civil War history for decades to come in films such as The Littlest Rebel, Gone with the Wind, and Song of the South. By the time that D. W. Griffith’s Abraham Lincoln appeared in movie theaters in 1930, a cardboard cutout version of Booth as a volatile, unstable crackpot had already been solidified. In Griffith’s film, Booth moves like a somnambulist, with glazed, nearly expressionless eyes, and at one point he says of his impending appointment at Ford’s Theatre that “It will be my greatest role!” Long before the world had ever heard of Lee Harvey Oswald, Sara Jane Moore, or John Hinckley Jr., the archetype of the American political assassin as a mentally disturbed individual had been set. And the Lost Cause version of John Wilkes Booth was its prototype.
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			The real Booth, meanwhile, still haunts our past.

			He lives on, like Lady Macbeth’s “damned spot,” as a stain on our national journey. Booth lives on, as well, as a cautionary tale of hatred, manipulation, and obsession. And he still haunts the national consciousness as an object lesson on the power of a determined individual armed with a gun.

			In 1869, four years after his death in Virginia, the remains of John Wilkes Booth were disinterred and turned over to members of the Booth family, who reburied them in the family plot at Green Mount Cemetery in Baltimore. To this day, the site remains something of a shrine for neo-Confederates and other supporters of the Lost Cause, who will leave pennies on top of an unmarked headstone that they believe marks the grave of John Wilkes Booth. As it turns out, the unmarked stone is actually the footstone to the grave of Booth’s sister, Asia. Lincoln’s murderer has no headstone of his own.

			And Booth’s ghost, it has been said, still haunts Ford’s Theatre.

			John Wilkes Booth haunts one other place as well.

			Stretching for more than one-quarter of a mile, from near the Sixty-Fifth Street transverse to the overlook above the Lake, the Mall is one of the most elegant walkways in Central Park in New York City. Designed by Frederick Law Olmsted, it is lined on both sides by majestic American elms, whose gently twisting and arcing branches join together to create a cathedral-like arch. “In the gas-light era, this was a playground for children; for a dime they could ride the length of the Mall in barouches drawn by teams of goats,” wrote the authors of the 1939 Federal Writers’ Project guide to New York City. On my last visit, it was a haven for baby carriages and step counters, couples walking hand in hand, and a bearded young man sitting on one of the park benches with a folding card table, a manual typewriter, and a hand-colored sign that read, “Pick a Topic—Get a Poem.”

			Anchoring the southern end of the Mall is a magnificent, if somewhat foreboding, statue of William Shakespeare. Created by John Quincy Adams Ward, one of the preeminent American sculptors of the late nineteenth century, it is a finely wrought portrait, one in which the playwright and poet stares into the void, no doubt searching for the perfect word or phrase. But because the statue rests upon an eight-foot-tall base of Scottish granite, Shakespeare towers above the viewer, remote and more godlike than human. As one critic in 1912 put it, the statue is not “enhanced by its pedestal.”

			It was also a long time coming.

			The cornerstone had been laid on April 23, 1864, commemorating the three hundredth anniversary of Shakespeare’s birth. But the war was then still raging—Grant would cross the Rapidan eleven days later—and it would take another eight years for the statue to be sculpted, cast in bronze, and mounted upon its granite pedestal. Its unveiling, however, which took place on a blustery May afternoon in 1872, turned out to be nothing less than a sensation.

			“Long before three o’clock, the appointed hour for the ceremony,” the New York Sun reported, “the avenues of the Park were thronged by men, women, and children, all wending their way to the site of the statue. Brilliant equipages filled the drives, and it is probable the Central Park never before witnessed such a vast concourse on any one day.” A two-thousand-seat wooden amphitheater, specially constructed for the unveiling and decorated with the flags of more than a dozen nations, quickly filled to capacity, while as many as fifteen thousand attendees spilled out onto the adjacent lawns. Women wore long dresses and hats, the men in dark suits. Finally, the program began.

			Speeches were delivered. A poem was recited.

			A one-hundred-piece orchestra played three overtures inspired by Shakespeare: Hector Berlioz’s “King Lear,” Robert Schumann’s “Julius Caesar,” and Otto Nicolai’s “The Merry Wives of Windsor.” A choir sang.

			Then came the big moment.

			John Quincy Adams Ward rose and uncovered the statue for the first time in public.

			“As the folds of bunting dropped,” the Sun reported, “one loud cheer was raised by the multitude. A thousand handkerchiefs floated in the breeze, and the enthusiasm was unbounded. The cheering lasted fully five minutes.” Shakespeare had found a new home in the heart of the city.

			What went unreported that day was the fact that a substantial portion of the money for the statue had been raised by the Booth brothers—Edwin, John Wilkes, and Junius—through their benefit performance of Julius Caesar at the Winter Garden Theatre the night that Rebel agents tried to burn down Manhattan. And while Edwin Booth had gone on to attain superstar status in New York, eventually having two Broadway theaters named in his honor and a statue of his own in Gramercy Park, John Wilkes Booth had become toxic and unworthy of mention. But the statue was his as well.

			And, in a way, most fittingly.

			For not only was Booth a remarkable Shakespearean—one whose portrayal of the mad king in Richard III thrilled a generation of playgoers—but his own life was a tragedy all its own. Blinded by racism, manipulated by others, and obsessed with anger and hatred, he not only murdered a great leader but, at age twenty-six, threw away his own life as well. It was a story that Shakespeare would have well understood.
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			Abraham Lincoln, of course, has not been forgotten.

			Schools, streets, a highway, towns, and a mountain in Colorado are all named in his honor. Statues of Lincoln can be found in Union Square in New York City, on Bascom Hill at the University of Wisconsin in Madison, and in Parliament Square in London. There are Lincoln automobiles and mini-malls, diners and drive-ins, a pest control service and an insurance company. Inside your purse or your pants pockets, or perhaps on top of a dresser or in the folds of a couch at home, you’ve likely got a penny or two with Lincoln’s image on it. In Chicago, there’s an Abraham Lincoln Book Shop that specializes in Lincolniana—books and artifacts relating to the former president. A three-and-a-half-hour drive to the south on I-55, in Springfield, Illinois, there is the Lincoln Home National Historic Site, the Abraham Lincoln Presidential Library and Museum, and, in a sprawling cemetery a couple of miles north of downtown, the Lincoln Tomb.

			But the greatest memorial of all is in Washington, D.C.

			Anchoring the western edge of the National Mall, less than five hundred feet from the waters of the Potomac, the Lincoln Memorial is one of the nation’s most iconic and recognizable monuments. At practically any hour of the day or night, people are there: busloads of middle and high school students, parents with little kids on their shoulders, tourists from across the country and around the world, their voices softly echoing off the marble walls. Some sit and gaze at the magnificent views of the Capitol and the Washington Monument. Others wander about the thirty-six fluted Doric columns, one for each of the states at the time of Lincoln’s death, or search for the near typo in the words of the Second Inaugural chiseled into the north chamber. But all look up at Daniel Chester French’s magnificent sculpture of a seated Lincoln, carved over the course of four years by the Piccirilli brothers, master stonecutters who had emigrated to the United States from Italy.

			Both children and adults gaze upon the memorial in wonder, marriage proposals have been delivered upon its steps, and it’s been the backdrop for countless graduation photos. It was here, on the steps of the Lincoln Memorial on Easter Sunday, 1939, that Marian Anderson, who had been barred because of her race from singing in Constitution Hall by the Daughters of the American Revolution, electrified a crowd of seventy-five thousand with a concert that opened with “My Country ’Tis of Thee.”

			It was here, at the Lincoln Memorial, at the ragged end of the long hot summer of 1963, that civil rights activists, fresh from Southern jailhouses, gathered with more than two hundred thousand citizens from across the country for the March on Washington. They came on trains and in buses, in cars and on foot. John Lewis, then the twenty-three-year-old chair of the Student Nonviolent Coordinating Committee, spoke. So did Walter Reuther of the United Auto Workers, Floyd McKissick of the Congress of Racial Equality, and Rabbi Joachim Prinz from the American Jewish Congress. Bob Dylan and Joan Baez sang “When the Ship Comes In” and “Blowin’ in the Wind” from these steps. But it would be Dr. Martin Luther King Jr., the thirty-four-year-old founder of the Southern Christian Leadership Conference and hero of the Montgomery bus boycott, who would stir the consciousness of the nation.

			“Five score years ago, a great American, in whose symbolic shadow we stand today, signed the Emancipation Proclamation. This momentous decree came as a great beacon light of hope to millions of Negro slaves who had been seared in the flames of withering injustice. It came as a joyous daybreak to end the long night of their captivity,” King began. “But one hundred years later, the Negro still is not free.”

			Though he did not know it, King was already in the last five years of his life.

			And, like Lincoln, he, too, would fall to an assassin’s hand.

			But on that hot August afternoon on the steps of the Lincoln Memorial, King would deliver one of the greatest speeches ever by an American, one that would easily rank beside the words of the Gettysburg Address and the Second Inaugural chiseled into the marble walls behind him. And one, as well, whose stirring final words would echo on to this very day. “Let freedom ring,” he said, calling forth the majesty of the American continent, from the hilltops of New Hampshire and the Rockies of Colorado to Stone Mountain in Georgia and Lookout Mountain in Tennessee. “When we allow freedom ring, when we let it ring from every village and every hamlet, from every state and every city, we will be able to speed up that day when all of God’s children, black men and white men, Jews and Gentiles, Protestants and Catholics, will be able to join hands and sing in the words of the old Negro spiritual: Free at last! Free at last! Thank God Almighty, we are free at last.”
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			For the more than four million enslaved men, women, and children whose shackles had been broken by the Civil War, freedom proved to be both a welcome and long-fought-for change and a painful illusion. For many freedmen and freedwomen, reuniting their families was their top priority. Throughout the summer of 1865, newly freed Black women and men, now able to travel across the countryside without written permission, crisscrossed the South, searching for—and sometimes finding—spouses, children, parents, and grandparents who had been sold away from them. There were stories of freedmen and freedwomen walking all the way from Virginia to Louisiana and Mississippi in search of their loved ones.

			Others wrote letters to the editor or ran advertisements in local newspapers. “My master’s name was Bob McCloy. He died and I was sold at public sale,” wrote Jason McCloud, who was taken from South Carolina to Texas in 1856. “I left a wife with five children; her name was Martha and belonged to Edward Burse. Brothers Dan, Bill and Sam were sold to traders; the rest of the family were bought by the citizens.” Nelson Ray wrote about his wife and children, who had been sold by his master. “We had seven children: two boys, and Millie and Celia Ray, two girls,” ran his advertisement in a New Orleans newspaper. “Any information I can get as to their whereabouts will be gladly received by their father.”

			The death of slavery brought immediate change. Slave quarters began to empty out as African American families sought ways that they could live together in individual family units. Black girls and women no longer lived in constant fear of sexual assault from white masters and overseers. And though their churches were, at first, sometimes little more than clearings in the woods, Black voices preached the gospel to Black congregations without the presence of white overlookers.

			Hope came alive in other ways as well.

			Northern women, Black and white alike, came South and opened schools for the formerly enslaved, teaching reading and writing, while Shaw University, founded in Raleigh, North Carolina, became the first Black college in the South. Formerly enslaved men and women opened businesses, wrote books, ran newspapers, and built churches. African American men were granted the right to vote, and for more than thirty years fully twenty Black senators and congressmen, representing eight Southern states, served in the Capitol in Washington. Out of the ashes of the Confederacy, a new definition of American democracy took flight.
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			But the ex-Confederates, and their sons and daughters, had also been busy.

			Many were determined to create a postwar system that, as much as possible, mirrored the ways of slavery, with Black people firmly held down at the bottom of Southern society. In 1866, a handful of Confederate veterans in Tennessee founded the Ku Klux Klan, the largest terrorist organization in America. Led by former Rebel general Nathan Bedford Forrest, gangs of armed Klansmen murdered African Americans and white Northern transplants, struck terror into the hearts of would-be Black voters, and made certain that former Confederates and their henchmen were able to retake control of Southern state governments.

			Once in power, they passed legislation aimed at separating whites and Blacks, as well as diminishing African American citizenship and success. The new Jim Crow laws, which would spread to the North and the West, regulated where African Americans could be born and where they could live, where they could go to school and what they could study, what kind of jobs they could have, where they could be treated by a doctor, and where they could be buried. Other laws and practices eliminated Black voting, while African Americans were barred from serving on juries or even testifying against white assailants. And Southern state legislatures and local sheriffs colluded to arrest Black men on trumped-up charges and sent them to labor on prison farms and chain gangs, where they would work without compensation for decades if not the rest of their lives. And as the options for African Americans narrowed across the South, the number of Confederate statues grew.

			Freedom wasn’t quite so free after all.

			It would take other generations, nearly a century later, in dime stores and bus stations, at lunch counters and movie houses, and in jail cells in Mississippi and on the Edmund Pettus Bridge in Selma, to take the next great steps toward freedom and equality in American life.

			Yet, the tumultuous events of 1863, 1864, and 1865 were far from inconsequential. Because the death of slavery was nothing less than the single most important event in the first one hundred years of the existence of the United States. Because of the Civil War, one out of every seven Americans was no longer enslaved. An entire national economy, built in no small measure upon enslaved labor, had to be retooled. And national politics were never again the same. The collapse of American slavery was nothing short of an earthquake.

			And none knew that better than the formerly enslaved.

			At family reunions and prayer meetings, at Juneteenth celebrations and in books and newspaper columns, they paid tribute to what they had accomplished and what they had endured. Not only had they survived the storm, but they had given their fellow countrymen, and indeed the world, the promise of a new beginning and a new chance at a richer, freer way of life, one that more than a century and a half later the nation still struggles to redeem.

			Postscript

			“This way, please.”

			Heeding the directions, I fall into the line for the metal detector inside the welcome center and, once past it, into Arlington National Cemetery proper. For a Sunday in July, the weather is unusually cool, with a steady wind coursing through the trees and keeping flags aloft. And even though it is still early in the day, more than half of the spaces in the parking structure have already been filled, while a dozen tour buses sit idling on the top deck.

			The cemetery encompasses some of the most hallowed ground in all of America as well as being, rather paradoxically, a place of incredible beauty. It is also a top tourist destination in the nation’s capital, drawing more than three million visitors a year.

			Some come to visit the graves of family members. My family counts two buried here.

			Others come to learn about and honor the nation’s past.

			But three sites at the cemetery, in particular, draw regular crowds.

			The first are the graves of the Kennedys, with their deeply moving, understated design. Then comes the changing of the guard at the Tomb of the Unknown Soldier, a solemn military ritual famous for its quiet precision. Last is Arlington House, the former Custis family estate that was, for a time, Robert E. Lee’s home as well. The view here is spectacular. “For a while,” an elderly volunteer tells me, her grey hair spilling out of her cap, “lots of people also wanted to see the grave of that lady Supreme Court justice, Ginsburg, but that’s fallen off a bit.”

			Others come to lay flowers on the graves of loved ones.

			Here’s a mother with two daughters, in Sunday dress, carrying a wreath.

			Over there’s an older man, walking, all alone, toward Section 36, with a bouquet.
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			I’m here for something else.

			After paying a brief visit to the Tomb of the Unknown Soldier and taking in the commanding view from Arlington House, I head out for the far northern edge of the cemetery, an area where tourists seldom go. After a few minutes of walking, I am all alone, passing row after row of headstones, many from World War I and World War II, Korea, and Vietnam. Blue jays and mockingbirds flitter about young maples and holly bushes. There is not another soul in sight.

			Finally, I reach Section 27.

			Pressed up against a sandstone wall that marks the northernmost boundary of the cemetery, the section is home to many of the first military burials at Arlington. The first interment took place on May 13, 1864, one day after the fighting at Spotsylvania reached its peak: that of a twenty-year-old private with the 67th Pennsylvania. Over the next six weeks, more than one thousand Union soldiers, Black as well as white, were buried here. As I walk among the headstones, beneath towering pin oaks, I silently sound out their names. There is Sewell Darling from Maine, Caleb Wright from Wisconsin, and Levi Kaemmerer from New York. Charles Harrison and William Lacey of the U.S. Colored Troops. Samuel Queen of the U.S.C.T. is buried next to Thomas Vanatter, a white soldier from Indiana.

			Some died to save the Union. Others to destroy slavery. Some entered the army on a lark or because they felt pressured to enlist. William Reeves, of the 76th New York, was drafted. Nor is that all. For also in Section 27 are buried the remains of contrabands, men and women who escaped their enslavement. Many of their headstones are simply marked “Unknown.” Others list two names, or sometimes only one. Maria Smallwood and Clara Diggs, William Washington and Emily Contee, and Powell, Thomas, and Youngs. They, too, helped to defeat the Confederacy.

			They all belong.

			And in the end, they died for us all. They not only destroyed slavery but gave us back our country.

			I linger for a few minutes longer. Then I check my watch and realize that it is time to go. I have a long drive ahead of me.
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			On the walk back toward the welcome center, I leave the nineteenth century and return to the twenty-first. Beyond Section 27, I pass by graves of men and women who have died in more recent conflicts, the chiseled letters on their headstones still clean and sharp. Bright sprays of roses, hollyhocks, and daisies adorn some of the graves. Carefully placed next to one headstone are three cups of apple juice, six cookies, and three dog treats. And once I stroll past the black and gold metal gates on Memorial Avenue, I am no longer alone.

			Suddenly, all around me, there are streams of visitors.

			They are young and old, Black and white, Asian and Hispanic and Indigenous.

			There are middle school and high school groups from Ohio and the Carolinas, tween girls in matching outfits, immigrant families wearing saris and polo shirts, and Scout Troop 340 from Seminole, Florida. Mothers holding sleepy babies, families speaking Spanish. Veterans. Dads in ballcaps. Kids in Star Wars and Kentucky Wildcats T-shirts. Here, on a hallowed hillside in Virginia, less than half a mile from the Potomac, is an America that the men and women of the Civil War could not have imagined. But it is an America that they helped to create.

			I join the crowd walking down the sidewalk toward the cemetery exit. We are all heading to the parking garage. But like the nation itself, we are also heading toward an uncertain future, one that will bring its own set of challenges. Some of them, no doubt, we’re vastly unprepared for. This is nothing new.

			We’ve been there before.
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